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If we fail to address the risks and difficulties that we face, including those associated with the challenges listed above as well as those described elsewhere in this “ Risk Factors ” section, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. Further, because we have limited historical financial data and operate in a rapidly evolving market, any predictions about its
future revenue and expenses may not be as accurate as they would be if it had a longer operating history or operated in a more developed market. We have encountered in the past, and will encounter in
the future, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies with limited operating histories in rapidly changing industries. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties,
which we use to plan and operate our business, are incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our results of operations could differ materially from its expectations and its
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected. We have incurred significant losses since inception, we expect to incur losses in the future, and we may not be able to
achieve or maintain profitability. We have incurred significant losses since our inception. We incurred net losses of $ 17, 524, 056 and $ 14, 328, 348 and-$12,-839,968-for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. While we have generated limited revenue to date, we have not yet achieved production level satellite manufacturing, launch and data activities, and it is difficult
for us to predict our future operating results. As a result, our losses may be larger than anticipated, and we may not achieve profitability when expected, or at all, and even if we do, we may not be able to
maintain or increase profitability. We expect our operating expenses to increase over the next several years as we commence production level satellite manufacturing and satellite launch activities,
continue to refine and streamline our design and manufacturing processes, make technical improvements, increase our launch cadence, hire additional employees and initiate research and development
efforts relating to new products and technologies, including our space services business. These efforts may be more costly than we expect and may not result in increased revenue or growth in our
business. Any failure to increase our revenue sufficiently to keep pace with our investments and other expenses could prevent us from achieving or maintaining profitability or positive cash flow.
Furthermore, if our future growth and operating performance fail to meet investor or analyst expectations, or if we have future negative cash flow or losses resulting from our investment in acquiring
customers or expanding our operations, this could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may require substantial additional funding to finance
our operations, but adequate additional financing may not be available when we need it, on acceptable terms or at all. In the future, we could be required to raise capital through public or private financing
or other arrangements. Such financing may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all, and our failure to raise capital when needed could harm our business. For example, the global COVID- 19 health
crisis and related financial impact has resulted in, and may continue to result in, significant disruption and volatility of global financial markets that could adversely impact our ability to access capital.
‘We may sell equity securities or debt securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a manner as we may determine from time to time. If we sell any such securities in subsequent transactions, our
current investors may be materially diluted. Any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants and could reduce our operational flexibility or profitability. If we cannot raise funds on
acceptable terms, we may not be able to grow our business or respond to competitive pressures. The success of our business will be highly dependent on our ability to effectively market and sell our
commercial satellite manufacturing, launch, and data services for smat-LEO , GEO, Cislunar and Lunar satellites. We expect that our success will be highly dependent, especially in the foreseeable
future, on our ability to effectively forecast, market and sell our launch and data services for smal-LEO , GEO, Cislunar and Lunar satellites. We have limited experience in forecasting, marketing and
selling such services, and if we are unable to utilize our current or future sales organization effectively in order to adequately target and engage our potential customers, our business may be adversely
affected. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to attract new customers in a cost- effective manner. We expect that we will need to make significant investments in order to attract new customers.
Our sales growth is dependent upon our ability to implement strategic initiatives, and these initiatives may not be effective in generating sales growth. In addition, marketing campaigns, which we have
not historically utilized, can be expensive and may not result in the acquisition of customers in a cost- effective manner, if at all. Further, as our brand becomes more widely known, future marketing
campaigns or brand content may not attract new customers at the same rate as past campaigns or brand content. If we are unable to attract new customers, our business, financial condition and results of
operations will be harmed. Any setbacks we may experience during commercial satellite launches and other demonstration and commercial missions could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operation, and could harm our reputation. The success of our launch and satellite services business will depend on our ability to successfully and regularly deliver
customer satellites into orbit. In November 2019, we successfully launched EFTP, our on- orbit external experimental facility hosted on the NanoRacks International Space Station External Platform
(NREP). Additionally, in January of 2020, a microsatellite was successfully launched from the ISS using our SSIKLOPS platform for the STP program office. In March 2024, we launched our first
LizzieSat ® satellite —, in D ber 2024 we I hed our second LizzieSat ® and in March 2025, we I hed our third LizzieSat ® satellite There is no guarantee that our planned commercial
launches or subsequent commercial launches thereafter will be successful. While we believe that our launch partners have built operational processes to ensure that the design, manufacture, performance
and servicing of their launch vehicles and-reekets-meet rigorous performance goals, there can be no assurance that our launch partners will not experlence operational or process failures and other
problems during ewrfirst taHauneh-er-any of our planned launches thereafter- Any failures or setbacks -partientarty-on-ourfirst 1 } ould harm our reputation and have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation. The market for commercial satellite manufacturing, launch and data services for smal-LEO , GEO, Cislunar and
Lunar satellites is not well established, is still emerging and may not achieve the growth potential we expect or may grow more slowly than expected. The market for in- space infrastrucrure services, in
particular commercial satellite manufacturing, launch and data services for smal-LEO , GEO, Cislunar and Lunar satellites, has not been well established and is still emerging. Our estimates for the
total addressable launch market and satellite market are based on several internal and third- party estimates, including our contracted revenue, the number of potential customers who have expressed
interest in our satellite launch and data services, assumed prices and production costs for our services, assumed flight cadence, our ability to leverage our current manufacturing and operational processes
and general market conditions. While we believe our assumptions and the data underlying our estimates are reasonable, these assumptions and estimates may not be correct and the conditions supporting
our assumptions or estimates may change at any time, thereby reducing the predictive accuracy of these underlying factors. As a result, our estimates of the annual total addressable market for our
services, as well as the expected growth rate for the total addressable market for our services, may prove to be incorrect. Our ability to grow our business depends on the successful development of our
satellites and related technology, which is subject to many uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. Our current objectives focus on the continued development of small satellites and
integration capabilities and related technology. If we do not eemplete-continue this development in our anticipated timeframes er-at-al-, our ability to grow our business will be adversely affected. The
successful development of our satellite capabilities and related technology involves many uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control, including, but not limited to: ® timing in making further
enhancements to our product design and specifications; @ successful completion of our planned commercial satellite launches; ® our ability to obtain additional applicable approvals, licenses or
certifications from regulatory agencies, if required, and maintaining current approvals, licenses or certifications; @ performance of our manufacturing facilities despite risks that disrupt productions, such
as natural disasters and hazardous materials; ® performance of a limited number of suppliers for certain raw materials and supplied components; ® performance of our third- party contractors that support
our future research and development activities; ® our ability to maintain rights from third parties for intellectual properties critical to our future research and development activities; ® our ability to fund
and maintain our future research and development activities, particularly the development of various enhancements that increase the data transfer capacity of our satellite; and e the impact of the COVID-
19 pandemic on us, our customers, suppliers and distributors, and the global economy. We routinely conduct hazardous operations in testing ef-our satellite subsystems, which could result in damage to
property or persons. Unsatisfactory performance or failure of our satellites and related technology at launch or during operation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operation. We manufacture and operate highly sophisticated products for the commercial space, aerospace and defense industries and conduct activities that depend on complex technology.
Although there have been and will continue to be technological advances in spaceflight, our operations remain an inherently hazardous and risky activity. Launch failures, explosions and other accidents
on launch or during flight have occurred for others and will likely occur in the future. While we have built operational processes to ensure that the design, manufacture, performance and servicing of our
products and related technologies meet rigorous quality standards, there can be no assurance that we will not experience operational or process failures and other problems, including through
manufacturing or design defects, cyber- attacks or other intentional acts, that could result in potential safety risks. We may experience a total loss of our customers’ payloads and our own payloads if there
is an accident or failure at launch or during the journey into space, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. For some missions, we or our customers
can elect to buy launch insurance, which can reduce our monetary losses from any launch failure, but even in this case we will have losses associated with our inability to test our technology in space and
delays with further technology development. Any insurance we or our customers have may not be adequate to cover our or their loss, respectively. Any actual or perceived safety or reliability issues may
result in significant reputational harm to our businesses, in addition to tort liability, maintenance, increased safety infrastructure and other costs that may arise. Such issues could result in delaying or
cancelling planned launches, increased regulation or other systemic consequences. Our inability to meet our safety standards or adverse publicity affecting our reputation as a result of accidents,
mechanical failures, damages to customer property or medical complications could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation. We may experience a total
loss of our technology and products and our customers’ payloads if there is an accident on launch or during the journey into space, and any insurance we have may not be adequate to cover our loss.
Although there have been and will continue to be technological advances in spaceflight, it is still an inherently dangerous activity. Explosions and other accidents on launch or during the flight have
occurred and will likely occur in the future. If such incident should occur, we will likely experience a total loss of our systems, products, technologies and services and our customers’ payloads. The total
or partial loss of one or more of our products or customer payloads could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. For some missions, we can elect to buy launch
insurance, which can reduce our monetary losses from the launch failure, but even in this case we will have losses associated with our inability to test our technology in space and delays with further
technology development. Any delays in the development and manufacture of satellites and related technology may adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have
previously experienced, and may experience in the future, delays or other complications in the design, manufacture, launch, production, delivery and servicing ramp of satellites and related technology. If
delays like this arise or recur, if our remediation measures and process changes do not continue to be successful or if we experience issues with planned manufacturing improvements or design and safety,
we could experience issues in sustaining the ramp of our spaceflight system or delays in increasing production further. If we encounter difficulties in scaling our delivery or servicing capabilities, if we
fail to develop and successfully commercialize our satellites and related technologies, if we fail to develop such technologies before our competitors, or if such technologies fail to perform as expected,
are inferior to those of our competitors or are perceived as less safe than those of our competitors, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely impacted.
Our customized hardware and software may be difficult and expensive to service, upgrade or replace. Some of the hardware and software we use in operations is significantly customized and tailored to
meet our requirements and specifications and could be difficult and expensive to service, upgrade or replace. Although we expect to maintain inventories of some spare parts, it nonetheless may be
difficult, expensive or impossible to obtain replacement parts for the hardware due to a limited number of those parts being manufactured to our requirements and specifications. Also, our business plan
contemplates updating or replacing some of the hardware and software in our network as technology advances, but the complexity of our requirements and specifications may present us with technical and
operational challenges that complicate or otherwise make it expensive or infeasible to carry out such upgrades and replacements. If we are not able to suitably service, upgrade or replace our equipment,
our ability to provide our services and therefore to generate revenue could be harmed. Our satellites may collide with space debris or another spacecraft, which could adversely affect our operations.
Although we expect to comply with best practices and international orbital debris mitigation requirements to actively maneuver our satellites to avoid potential collisions with space debris or other
spacecraft, these abilities are limited by, among other factors, uncertainties and inaccuracies in the projected orbit location of, and predicted collisions with, debris objects tracked and cataloged by
governments or other entities. Additionally, some space debris is too small to be tracked and therefore its orbital location is unknown; nevertheless, this debris is still large enough to potentially cause
severe damage or a failure of our satellites should a collision occur. If our satellites collide with space debris or other spacecraft, our products and services could be impaired. Also, a failure of one or
more of our satellites or the occurrence of equipment failures, collision damage, or other related problems that may result during the de- orbiting process could constitute an uninsured loss and could
materially harm our financial condition. If we are unable to adapt to and satisfy customer demands in a timely and cost- effective manner, or if we are unable to manufacture our products at a quantity and
quality that our customers demand, our ability to grow our business may suffer. The success of our business depends in part on effectively managing and maintaining our space services, manufacturing our
products, conducting a sufficient number of launches to meet customer demand and providing customers with an experience that meets or exceeds their expectations. Even if we succeed in developing our
products and completing launches within our targeted timeline, we could thereafter fail to develop the ability to produce these products at quantity with a quality management system that ensures that each
unit performs as required. Any delay in our ability to produce products or complete launches at rate and with a reliable quality management system could have a material adverse on our business. If our
current or future space services do not meet expected performance or quality standards, including with respect to customer safety and satisfaction, this could cause operational delays. Further, launching




satellites within restricted airspace require-requires advance scheduling and coordination with government agencies and range owners and other users, and any high priority national defense assets will
have priority in the use of these resources, which may impact our cadence of our space operations or could result in cancellations or rescheduling. Any operational or manufacturing delays or other
unplanned changes to our ability to conduct our launches could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may be unable to manage our future
growth effectively, which could make it difficult to execute our business strategy. If our operations continue to grow as planned, of which there can be no assurance, we will need to expand our sales and
marketing, customer and commercial strategy, products and services, supply, and manufacturing and distribution functions and initiate research and development. We will also need to continue to
leverage our manufacturing and operational systems and processes, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to scale the business and the manufacture of spacecraft as currently planned or within the
planned timeframe. The continued expansion of our business may also require additional manufacturing and operational facilities, as well as space for administrative support, and there is no guarantee
that we will be able to find suitable locations or partners for the manufacture and operation of our products. Our continued growth could increase the strain on our resources, and we could experience
operating difficulties, including difficulties in hiring, training and managing an increasing number of employees, finding manufacturing capacity to produce our products and related equipment, and delays
in production and launches. These difficulties may result in the erosion of our brand image, divert the attention of management and key employees and impact financial and operational results. In addition,
in order to continue to expand our presence around the globe, we expect to incur substantial expenses as we continue to attempt to streamline our manufacturing process, increase our launch cadence, hire
more employees, and fund research and development efforts relating to new products and technologies and expand our business. If we are unable to drive commensurate growth, these costs, which
include lease commitments, headcount and capital assets, could result in decreased margins, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our
prospects and operations may be adversely affected by changes in consumer preferences and economic conditions that affect demand for satellite services. Because our business is currently concentrated
on commercial satellite manufacturing, launch and data services, we are vulnerable to changes in consumer preferences or other market changes. The global economy has in the past, and will in the
future, experience recessionary periods and periods of economic instability. During such periods, our potential customers may choose not to expend the amounts that we anticipate based on our
expectations with respect to the addressable market for satellite services. There could be a number of other effects from adverse general business and economic conditions on our business, including
insolvency of any of our third- party suppliers or contractors, decreased consumer confidence, decreased discretionary spending and reduced customer or governmental demand for satellites and other
products we produce, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Adverse publicity stemming from any incident involving us or our
competitors, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are at risk of adverse publicity stemming from any public incident involving our
company, our people or our brand. If any of our launch partners’ vehicles or our satellites or those of one of our competitors were to be involved in a public incident, accident or catastrophe, this could
create an adverse public perception of satellite launch or manufacturing activities and result in decreased customer demand for launch and satellite services, which could cause a material adverse effect on
our business, financial conditions and results of operations. Further, if our launch partners’ vehicles erreekets-were to be involved in a public incident, accident or catastrophe, we could be exposed to
significant reputational harm or potential legal liability. Any reputational harm to our business could cause customers with existing contracts with us to cancel their contracts and could significantly
impact our ability to make future sales. The insurance we carry may be inapplicable or inadequate to cover any such incident, accident or catastrophe. In the event that our insurance is inapplicable or not
adequate, we may be forced to bear substantial losses from an incident or accident. If we are unable to maintain relationships with our existing launch partners or enter into relationships with new launch
partners, we may be unable to reach our targeted annual launch rate, which could have an adverse effect on our ability to grow our business. We do not own or operate our own launch vehicles. We rely
on third party launch partners to launch our and our customers” satellites. We may in the future experience delays in our efforts to secure additional launch partners. Challenges as a result of regulatory
processes or in the ability of our partners to secure the necessary permissions to establish launch sites could delay our ability to achieve our target cadence and could adversely affect our business. We are
dependent on third- party launch vehicles to deliver our systems, products, and technologies into space. If the number of companies offering launch services or the number of launches does not grow in
the future or there is a consolidation among companies who offer these services, this could result in a shortage of space on these launch vehicles, which may cause delays in our ability to meet our
customers’ needs. Additionally, a shortage of space available on launch vehicles may cause prices to increase or cause delays in our ability to meet our customers’ needs. Either of these situations could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Further, if a launch is delayed, our timing for recognition of revenue may be impacted depending on the length of the
delay and the nature of the contract with the customers with payleads-technologies on such delayed flight. Such a delay in recognizing revenue could materially impact our financial statements or result
in negative impacts to our earnings during a specified time period, which could have a material effect on our results of operations and financial condition. We rely on a limited number of suppliers for
certain raw materials and supplied components. We may not be able to obtain sufficient raw materials or supplied components to meet our manufacturing and operating needs, or obtain such materials on
favorable terms, which could impair our ability to fulfill our orders in a timely manner or increase our costs of production. Our ability to manufacture our products is dependent upon sufficient availability
of raw materials and supplied components, which we secure from a limited number of suppliers. Our reliance on suppliers to secure these raw materials and supplied components exposes us to volatility
in the prices and availability of these materials. We may not be able to obtain sufficient supply of raw materials or supplied components, on favorable terms or at all, which could result in delays in
manufacture of our products or increased costs. In addition, we have in the past and may in the future experience delays in manufacture or operation as we go through the requalification process with any
replacement third- party supplier, as well as the limitations imposed by International Traffic in Arms Regulations and other restrictions on transfer of sensitive technologies. Additionally, the imposition
of tariffs on such raw materials or supplied components could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Prolonged disruptions in the supply of any of our key raw materials or components,
difficulty qualifying new sources of supply, implementing use of replacement materials or new sources of supply or any volatility in prices could have a material adverse effect on our ability to operate in
a cost- effieient-effective , timely manner and could cause us to experience cancellations or delays of scheduled launches, customer cancellations or reductions in our prices and margins, any of which
could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Failure of third- party contractors could adversely affect our business. We are dependent on various third- party contractors to
develop and provide certain of our components of and processes to our products. Should we experience complications with any of these components and services, we may need to delay our manufacturing
activities or delay or cancel scheduled launches. We face the risk that any of our contractors may not fulfill their contracts and deliver their products or services on a timely basis, or at all. We have in the
past experienced, and may in the future experience, operational complications with our contractors. The ability of our contractors to effectively satisfy our requirements could also be impacted by such
contractors’ financial difficulty or damage to their operations caused by fire, terrorist attack, natural disaster, or other events. The failure of any contractors to perform to our expectations could result in
shortages of certain manufacturing or operational components for our spacecraft or delays in spaceflights and harm our business. Our reliance on contractors and inability to fully control any operational
difficulties with our third- party contractors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We expect to face intense competition in the commercial
space market and other industries in which we may operate. We face intense competition in the commercial space market and amongst our competitors. Currently, our primary competitors in the
commercial satellite market are Blacksky, Spire, Hawkeye 360, LoftOrbital, ¥etkA pace-Systems-and-lccEyc , Muon Space, Redwire, True Anomoly, and Satellogic . [n addition, we are aware of
a significant number of entities actively engaged in developing commercial launch capabilities for small and medium sized satellite payloads, including ABL, Rocketlab, Blue Origin, United Launch
Alliance and Firefly, among others. Many of our current and potential competitors are larger and have substantially greater financial or other resources than we currently have or expect to have in the
future ;-and thus may be better positioned to exploit the market need for small payloads and targeted orbital delivery, which is the focus of our business. They may also be able to devote greater resources
to the development of their current and future technologies, which could overlap with our technologies, or the promotion and sale of their products and services. Our competitors could offer small launch
vehicles at lower prices, which could undercut our business strategy and potential competitive edge. Our current and potential competitors may also establish cooperative or strategic relationships
amongst themselves or with third parties that may further enhance their resources and offerings relative to ours. Further, it is possible that domestic or foreign companies or governments, some with
greater experience in the aerospace industry or greater financial resources than we possess, will seek to provide products or services that compete directly or indirectly with ours in the future. Any such
foreign competitor, for example, could benefit from subsidies from, or other protective measures by, its home country. We believe our ability to compete successfully as a commercial provider of launch
and satellite services does and will depend on a number of factors, which may change in the future due to increased competition, including the price of our products and services, consumer satisfaction for
the experiences we offer, and the frequency and availability of our products and services. If we are unable to compete successfully, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely affected. We may in the future invest significant resources in developing new service offerings and exploring the application of our proprietary technologies for other uses and those
opportunities may never materialize. While our primary focus for the foreseeable future will be on eemmeneing-our commercial launch activities, increasing our launch cadence, and fully expanding our
satellite operations center, we may also invest significant resources in developing new technologies, services, products, and offerings. However, we may not realize the expected benefits of these
investments. These anticipated technologies, however, are unproven and these products or technologies may never materialize or be commercialized in a way that would allow us to generate ancillary
revenue streams. Relatedly, if such technologies become viable offerings in the future, we may be subject to competition from our competitors within the commercial launch and satellite industries, some
of which may have substantially greater monetary and knowledge resources than we have and expect to have in the future to devote to the development of these technologies. Such competition or any
limitations on our ability to take advantage of such technologies could impact our market share, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Such research and development initiatives may also have a high degree of risk and involve unproven business strategies and technologies with which we have limited operating or development
experience. They may involve claims and liabilities (including, but not limited to, personal injury claims), expenses, regulatory challenges, and other risks that we may not be able to anticipate. There can
be no assurance that customer demand for such initiatives will exist or be sustained at the levels that we anticipate, or that any of these initiatives will gain sufficient traction or market acceptance to
generate sufficient revenue to offset any new expenses or liabilities associated with these new investments. Further, any such research and development efforts could distract management from current
operations and would divert capital and other resources from our more established offerings and technologies. Even if we were to be successful in developing new products, services, offerings or
technologies, regulatory authorities may subject us to new rules or restrictions in response to our innovations that may increase our expenses or prevent us from successfully commercializing new
products, services, offerings, or technologies. If we fail to adequately protect our proprietary intellectual property rights, our competitive position could be impaired and we may lose valuable assets,
generate reduced revenue and incur costly litigation to protect our rights. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to protect our proprietary intellectual property rights, including certain methodologies,
practices, tools, technologies and technical expertise we utilize in designing, developing, implementing, and maintaining applications and processes used in our satellite systems and related technologies.
To date, we have relied primarily on trade secrets and other intellectual property laws, non- disclosure agreements with our employees, consultants and other relevant persons and other measures to protect
our intellectual property and intend to continue to rely on these and other means, including patent protection, in the future. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property may be
inadequate, and we may choose not to pursue or maintain protection for our intellectual property in the United States or foreign jurisdictions. We will not be able to protect our intellectual property if we
are unable to enforce our rights or if we do not detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property. Despite our precautions, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to copy our technology and
use information that we regard as proprietary to create technology that competes with ours. Further, the laws of some countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United
States, and mechanisms for enforcement of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries may be inadequate. To the extent we expand our international activities, our exposure to unauthorized
copying and use of our technologies and proprietary information may increase. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon, misappropriating or
otherwise violating our technology and intellectual property. We rely in part on trade secrets, proprietary know- how and other confidential information to maintain our competitive position. Although we
enter into non- disclosure and invention assignment agreements with our employees, enter into non- disclosure agreements with our customers, consultants, and other parties with whom we have strategic
relationships and business alliances and enter into intellectual property assignment agreements with our consultants and vendors, no assurance can be given that these agreements will be effective in
controlling access to and distribution of our technology and proprietary information. Further, these agreements do not prevent our competitors from independently developing technologies that are
substantially equivalent or superior to our products. Protecting and defending against intellectual property claims may have a material adverse effect on our business. Our success depends in part upon
successful prosecution, maintenance, enforcement and protection of our owned and licensed intellectual property. To protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant
resources to monitor and protect these rights. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation could be costly, time =
consuming and distracting to management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met
with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology, as well as any costly litigation
or diversion of our management’ s attention and resources, could disrupt our business, as well as have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. The results of
intellectual property litigation are difficult to predict and may require us to stop using certain technologies or offering certain services or may result in significant damage awards or settlement costs. There
is no guarantee that any action to defend, maintain or enforce our owned or licensed intellectual property rights will be successful, and an adverse result in any such proceeding could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condition, operating results, and prospects. In addition, we may from time- to- time face allegations that we are infringing, misappropriating or otherwise




violating the intellectual property rights of third parties, including the intellectual property rights of our competitors. We may be unaware of the intellectual property rights that others may claim cover
some or all of our technology or services. Irrespective of the validity of any such claims, we could incur significant costs and diversion of resources in defending against them, and there is no guarantee
any such defense would be successful, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, contracts, financial condition, operating results, liquidity, and prospects. Even if these matters do not
result in litigation or are resolved in our favor or without significant cash settlements, these matters, and the time and resources necessary to litigate or resolve them, could divert the time and resources of
our management team, and harm our business, our operating results and our reputation. The majority of our customer contracts may be terminated by the customer at any time for convenience as well as
other provisions permitting the customer to discontinue contract performance for cause (for example, if we do not achieve certain milestones on a timely basis). If our contracts are terminated or if we
experience any other contract- related risks, our results of operations may be adversely impacted. In addition, some of our customers are government entities, which subjects us to additional risks
including early termination, audits, investigations, sanctions, and penalties. We are subject to a variety of contract- related risks. Some of our existing customer contracts, including those with the
government, include provisions allowing the customers to terminate their contracts for convenience, with a termination penalty for at least the amounts already paid, or to terminate the contracts for cause
(for example, if we do not achieve certain milestones on a timely basis). Customers that terminate such contracts may also be entitled to a pro rata refund of the amount of the customer’ s deposit. In
addition, some of our customers are pre- revenue startups or otherwise not fully established companies, which exposes us to a degree of counterparty credit risk. Part of our strategy is to market our space
and satellite manufacturing and launch and data services to key government customers. We expect we may derive limited revenue from contracts with NASA and the U. S. government and may enter into
further contracts with the U. S. or foreign governments in the future, and this subjects us to statutes and regulations applicable to companies doing business with the U. S. government, including the
Federal Acquisition Regulation. These U. S. government contracts customarily contain provisions that give the government substantial rights and remedies, many of which are not typically found in
commercial contracts, and which are unfavorable to contractors. For instance, most U. S. government agencies include provisions that allow the government to unilaterally terminate or modify contracts
for convenience, in which case the counterparty to the contract may generally recover only its incurred or committed costs and settlement expenses and profit on work completed prior to the termination.
If the government terminates a contract for default, the defaulting party may be liable for any extra costs incurred by the government in procuring undelivered items from another source. Our government
contracts may be subject to the approval of appropriations being made by the U. S. Congress to fund the expenditures under these contracts. In addition, government contracts normally contain additional
requirements that may increase our costs of doing business, reduce our profits, and expose us to liability for failure to comply with these terms and conditions. These requirements include, for example: ®
specialized disclosure and accounting requirements unique to government contracts;  financial and compliance audits that may result in potential liability for price adjustments, recoupment of
government funds after such funds have been spent, civil and criminal penalties, or administrative sanctions such as suspension or debarment from doing business with the U. S. government; ® public
disclosures of certain contract and company information; and @ mandatory socioeconomic compliance requirements, including labor requirements, non- discrimination and affirmative action programs
and environmental compliance requirements. Government contracts are also generally subject to greater scrutiny by the government, which can initiate reviews, audits, and investigations regarding our
compliance with government contract requirements. In addition, if we fail to comply with government contract laws, regulations and contract requirements, our contracts may be subject to termination,
and we may be subject to financial and / or other liability under our contracts, the Federal Civil False Claims Act (including treble damages and other penalties), or criminal law. In particular, the False
Claims Act’ s “ whistleblower ” provisions also allow private individuals, including present and former employees, to sue on behalf of the U. S. government. Any penalties, damages, fines, suspension, or
damages could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our financial results. If any customer were to unexpectedly terminate, cancel, or decline to exercise an option to renew with respect
to one or more of our significant contracts for any reason, including as a result of our failure to meet certain performance milestones, or if a government customer were to suspend or debar us from doing
business with such government, our business, financial condition, and results of operations would be materially harmed. If we commercialize outside the United States, we will be exposed to a variety of
risks associated with international operations that could materially and adversely affect our business. As part of our growth, we aim to establish offices and partnerships outside of the United States. We
plan to continue to build our pipeline of global customers to include joint ventures and strategic partnerships. As we expand internationally, we expect that we would be subject to additional risks related
to entering into international business relationships, including: e restructuring our operations to comply with local regulatory regimes; ® identifying, hiring and training highly skilled personnel; ®
unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers and regulatory requirements, including through the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, or ITAR, Export Administration Regulations, or EAR, and
Office of Foreign Assets Control, or OFAC; ® economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in foreign economies and markets; ® compliance with tax, employment, immigration, and
labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad; e foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes; ® the need for U. S. government approval to operate our spaceflight systems outside the
United States; e foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenue; ® government appropriation of assets; ® workforce uncertainty in countries where
labor unrest is more common than in the United States; and e disadvantages of competing against companies from countries that are not subject to U. S. laws and regulations, including the U. S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, OFAC regulations and U. S. anti- money laundering regulations, as well as exposure of our foreign operations to liability under these regulatory regimes. Our business is
subject to a wide variety of extensive and evolving government laws and regulations. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business. We are subject
to a wide variety of laws and regulations relating to various aspects of our business, including with respect to our satellite system operations, employment and labor, health care, tax, privacy and data
security, health and safety, and environmental issues. Laws and regulations at the foreign, federal, state, and local levels frequently change, especially in relation to new and emerging industries, and we
cannot always reasonably predict the impact from, or the ultimate cost of compliance with, current or future regulatory or administrative changes. We monitor these developments and devote a significant
amount of management” s time and external resources towards compliance with these laws, regulations and guidelines, and such compliance places a significant burden on management’ s time and other
resources, and it may limit our ability to expand into certain jurisdictions. Moreover, changes in law, the imposition of new or additional regulations or the enactment of any new or more stringent
legislation that impacts our business could require us to change the way we operate and could have a material adverse effect on our sales, profitability, cash flows and financial condition. Failure to
comply with these laws, such as with respect to obtaining and maintaining licenses, certificates, authorizations and permits critical for the operation of our business, may result in civil penalties or private
lawsuits, or the suspension or revocation of licenses, certificates, authorizations or permits, which would prevent us from operating our business. For example, deploying space assets such as satellites in
the United States require licenses and permits from certain agencies of the Department of Transportation, including the Federal Aviation Administration, or FAA, and review by other agencies of the U.
S. Government, including the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, or “ NOAA ”, the Department of Defense, Department of State, NASA, Federal Communications Commission, or the *
FCC ” and the International Telecommunications Union, or the “ ITU . License approval includes an interagency review of safety, operational, national security, and foreign policy and international
obligations implications, as well as a review of foreign ownership. Delays in licensing and approvals allowing us to deploy our commercial satellites could adversely affect our ability to operate our
business and our financial results. Moreover, regulation of our industry is still evolving, and new or different laws or regulations could affect our operations, increase direct compliance costs for us or
cause any third- party suppliers or contractors to raise the prices they charge us because of increased compliance costs. Application of these laws to our business may negatively impact our performance
in various ways, limiting the collaborations we may pursue, further regulating the export and re- export of our products, services, and technology from the United States and abroad, and increasing our
costs and the time necessary to obtain required authorization. The adoption of a multi- layered regulatory approach to any one of the laws or regulations to which we are or may become subject,
particularly where the layers are in conflict, could require alteration of our manufacturing processes or operational parameters which may adversely impact our business. We may not be in complete
compliance with all such requirements at all times and, even when we believe we are in complete compliance, a regulatory agency may determine that we are not. The timing of our satellite deployments
may depend on the ability of our partners to secure regulatory licenses from the FAA and the FCC /ITU. A component of our near- term strategy involves increasing our launch cadence by accelerating
our development and production efforts and adding additional launch partners. Our ability to achieve this increased launch cadence within the timeframe in which we hope to do so will depend on the
ability of our launch partners to secure the necessary regulatory licenses from the FAA, the FCC / ITU and other regulatory authorities. If our launch partners fail to obtain the licenses necessary to
support our anticipated launch cadence, or any delays or hurdles that present in our interactions with the FAA, the FCC /ITU or other regulatory authorities, could impact our ability to grow our business,
could delay our ability to execute on our existing and future customer contracts and could adversely affect our business and results of operations. We are subject to stringent U. S. export and import
control laws and regulations. Unfavorable changes in these laws and regulations or U. S. government licensing policies, our failure to secure timely U. S. government authorizations under these laws and
regulations, or our failure to comply with these laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operation. Our business is subject to stringent
U. S. import and export control laws and regulations as well as economic sanctions laws and regulations. We are required to import and export our products, software, technology, and services, as well as
run our operations in the United States, in full compliance with such laws and regulations, which include the EAR, the ITAR, and economic sanctions administered by the Treasury Department” s OFAC.
Similar laws that impact our business exist in other jurisdictions. These foreign trade controls prohibit, restrict, or regulate our ability to, directly or indirectly, export, deemed export, re- export, deemed
re- export or transfer certain hardware, technical data, technology, software, or services to certain countries and territories, entities, and individuals, and for end uses. If we are found to be in violation of
these laws and regulations, it could result in civil and criminal, monetary and non- monetary penalties, the loss of export or import privileges, debarment, and reputational harm. Pursuant to these foreign
trade control laws and regulations, we are required, among other things, to (i) maintain a registration under the ITAR, (ii) determine the proper licensing jurisdiction and export classification of products,
software, and technology, and (iii) obtain licenses or other forms of U. S. government authorization to engage in the conduct of our spaceflight business. The authorization requirements include the need
to get permission to release controlled technology to foreign person employees and other foreign persons. Changes in U. S. foreign trade control laws and regulations, or reclassifications of our products or
technologies, may restrict our operations. The inability to secure and maintain necessary licenses and other authorizations could negatively impact our ability to compete successfully or to operate our
spaceflight business as planned. Any changes in the export control regulations or U. S. government licensing policy, such as those necessary to implement U. S. government commitments to multilateral
control regimes, may restrict our operations. Given the great discretion the government has in issuing or denying such authorizations to advance U. S. national security and foreign policy interests, there
can be no assurance we will be successful in our future efforts to secure and maintain necessary licenses, registrations, or other U. S. government regulatory approvals. Under the “ Exon- Florio
Amendment ” to the U. S. Defense Production Act of 1950, as amended (the “ DPA ™), the U. S. President has the power to disrupt or block certain foreign investments in U. S. businesses if he
determines that such a transaction threatens U. S. national security. The Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (“ CFIUS ”) has been delegated the authority to conduct national security
reviews of certain foreign investments. CFIUS may impose mitigation conditions to grant clearance of a transaction. The Foreign Investment Risk Review Modernization Act (“ FIRRMA ), enacted in
2018, amended the DPA to, among other things, expand CFIUS’ s jurisdiction beyond acquisitions of control of U. S. businesses. Under FIRRMA, CFIUS also has jurisdiction over certain foreign non-
controlling investments in U. S. businesses that are involved with critical technology or critical infrastructure, or that collect and maintain sensitive personal data of U. S. citizens (“ TID U. S. Businesses
”), if the foreign investor receives specified triggering rights in connection with its investment. We are a TID U. S. Business because we develop and design technologies that would be considered critical
technologies. Certain foreign investments in TID U. S. Businesses are subject to mandatory filing with CFIUS. These restrictions on the ability of foreign persons to invest in us could limit our ability to
engage in strategic transactions that could benefit our stockholders, including a change of control, and could also affect the price that an investor may be willing to pay for our common stock. Failure to
comply with federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection and consumer protection, or the expansion of current or the enactment of new laws or regulations relating to
privacy, data protection and consumer protection, could adversely affect our business and our financial condition. We collect, store, process, and use personal information and other customer data, and we
rely in part on third parties that are not directly under our control to manage certain of these operations and to collect, store, process and use payment information. Due to the volume and sensitivity of the
personal information and data we and these third parties manage and expect to manage in the future, as well as the nature of our customer base, the security features of our information systems are
critical. A variety of federal, state, and foreign laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, sharing and security of this information. Laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection
and consumer protection are evolving and subject to potentially differing interpretations. These requirements may not be harmonized, may be interpreted, and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from
one jurisdiction to another or may conflict with other rules or our practices. As a result, our practices may not have complied or may not comply in the future with all such laws, regulations, requirements,
and obligations. We expect that new industry standards, laws and regulations will continue to be proposed regarding privacy, data protection and information security in many jurisdictions. We cannot yet
determine the impact such future laws, regulations and standards may have on our business. Complying with these evolving obligations is costly. As we expand our international presence, we may also
become subject to additional privacy rules, many of which, such as the General Data Protection Regulation promulgated by the European Union (the “ GDPR ) and national laws supplementing the
GDPR, such as in the United Kingdom, are significantly more stringent than those currently enforced in the United States. The law requires companies to meet stringent requirements regarding the
handling of personal data of individuals located in the EEA. These more stringent requirements include expanded disclosures to inform customers about how we may use their personal data through
external privacy notices, increased controls on profiling customers and increased rights for data subjects (including customers and employees) to access, control and delete their personal data. In addition,
there are mandatory data breach notification requirements. The law also includes significant penalties for non- compliance, which may result in monetary penalties of up to the higher of € 20. 0 million or
4 % of'a group’ s worldwide turnover for the preceding financial year for the most serious violations. The GDPR and other similar regulations require companies to give specific types of notice and



informed consent is required for the placement of a cookie or similar technologies on a user’ s device for online tracking for behavioral advertising and other purposes and for direct electronic marketing,
and the GDPR also imposes additional conditions in order to satisfy such consent, such as a prohibition on pre- checked tick boxes and bundled consents, thereby requiring customers to affirmatively
consent for a given purpose through separate tick boxes or other affirmative action. A significant data breach or any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with any federal, state or foreign privacy
or consumer protection- related laws, regulations or other principles or orders to which we may be subject or other legal obligations relating to privacy or consumer protection could adversely affect our
reputation, brand and business, and may result in claims, investigations, proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others or other penalties or liabilities or require us to change our
operations and / or cease using certain data sets. Depending on the nature of the information compromised, we may also have obligations to notify users, law enforcement or payment companies about the
incident and may need to provide some form of remedy, such as refunds, for the individuals affected by the incident. Failures in our technology infrastructure could damage our business, reputation and
brand and substantially harm our business and results of operations. If our main data center were to fail, or if we were to suffer an interruption or degradation of services at our main data center, we could
lose important manufacturing and technical data, which could harm our business. Our facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, cyber security attacks,
terrorist attacks, power losses, telecommunications failures, and similar events. In the event that our or any third- party provider’ s systems or service abilities are hindered by any of the events discussed
above, our ability to operate may be impaired. A decision to close the facilities without adequate notice, or other unanticipated problems, could adversely impact our operations. Any of the
aforementioned risks may be augmented if our or any third- party provider’ s business continuity and disaster recovery plans prove to be inadequate. The facilities also could be subject to break- ins,
computer viruses, sabotage, intentional acts of vandalism and other misconduct. Any security breach, including personal data breaches, or incident, including cybersecurity incidents, that we experience
could result in unauthorized access to, misuse of or unauthorized acquisition of our or our customers” data, the loss, corruption or alteration of this data, interruptions in our operations or damage to our
computer hardware or systems or those of our customers. Moreover, negative publicity arising from these types of disruptions could damage our reputation. We may not carry sufficient business
interruption insurance to compensate us for losses that may occur as a result of any events that cause interruptions in our service. Significant unavailability of our services due to attacks could cause users
to cease using our services and materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, and results of operations. We are highly dependent on our senior management team and other
highly skilled personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting or retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy. Our success depends, in
significant part, on the continued services of our senior management team and on our ability to attract, motivate, develop, and retain a sufficient number of other highly skilled personnel, including
engineers, manufacturing and quality assurance, design, finance, marketing, sales and support personnel. Our senior management team has extensive experience in the acrospace industry, and we believe
that their depth of experience is instrumental to our continued success. The loss of any one or more members of our senior management team, for any reason, including resignation or retirement, could
impair our ability to execute our business strategy and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Competition for qualified highly skilled personnel can
be strong, and we can provide no assurance that we will be successful in attracting or retaining such personnel now or in the future. We have not yet started production level satellite manufacturing,
launch and data operations, and our estimates of the required team size to support our estimated flight rates may require increases in staffing levels that may require significant capital expenditure.
Further, any inability to recruit, develop and retain qualified employees may result in high employee turnover and may force us to pay significantly higher wages, which may harm our profitability.
Additionally, we only carry key man insurance for our Chief Executive Officer, and the loss of any key employee or our inability to recruit, develop and retain these individuals as needed, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Any acquisitions, partnerships, or joint ventures that we enter into could disrupt our operations and have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. From time to time, we may evaluate potential strategic acquisitions of businesses, including partnerships or joint ventures with
third parties, both domestic and international. We may not be successful in identifying acquisition, partnership, and joint venture candidates. In addition, we may not be able to continue the operational
success of such businesses or successfully finance or integrate any businesses that we acquire or with which we form a partnership or joint venture. We may have potential write- offs of acquired assets
and / or an impairment of any goodwill recorded as a result of acquisitions. Furthermore, the integration of any acquisition may divert management’ s time and resources from our core business and
disrupt our operations or may result in conflicts with our business. Any acquisition, partnership or joint venture may not be successful, may reduce our cash reserves, may negatively affect our earnings
and financial performance and, to the extent financed with the proceeds of debt, may increase our indebtedness. We cannot ensure that any acquisition, partnership, or joint venture we make will not have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We may experience difficulties in integrating the operations of acquired companies into our business and in
realizing the expected benefits of these acquisitions. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any of which could harm our business and negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.
The success of any acquisition will depend in part on our ability to realize the anticipated business opportunities from combining their and our operations in an efficient and effective manner. These
integration processes could take longer than anticipated and could result in the loss of key employees, the disruption of each company” s ongoing businesses, tax costs or inefficiencies, or inconsistencies
in standards, controls, information technology systems, procedures and policies, any of which could adversely affect our ability to maintain relationships with customers, employees or other third parties,
or our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions, and could harm our financial performance. If we are unable to successfully or timely integrate the operations of an acquired company
with our business, we may incur unanticipated liabilities and be unable to realize the revenue growth, synergies and other anticipated benefits resulting from the acquisitions, or fully offset the costs of the
acquisition, and our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. We are subject to many hazards and operational risks that can disrupt our business,
including interruptions or disruptions in service at our primary facilities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Our operations are
subject to many hazards and operational risks inherent to our business, including general business risks, product liability and damage to third parties, our infrastructure or properties that may be caused by
fires, floods and other natural disasters, power losses, telecommunications failures, terrorist attacks, human errors and similar events. Additionally, our manufacturing operations are hazardous at times
and may expose us to safety risks, including environmental risks and health and safety hazards to our employees or third parties. Moreover, our operations are entirely based in and around our Cape
Canaveral, Florida facility, where our machine shop, production facilities, administrative offices, and engineering functions are located. Any significant interruption due to any of the above hazards and
operational to the manufacturing or operation of our facilities, including from weather conditions, growth constraints, performance by third- party providers (such as electric, utility or telecommunications
providers), failure to properly handle and use hazardous materials, failure of computer systems, power supplies, fuel supplies, infrastructure damage, disagreements with the owners of the land on which
our facilities are located could result in manufacturing delays or the delay or cancellation of our planned commercial satellite launches and, as a result, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover our liabilities related to such hazards or operational risks. Moreover, we may not be
able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we consider reasonable and commercially justifiable, and insurance may not continue to be available on terms as favorable as our current
arrangements. The occurrence of a significant unmsured clalm ora claim in excess of the insurance coverage limits maintained by us, could harm our business, financial condition and results of
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payloads-technologies fail, and we have not obtained insurance coverage, we could be required to record significant impairment charges for the %atelhte orpaybad-technology We have not historically
obtained and may not maintain launch or in- orbit insurance coverage for our satellites to address the risk of potential systemic anomalies, failures, collisions with our satellites or other satellites or debris,
or catastrophic events affecting the existing satellite system. If one or more of our in- orbit uninsured satellites or payleads-technologies fail, or one or more of our uninsured satellites is destroyed during
failed launch, we could be required to record significant impairment charges for the satellite or paylead-technology . We may review the purchase of launch insurance on a case- by- case basis evaluating
the launch history of our launch provider, number of satellites to be deployed on the launch vehicle, the status of our constellation, our ability to launch additional satellites in the near term, and the cost
of insurance, among other factors. As a result of our case- by- case evaluation process, we have procured launch insurance for our next four upcoming launches, which policies are subject to the typical
terms and conditions regarding, among other things, cancellation and scope of coverage. We do not maintain third- party liability insurance with respect to our satellites. Accordingly, we currently have
no insurance to cover any third- party damages that may be caused by any of our satellites, including personal and property insurance. If we experience significant uninsured losses, such events could
have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Natural disasters, unusual weather conditions, epidemic outbreaks, global health crises, terrorist acts and
political events could disrupt our business and flight schedule. The occurrence of one or more natural disasters such as tornadoes, hurricanes, fires, floods and earthquakes, unusual weather conditions,
epidemic outbreaks, terrorist attacks or disruptive political events in certain regions where our facilities are located, or where our third- party contractors’ and suppliers’ facilities are located, could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Severe weather, such as rainfall, snowfall, or extreme temperatures, may impact the ability of our satellite launch and data
services to be carried out as planned, resulting in additional expense to reschedule such service, thereby reducing our sales and profitability. Terrorist attacks, actual or threatened acts of war or the
escalation of current hostilities, or any other military or trade disruptions impacting our domestic or foreign suppliers of components of our products, may impact our operations by, among other things,
causing supply chain disruptions and increases in commodity prices, which could adversely affect our raw materials or transportation costs. These events also could cause or act to prolong an economic
recession in the United States or abroad. To the extent these events also impact one or more of our suppliers or contractors or result in the closure of any of their facilities or our facilities, commence our
commercial satellite launch activities as planned or thereafter increase our launch cadence. In addition, the disaster recovery and business continuity plans we have in place currently are limited and are
unlikely to prove adequate in the event of a serious disaster or similar event. We may incur substantial expenses as a result of the limited nature of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans and,
more generally, any of these events could cause consumer confidence and spending to decrease, which could adversely impact our commercial satellite manufacturing, launch and data operations. Our
operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict and could cause our operating results to fall below expectations or any guidance we may provide.
Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes it difficult for us to predict our future operating results. These fluctuations may occur due to a variety of factors, many
of which are outside of our control, including, but not limited to: ® the number of satellite launch missions we schedule for a period, the price at which we sell them and our ability to schedule additional
launch missions for repeat customers; ® unexpected weather patterns, maintenance issues, natural disasters or other events that force us to cancel or reschedule launches; ® the cost of raw materials or
supplied components critical for the manufacture and operation of our satellite equipment; ® the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research and development relating to our technologies and
our current or future facilities; ® developments involving our competitors; ® changes in governmental regulations or in the status of our regulatory approvals or applications; e future accounting
pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies; and @ general market conditions and other factors, including factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of our
competitors. The individual or cumulative effects of factors discussed above could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual operating results. As a result, comparing our
operating results on a period- to- period basis may not be meaningful. This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or
investors for any period. If our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any guidance we may provide, or if the guidance we provide is below the
expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated guidance
we may provide. We may become involved in litigation that may materially adversely affect us. From time to time, we may become involved in various legal proceedings relating to matters incidental to
the ordinary course of our business, including intellectual property, commercial, product liability, employment, class action, whistleblower and other litigation and claims, and governmental and other
regulatory investigations and proceedings. Such matters can be time- consuming, divert management’ s attention and resources from the operation of our business, and cause us to incur significant
expenses or liability or require us to change our business practices. Because of the potential risks, expenses, and uncertainties of litigation, we may, from time to time, settle disputes, even where we
believe that we have meritorious claims or defenses. Because litigation is inherently unpredictable, we cannot assure you that the results of any of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on
our business. We have been focused on developing satellite manufacturing and launch capabilities and services since 2013. This limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our future prospects
and the risks and challenges it may encounter. Because we have limited historical financial data and operate in a rapidly evolving market, any predictions about its future revenue and expenses may not be
as accurate as they would be if it had a longer operating history or operated in a more developed market. We have encountered in the past, and will encounter in the future, risks and uncertainties
frequently experienced by growing companies with limited operating histories in rapidly changing industries. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties, which we use to plan and operate
our business, are incorrect or change, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our results of operations could differ materially from our expectations and our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be adversely affected. The markets for commercial satellite manufacturing, launch and data services have not been well established as the commercialization of space is a
relatively new development and is rapidly evolving. Our estimates for the total addressable markets for satellite launch and data services are based on a number of internal and third- party estimates,
including our contracted revenue and sales pipeline, assumed prices at which we can offer services, assumed frequency of service, our ability to leverage our current manufacturing and operational
processes and general market conditions. As a result, our estimates of the annual total addressable markets for in- space infrastructure services, as well as the expected growth rate for the total addressable
market for that experience, may prove to be incorrect. We are subject to environmental regulation and may incur substantial costs. We are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws, regulations, and



ordinances relating to the protection of the environment, including those relating to emissions to the air, discharges to surface and subsurface waters, safe drinking water, greenhouse gases and the
management of hazardous substances, oils and waste materials. Federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment may require a current or previous owner or
operator of real estate to investigate and remediate hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases at or from the property. Under federal law, generators of waste materials, and current and
former owners or operators of facilities, can be subject to liability for investigation and remediation costs at locations that have been identified as requiring response actions. Compliance with
environmental laws and regulations can require significant expenditures. In addition, we could incur costs to comply with such current or future laws and regulations, the violation of which could lead to
substantial fines and penalties. We may have to pay governmental entities or third parties for property damage and for investigation and remediation costs that they incurred in connection with any
contamination at our current and former properties without regard to whether we knew of or caused the presence of the contaminants. Liability under these laws may be strict, joint and several, meaning
that we could be liable for the costs of cleaning up environmental contamination regardless of fault or the amount of waste directly attributable to us. Even if more than one person may have been
responsible for the contamination, each person covered by these environmental laws may be held responsible for all of the clean- up costs incurred. Environmental liabilities could arise and have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and performance. We do not believe, however, that pending environmental regulatory developments in this area will have a material effect on our capital
expenditures or otherwise materially adversely affect its operations, operating costs, or competitive position. The COVID- 19 pandemic has and could continue to negatively affect various aspects of our
business, make it more difficult for us to meet our obligations to our customers, and result in reduced demand for our products and services, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China, and it has since spread throughout other parts of
the world, including the United States. Any outbreak of contagious diseases or other adverse public health developments could have a material adverse effect on our business operations. These impacts to
our operations have included and could again in the future include disruptions or restrictions on the ability of our employees and customers to travel or our ability to pursue collaborations and other
business transactions, travel to customers and / or conduct live demonstrations of our products, oversee the activities of our third- party manufacturers and suppliers. We may also be impacted by the
temporary closure of the facilities of suppliers, manufacturers, or customers. Changes in tax laws or regulations may increase tax uncertainty and adversely affect results of our operations and our
effective tax rate. We will be subject to taxes in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions. Due to economic and political conditions, tax rates in various jurisdictions, including the United States,
may be subject to change. Our future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets
and liabilities and changes in tax laws or their interpretation. In addition, we may be subject to income tax audits by various tax jurisdictions. Although we believe our income tax liabilities are reasonably
estimated and accounted for in accordance with applicable laws and principles, an adverse resolution by one or more taxing authorities could have a material impact on the results of our operations.
Further, we may be unable to utilize our net operating losses in the event a change in control is determined to have occurred. Our Chief Executive Officer, Carol Craig, is also the Chief Executive Officer
of CTC ;-eurprineipal-steekhelder;-and may allocate her time to such other business thereby causing conflicts of interest in her determination as to how much time to devote to our affairs. This could have
a negative impact on our ability to implement our plan of operation. Our Chief Executive Officer, Carol Craig, is also the Chief Executive Officer of CTC and may not commit her full time to our affairs,
which may result in a conflict of interest in allocating her time between our business and the other business. Ms. Craig spends approximately $6-70 hours per week working for us. Furthermore, our Chief
Executive Officer is not obligated to contribute any specific number of her hours per week to our affairs. If other business affairs require our Chief Executive Officer to devote more amounts of time to
other affairs, including the business of CTC, it could limit their ablhty to devote time to our affairs and could have a negative impact on our ability to implement our plan of operation. Risks Related to our

Relauonshlp WlIh Cralg Technical Consulting, Inc ~€FE the-direetion uf et and-th d-ownership-ofour stoek-will prevent-you-and-otherstoekholdersfrom
+ . e I‘T‘f‘ J1: 200, £l H + v - 41 £ di YN ) £ N\ h 27 2024 Alih, b CTC 1ol th.
VRS-8pp 5 ‘o-of the interest-and-votingpower-of our £ toek-as-of Mareh 27,2024 eh-CT fess-thana
o c dineClasc B okt sog th £ ook Tehold FEESRNTIURY q Lof
majority-of the-voting powerofour tassB stoekit-may the of stehcorporate s tHons ~1wm-s approval; and-removat-of
direetorsH-CFC to-hold-tsshares-ofourClass B stoekit-eould trae-to-influenee-these-aetionsforan d-pertod-of time-orindefinitely- The ownership by our Chief

Executive Officer of shares of CTC common stock may create, or may create the appearance of, conflicts of interest. The ownership by our Chief Executive Officer of shares of CTC common stock may
create, or may create the appearance of, conflicts of interest. Ownership by our Chief Executive Officer of common stock of CTC, creates, or, may create the appearance of, conflicts of interest when she
is faced with decisions that could have different implications for CTC than the decisions have for us. Our Chief Executive Officer has agreed to recuse herself with respect to voting on any matter coming
before either CTC’ s or our board of directors related to our relationship with CTC, although she will still be permitted to participate in discussions and negotiations. Any perceived conflicts of interest
resulting from investors questioning the independence of our management or the integrity of corporate governance procedures may materially affect our stock price. Risks Related to Our Class A
Common Stock We are currently listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market. If we are unable to maintain listing of our securities on Nasdaq or any stock exchange, our stock price could be adversely affected
and the liquidity of our stock and our ability to obtain financing could be impaired and it may be more difficult for our stockholders to sell their securities. Although our common stock is currently listed
on The Nasdaq Capital Market, we may not be able to continue to meet the exchange’ s minimum listing requirements or those of any other national exchange. If we are unable to maintain listing on
Nasdaq or if a liquid market for our common stock does not develop or is sustained, our common stock may remain thinly traded. The listing rules of Nasdaq require listing issuers to comply with certain
standards in order to remain listed on its exchange. If, for any reason, we should fail to maintain compliance with these listing standards and Nasdaq should delist our securities from trading on its
exchange and we are unable to obtain listing on another national securities exchange, a reduction in some or all of the following may occur, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our
stockholders: e the liquidity of our common stock; @ the market price of our common stock; @ our ability to obtain financing for the continuation of our operations; ® the number of institutional and
general investors that will consider investing in our common stock; @ the number of investors in general that will consider investing in our common stock; ® the number of market makers in our common
stock; e the availability of information concerning the trading prices and volume of our common stock; and e the number of broker- dealers willing to execute trades in shares of our common stock. The
dual- class structure of our common stock as contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, has the effect of concentrating voting influence with those stockholders who
held our Class B common stock prior to our initial public offering. This ownership could limit your ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors, amendments of our
organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transactions requiring stockholder approval, and that may adversely affect
the trading price of our Class A common stock. Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and our Class A common stock, which is the stock that we sold in our initial public offering, has one
vote per share. CTC holds all of the issued and outstanding shares of our Class B common stock, representing approximately 28-5. 2 % of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock. In addition,
because of the ten- to- one voting ratio between our Class B and Class A common stock, the holder of our Class B common stock could continue to have sigaifieantinfluence in the voting power of our
common stock and therefore significantly influence all matters submitted to our stockholders for approval until converted by our Class B common stockholder. This significant influence may limit or
preclude your ability to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or
substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions requiring stockholder approval. In addition, this concentrated control may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or
offers for our capital stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders. As a result, such influence may adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock. Future
transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited exceptions as specified in our amended and restated certificate
of incorporation, such as transfers to family members and certain transfers effected for estate planning purposes. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the effect,
over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term. As a result, it is possible that one or more of the persons or entities
holding our Class B common stock could gain significant voting influence as other holders of Class B common stock sell or otherwise convert their shares into Class A common stock. We cannot predict
the effect our dual- class structure may have on the market price of our Class A common stock. We cannot predict whether our dual- class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of
our Class A common stock, adverse publicity or other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have announced and implemented restrictions on including companies with multiple-
class share structures in certain of their indices. In July 2017, FTSE Russell announced that it would require new constituents of its indices to have greater than 5 % of the company’ s voting rights in the
hands of public stockholders, and S & P Dow Jones announced that it would no longer admit companies with multiple- class share structures to certain of its indices. Affected indices include the Russell
2000 and the S & P 500, S & P MidCap 400 and S & P SmallCap 600, which together make up the S & P Composite 1500. Also in 2017, MSCI, a leading stock index provider, opened public
consultations on its treatment of no- vote and multi- class structures and temporarily barred new multi- class listings from certain of its indices; however, in October 2018, MSCI announced its decision to
include equity securities “ with unequal voting structures ” in its indices and to launch a new index that specifically includes voting rights in its eligibility criteria. Under such announced and implemented
policies, the dual- class structure of our common stock would make us ineligible for inclusion in certain indices and, as a result, mutual funds, exchange- traded funds and other investment vehicles that
attempt to passively track those indices would not invest in our Class A common stock. These policies are relatively new and it is unclear what effect, if any, they will have on the valuations of publicly-
traded companies excluded from such indices, but it is possible that they may adversely affect valuations, as compared to similar companies that are included. Due to the dual- class structure of our
common stock, we will likely be excluded from certain indices and we cannot assure you that other stock indices will not take similar actions. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into passive
strategies that seek to track certain indices, exclusion from certain stock indices would likely preclude investment by many of these funds and could make our Class A common stock less attractive to
other investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected. We could be subject to securities class actlon lmgatlon In the past, securities class action litigation
has often been brought against compames following a decline in the market price of their securities. This risk is especially relevant for us because b hnology companies have
experienced significant share price volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’ s attemlon and resources, which could harm our
business. If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the market price for the shares and trading volume could decline. The
trading market for our Class A common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. If research analysts do not establish and
maintain adequate research coverage or if one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our Class A common stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the
market price for our Class A common stock would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the
financial markets, which, in turn, could cause the market price or trading volume for our common stock to decline. We do not expect to pay dividends in the foreseeable future, and you must rely on price
appreciation of your shares of Class A common stock for return on your investment. We have paid no cash dividends on any class of our stock to date, and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in
the near term. For the foreseeable future, we intend to retain any earnings to finance the development and expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our stock.
Accordingly, investors must be prepared to rely on sales of their shares after price appreciation to earn an investment return, which may never occur. Investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase
our shares. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our results of operations, financial condition, contractual
restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors our board deems relevant. We will incur increased costs as a public company, and our management will be required to devote
substantial time to new compliance initiatives and corporate governance practices. As a public company, and particularly after we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we will incur
significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur previously. The Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 (“ SOX ”), the Dodd- Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, the
listing requirements of Nasdagq, and other applicable securities rules and regulations impose various requirements on U. S. reporting public companies, including the establishment and maintenance of
effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives.
Moreover, these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more time- consuming and costly. For example, we expect that these rules and
regulations may make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, which in turn could make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified senior management
personnel or members for our board of directors. In addition, these rules and regulations are often subject to varying interpretations, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as
new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure
and governance practices. Pursuant to Section 404 of SOX (“ Section 404 ), we will be required to furnish a report by our senior management on our internal control over financial reporting. While we
remain an emerging growth company, we will not be required to include an attestation report on internal control over financial reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. To
prepare for eventual compliance with Section 404, once we no longer qualify as an emerging growth company, we will be engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal control over
financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, we will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to
assess and document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as
documented and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. Despite our efforts, there is a risk that we will not be able to conclude, within the
prescribed timeframe or at all, that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as required by Section 404. We are an “ emerging growth company, ” and the reduced reporting requirements




applicable to emerging growth companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors. We are an “ emerging growth company, ” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (*“ the
JOBS Act ). For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we may take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that
are not emerging growth companies, including exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation and
exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We will
remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary of the closing of our initial public offering, (b) in which we have total annual
gross revenue of at least $ 1. 07 billion or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the market value of our common stock held by non- affiliates exceeds $ 700 million as
of the end of our prior second fiscal quarter, and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $ 1. 0 billion in non- convertible debt during the prior three- year period. In addition, under the JOBS Act,
emerging growth companies may delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We may elect not to avail ourselves of this exemption
from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, may be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. We cannot
predict if investors will find our common stock less attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active
trading market for our common stock and our share price may be more volatile. Anti- takeover provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws as well as provisions of Delaware law,
could impair a takeover attempt. Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions which could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying or preventing an
acquisition deemed undesirable by our board of directors. Our corporate governance documents include provisions: @ authorizing “ blank check ” preferred stock, which could be issued by our board of
directors without stockholder approval and may contain voting, liquidation, dividend, and other rights superior to our common stock; @ limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our
directors and officers; ® limiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings; ® requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at
meetings of our stockholders and for nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors; ® controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board of directors and stockholder
meetings; and e providing our board of directors with the express power to postpone previously scheduled annual meetings and to cancel previously scheduled special meetings. These provisions, alone
or together, could delay or prevent hostile takeovers and changes in control or changes in our management. As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation law, which prevents some stockholders holding more than 15 % of our outstanding common stock from engaging in certain business combinations
without approval of the holders of substantially all of our outstanding common stock. Any provision of our certificate of incorporation, bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring
a change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our Class A common stock and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to
pay for our Class A common stock. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, designates the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the sole and exclusive forum for
certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors,
officers, or other employees. Our certificate of incorporation requires that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will, to the
fullest extent permitted by law, be the sole and exclusive forum for each of the following: e any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; ® any action asserting a claim for breach of any
fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, or other employee of ours to the Company or our stockholders, creditors or other constituents; ® any action asserting a claim against us or any director or
officer of ours arising pursuant to, or a claim against us or any of our directors or officers, with respect to the interpretation or application of any provision of, the DGCL, our certificate of incorporation or
bylaws; or @ any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided sthat, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any of the foregoing actions for
lack of subject matter jurisdiction, any such action or actions may be brought in another state court sitting in the State of Delaware. The exclusive forum provision is limited to the extent permitted by law,
and it will not apply to claims arising under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ), the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the  Securities Act ™), or for any other
federal securities laws which provide for exclusive federal jurisdiction. Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, provides that unless we consent in writing to the selection of
an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock are deemed to have notice of and consented to this
provision. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have
jurisdiction to entertain such claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, our
second amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause
of action arising under the Securities Act. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring such a claim
arising under the Securities Act against us, our directors, officers, or other employees in a venue other than in the federal district courts of the United States of America. In such instance, we would expect
to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation. 37 Although we believe this provision benefits us by
providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, this provision may limit or discourage a stockholder” s ability to bring a claim in a judicial
forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees.
Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated
with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition. We note that there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce the provision and
that investors cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Although we believe this provision benefits us by providing increased consistency in the
application of Delaware law in the types of lawsuits to which it applies, the provision may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against our directors and officers. ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF
COMMENTS None. ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY We believe cybersecurity is critical to advancing our technological developments. As a U. S. commercial space company with an established
manufacturing business, we face a multitude of cybersecurity threats common to most industries, such as ransomware and denial- of service. Our customers, suppliers, subcontractors, and business
partners face similar cybersecurity threats, and a cybersecurity incident impacting us or any of these entities could materially adversely affect our business strategy, performance, and results of operations.
These cybersecurity threats and related risks make it imperative that we expend resources on cybersecurity. Risk Management We engage third- party services to conduct evaluations of our security
controls, whether through penetration testing, independent audits, or consulting on best practices to address new challenges. We have established cybersecurity security awareness training and ongoing
monitoring. In the event of an incident, we intend to follow our cybersecurity incident response plan, which outlines the steps to be followed from incident detection to mitigation, and notification. We
contract with external firms that have extensive information technology and program management experience. We have implemented a governance structure and processes to assess, identify, manage, and
report cybersecurity risks. As a commercial space company, we must comply with extensive regulations, including requirements imposed by the Department of Defense related to contracts with
government agencies and reporting cybersecurity incidents to the SEC. In addition to following SEC guidance and implementing pre- existing third party frameworks, we have developed our own
practices and frameworks, which we believe enhance our ability to identify and manage cybersecurity risks. Assessing, identifying, and managing cybersecurity related risks are factored into our overall
business approach. We rely heavily on our supply chain to deliver our products and services, and a cybersecurity incident at a subcontractor, or business partner could materially adversely impact us. We
require that our subcontractors report cybersecurity incidents to our IT Incident Response Coordinator who will investigate the direct impact of the incident. Once a potential incident has been confirmed,
the Incident Response Coordinator will notify senior management that activation of the incident response plan is required and assign a severity rating, ranging from none to critical, based on the perceived
impact. Governance The Audit Committee has oversight responsibility for risks and incidents relating to cybersecurity threats, including compliance with disclosure requirements, cooperation with law
enforcement, and related effects on financial and other risks, and it reports any findings and recommendations, as appropriate, to the full Board for consideration. Senior management regularly discusses
cyber risks and trends and, should they arise, any material incidents with the Audit Committee. While we have not experienced any material cybersecurity threats or incidents in recent years, there can be
no guarantee that we will not be the subject of future threats or incidents. Notwithstanding the extensive approach we take to cybersecurity, we may not be successful in preventing or mitigating a
cybersecurity incident that could have a material adverse effect on us. While we maintain cybersecurity insurance, the costs related to cybersecurity threats or disruptions may not be fully insured. See “
Risk Factors ™ for a discussion of cybersecurity risks. 38 ITEM 2. PROPERTIES Our corporate headquarters is located at 150 N. Sykes Creek Parkway, Suite 200, Merritt Island, Florida 32953. We
occupy facilities totaling approximately 3, 3506~ 500 square feet under a sublease from Craig Technical Consulting, Inc., a prineipat-stoekhelderrelated party and an entity owned and controlled by our
Chief Executive Officer, Carol Craig, pursuant to a commercial sublease agreement (the © Lease Agreement ”), dated August 1, 2021 and amended February 1, 2024 . The amended | casc Agreement
eurrently-has-is month to month with up to a 3- year term. We currently pay $ 4, 847618 plus CAM per month plus applicable sales and use tax, which is currently 6-3 . 5-0 % in Brevard County. We
believe this location is adequate for our current operations and needs. In addition, our manufacturing spaces are located at 175 Imperial Boulevard, Cape Canaveral, FL 32920 and 400 Central Boulevard,
Cape Canaveral, FL 32920. We are under lease agreements with 400 W. Central, LLC for these spaces. The Lease agreements for 175 Imperial Boulevard and 400 W. Central Boulevard currently have
concurrent lease terms with one year options that end on May 31, 2624-2025 . We pay a combined amount of § 24, 842-643 per month plus applicable sales and use tax, which is currently 6-3 . 50 % in
Brevard County. We have a total of approximately 35, 000 square feet of leased space in these buildings. We believe our manufacturing spaces are adequate for our current operations and will allow for
expected initial growth. ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings, which arise in the ordinary course of business.
Litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties and an adverse result in these or other matters may arise from time to time that may harm our business. We are currently not aware of any such legal
proceedings or claims that will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results. ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES Not
applicable. PART II ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT” S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES Market
Information On December 14, 2021, our common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol *“ SIDU.  Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common stock.
Stockholders As of March 27-31 , 2024-2025 , there were 9-14 , 327711 stockholders of record of our common stock. The actual number of holders of our common stock is greater than this number of
record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers or held by other nominees. This number of holders of record also does not
include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities. Dividend Policy We have never paid or declared any cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and expansion of our business. Any future
determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon a number of factors, including our results of operations, financial condition, future prospects,
contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other factors our board of directors deems relevant. ITEM 6. [ RESERVED ]39 ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITIONS AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and plan of operations together with
and our accompanying consolidated financial statements and the related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. In addition to historical information, this discussion and analysis
contains forward- looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those discussed below. Factors that could cause or contribute to such
differences include, but are not limited to, those idemiﬁed below, and those discussed in the section titled “ Risk Factors  included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. All amounts in this
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Looking Statements and Industry Data This Annual Report on Form 10- K contains forward- looking statements which are made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of Section 27A of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “ Securities Act ), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ). These statements may be identified by such forward-
looking terminology as “ may, ” “ should, ™ *“ expects, ” ““ intends, ” *“ plans, ” “ anticipates, ” * believes, ” “ estimates, ™ * predicts, ” * potential, ” *“ continue ™ or the negative of these terms or other
comparable terminology. Our forward- looking statements are based on a series of expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about our company, are not guarantees of future results or
performance and involve substantial risks and uncertainty. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in these forward- looking statements. Actual results or events could
differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in these forward- looking statements. Our business and our forward- looking statements involve substantial known and unknown



risks and uncertainties, including the risks and uncertainties inherent in our statements regarding: @ our projected financial position and estimated cash burn rate; ® our estimates regarding expenses, future

revenues and capital requirements; ® our ability to continue as a going concern; ® our need to raise substantial additional capital to fund our operations; e our ability to compete in the global space
industry; e our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our current products and services; ® our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and the potential for us to incur
substantial costs from lawsuits to enforce or protect our intellectual property rights; @ the possibility that a third party may claim we have infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated their intellectual
property rights and that we may incur substantial costs and be required to devote substantial time defending against these claims; @ our reliance on third- party suppliers and manufacturers; @ the success

of competing products or services that are or become available; ® our ability to expand our organization to accommodate potential growth and our ability to retain and attract key personne o the potential
for us to incur substantial costs resulting from lawsuits nst us and the potential for these lawsuits to cause us to limit our commercialization of our products and services; All of our forw (ml looking
statements are as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- K only. In each case, actual results may differ materially from such forward- looking information. We can give no assurance that such
\.\l‘gkl(lllklll\ or forward- looking statements will prove to be correct. An occurrence of, or any material adverse change in, one or more of the risk factors or risks and uncertainties referred to in this
Annual Report on Form 10- K or included in our other public disclosures or our other periodic reports or other documents or filings filed with or furnished to the U. S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “ SEC ™) could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. Except as required by law, we do not undertake or plan to update or
revise any such forward- looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in plans, assumptions, estimates or projections or other circumstances affecting such forward- looking statements occurring
after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10- K, even if such results, changes or circumstances make it clear that any forward- looking information will not be realized. Any public statements or
disclosures by us following this Annual Report on Form 10- K that modify or impact any of the forward- looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10- K will be deemed to modify or
supersede such statements in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. 40 This Annual Report on Form 10- K may contain estimates and other statistical data made by independent parties and by us relating to
market size and growth and other data about our industry. We obtained the industry and market data in this Annual Report on Form 10- K from our own research as well as from industry and general
publications, surveys and studies conducted by third parties. This data involves a number of assumptions and limitations and contains projections and estimates of the future performance of the industries
in which we operate that are subject to a high degree of uncertainty, including those discussed in *“ Risk Factors. ” We caution you not to give undue weight to such projections, assumptions, and
estimates. Further, industry and general publications, studies and surveys generally state that they have been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or
completeness of such information. While we believe that these publications, studies, and surveys are reliable, we have not independently verified the data contained in them. In ml(lllmn w h|]e we hk.llk\k
that the results and estimates from our internal research are reliable, such results and estimates have not been \mlvul by any independent \umu Overview
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2er*Sidus Space Lrefeﬂs an 1nnovat1ve, agile space mission enabler pmvndmg flexible, cost- effective solutions (0 government, defense, 1ntelllgence, and commercial companies around the
globe. Our products and services include satellite facturing and tech gy integration, Al- driven space- based data soluti 1 ing and operations, AI / ML

products and services and space and defense manufacturing. With our mission of Space Access Reimagined ®, Sidus is committed to rapid mnovatlon, adaptable and cost- effectlve solutions,
and the optimization of Spaee-space ;-Ine-system and data collection performance . We offer cust: s a variety of mission options whether the ablllty to host a technology . 1

procure a satellite bus . or simply purchase data as a service. Our flight proven modular satellite, LizzieSat ® is a 3D printed, multi- sensor, multi- mission satellite, which is the eentextfirst of
its kind, offering a flexible, cost- effective platform that can be easily adapted to integrate new technologies or customized and scaled to create a new satellite design to meet mission reguires
requirements . Through our Sidus Orlaith ™ AI ecosystem , eoHeetively-we enable near real- time on- orbit data processing, enhancing the speed and efficiency of data delivery from LizzieSat
® sensors. Orlaith ™ offers high- performance on- orbit edge computing and data processing from diverse sensor sets leveraging Sidus’ proprietary FeatherEdge ™ hardware and Cielo ™
software. Orlaith’ s systemic capabilities provide industry- leading and differentiated data delivery for a wide range of end uses including methane detection, AIS tracking, border security,
and technology characterization. Orlaith’ s data processing can also be seamlessly customized for new and / or esoteric missions. As a forward- thinking mission partner, Sidus excels at
responding swiftly to change. We work closely with its-subsidiary-global clients to co- develop mission solutions tailored to both technical requirements and budget constraints . Peseription-of
BusinessFounded-Our Cielo ™ Al data processing algorithms can be updated while in 2642-orbit, which provides additional mission flexibility. By leveraging our vertically integrated in-
house capabilities, engi ing, f: ing, and missi . we are able to rapidly pivot and deliver at the pace of i ion. Sidus has d rated proven space heritage,
successfully launching three hybrid, additively manufactured LizzieSat ® satellites equipped with advanced Al edge- computing capabilities in just over 12 months. This achievement
underscores our position as o grewingleader in space technology, artificial intelligence, and innovation. This success is built on more than a decade of experience delivering flight- proven
systems, platforms, devices, and hardware for customers such as NASA, the Department of Defense (DoD), SpaceX, and Blue Origin. We are strategically headquartered on Florida’ s Space
Coast, which provides easy access to nearby launch facilities, and we operate a 35, 000- square- foot manufacturing, assembly, integration, and testing facility which reduces production time.

We have an experienced team with expertise in multi- discipli i ing, mission- critical hardware manufacturing, satellite design, prod launch planni ission operations,
and in- orbit support. We continue to focus on innovation and aglllty. In October of 2024, we received approval from the U. S. eemmereial-Federal C ications C ission (FCC) to
operate a micro 11 of remote ing, multi- mission satellites in Low Earth Orbit (LEO), and we continue to enhance the capabilities of our LizzieSat ® platform. Planned

enhancements include: @ Open VPX / SOSA compatible architecture with simplified assembly and integration, reduced mass, and better performance ® Integration of Al processor capable of
handling 248 trillion or Tera Operations Per Second (TOPS) e Upgraded payload processor with Field Programmable Gate Array (FPGA) capable of handling payloads at high speed up to 12
Gb /s; also includes five times more computing power and more speed w1tl| a 1 8 GHz quad core processor e Up to 4 Th memory storage ® Upgraded 2nd generation FeatherEdgetm AI /
ML processor that incorporates a spacc eempany-with-an-established 1 who-has-been-trusted-to-provide-misston— eritieal-to- space hafdwar&to—m&ﬂyﬁﬁh&data relay module,
enabling rapid, direct- top—- to aerospaee-businesses— user data transfer for time eveF&deeade—WeplaHeﬂﬁfeFeﬁ‘ sensitive missions. 41 Our products and orbitserviees-asth sp
expandsssatd-services arc offered through several verticals: eith v y

satellite-Satellite Design

Space - based and-Earth-observational-data-Data Solutions te f 3 fize-tito-thre
businesstines:-manufacturing-serviees- Mission Planning Operatlons spﬁeermfrasfrueﬂrre-ﬂs-ﬁ-serwee: AI/ ML Products and Serv1ces, and spaeeSpace rbased—dathuul mstgh&Defense
Manufacturing . Our vertically integrated model #s-with complementary aeress-eaeh-ine-lines of business aiming-enables us to expand-existing-and-unlock new potential revenue generating
opportunities while maintaining diversity of revenue. We are not dependent on a single line of busmess or customer, which provides us the “ optionality ” to scale where market needs demand.
This diversity mitigates risks associated with external factors like macr ic shifts or technol 1 disrupti Our flex1blllty allows us to adapt swiftly to market changes, supporting
growth across all our business lines. We provide adaptable yet cost efficient solutions with the full understanding and experience of the entire space life cycle from hardware manufacturing to
mission planning and operations to space- based data delivery. Custom satellite design and manufacturing: Sidus provides custom satellite design services, working closely with clients to
develop satellite solutions aligned with specific mission objectives. Using the modular LizzieSat ® platform, which can be adapted for various technologies and mission requir ts, Sidus
supports the design and integration process from concept to completion. This flexible approach is intended to deliver tailored satellite designs that can meet a broad range of operational and
data collection needs. We currently have three variations of our LizzieSat ® platform: e LizzieSat ® (Gen 1: LS1- 3): Multi- mission satellite for a multi- mission micro constellation e
LizzieSat- XL (Gen 2: LS4 ): Upgraded VPX Technology for Next Generation Communication ® Lunar Lizzie: Expanded battery capacity and atomic clock for precise and accurate
clockingSidus also offers fully customized satellite design services for any mission in Leo, Geo, Cislunar or Lunar. Technology hosting and mission management: Sidus offers technology
hosting and missi services designed to simplify clients’ path to space and enable clients to focus on their mission goals without the complexities of satellite operation. Sidus
provides integration for a variety of payloads using our LizzieSat ® platform. While on- orbit, we provide 24 / 7 / 365 real- time routine and non- real- time mission operations, includi

satellite monitoring, control, and data management. Our support includes: ® Amazon Web Services cloud- based servers for data transfer and archival e Backup control center capability e
In- house designed C2 routing, encryption, and customer API integration e Multiple ground station providers available for use to meet customer needs ® Physical and cyber security to ensure
satellite and onboard technologies are pr dAI enh d space- based sensor Data- as- a- Service: Sidus offers AI- enhanced Data- as- a- Service, utilizing the Orlaithtm Al ecosystem,
which includes our FeatherEdge ™ Al processor and Cielo ™ Al solutions from space, on the LizzieSat ® platform to deliver timely data insights from space. The LizzieSat ® design enables
simultaneous on- orbit data collection from multiple sensors, with the flexibility to combine data streams in unique ways to support diverse applications and missions from the same platform.
By processing onboard sensor data directly and transmitting only crucial information, the Orlaithtm AI ecosystem reduces downlink costs and significantly bolsters response times for critical
events . Additionally, weteek-Cielo ™ AL algorithms can be upgraded while in orbit, providing adaptability for evolving mission needs. The data- as- a- service approach is designed (o further

transitiorrinte-support applicati in envir tal itoring, di P security, and more, offering customers access to near real- time data that can aid in informed decision-
making. The data- as- a- service is a \uhsulplmn lmm model upeﬁ—&he—digrﬂiaﬁeﬁwlth multiple price tiers based on span of eur-data d and is licable to multiple s includi
government (e. g., cli h envir s), d (e. g., border security), and commercial (e. g., insurance). 42 Space and Defense Manufacturing: Sidus provides a range of

space products and manufacturing services, i critical p ts and systems engineered for space environments. Our 35, 000- square- foot ISO 9001: 2015, AS9100 Rev. D
certified facility supports the manufacturing, testing, and assembly of space- grade hardware. Sidus works to deliver high- quality, reliable space products for government, defense, and
commercial clients by leveraging its expertise in engi ing and mission- critical f: ing. Our space offerings include: @ Multi- material 3D printing technology for the fabrication of
a complex satellite bus and parts. 3D printing revolutionizes the space manufacturing process by reducing production costs and lead times while reducing the weight of the satellite bus. The
technology as-has we-expand-atongside-our-been successfully used on- orbit. ® Precision hining e Multi- discipli gi ing and design services ® Program management including supply
chain managementWe have an approxnmately 10, 000 square- foot reconfigurable avionics lab that produces a wide range of space system flight —based-foeus—Produets-and Serviees-e-ground
cables, medical and mission critical wire harnesses, military harness assemblies, electronic chassis, and electro- mechanical assemblies. Additionally, our 864 square foot, ISO- 8 clean room
allows us to offer highly differentiated Manufacturing-manufacturing Serviees:-and assembly. Our manufacturing business-is-weh-—established-capabilities bine our design engi ing . trusted
s-precision machining, waterjet cutting, and wire harness fabrication experience to provide the highest quality and performance for mission critical systems. Precision
Maclunlng and Assembly Our growing team of engi s and technici: bined with state- of- the- art equipment support precision machining, fabrication, and assembly for prototypes,
test articles, one- offs, low- rate initial productlon up through high volume Swiss screw machining production . Feunded-in2642-We utilize the latest CNC machining and turning processes to
deliver high- quality, plex and on- d d parts for specialized industries including the space sector. ¢ CNC Swiss Screw Machining ¢ CMM, VCMM Quality Inspection ¢ EDM Wire
and Waterjet Cutting ® 3- D Printing ¢ Welding3D Printing From early- stage product development to functional finished parts, Sidus offers commercial and industrial- grade additive
manufacturing solutions. Our 3D printers enable us to provide rapld manul‘acturmg with industrial micron- level laser scanning accuracy and 50 pm repeatability. Using Conti Fiber
Fabrication technology ., wc can produce parts at have-been i ritteal-and—- an satelht&hﬂfd—wﬂfe%e%evemdeeade#e%e&rprmﬂpﬂlrenhanced schedule that are stronger than
6061 Aluminum and 40 % llgllter Sidus provndes 1nternal englneerlng support to optimize the functional performance, product life cycle, and accuracy of its customers and-have-supported
v ft-an a a specific 3D printed technology to ensure rep bility and i 'y across prints. Our 3D printing capabilities
Functnonal Prototypes and Models o Productlon Parts . End- llfe Productlon ® Tool Development e Patterns and Molds e Jigs and Fixtures e Fly- Away PartsMechanical / Lunar
f 8 a m e Electrical Assembly and Test o Flight / Ground Cable and Wire Harnesses ® Ground Support
Equlpment . Manned Spacefllght Rated Hardware ® Satelites Satelllte Comp ts @ Part Task Trainer HardwareAs part of our and-the-International-Space-Statton—Our-manufacturing
business-operates-withinra-35. 000 square foot manufacturing facility , we have a reconfigurable electronics and is-adjacent-cable harness fabrication lab with the necessary equipment, staff and

Tad

square footage (0 eur-elean—room-faeility-produce space flight and ground cables and electronic chassis. Our experience and capabilities i facturing, ly and testing of a wide
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selection of electrical control cabinet and electronic cabinet modification and fabrication processes . \Wc hold-have extensive experience assembling electronics, i soldering, crim
multi- pinned connector terminations, fusion splicing, molding, potting, and testing. 43 Certifications include NASA 8739. 4, NASA 8739. 5, J STD 001 and IPC A 610. Our IPC- J- STD- 001
accredited technicians adhere to NASA work standards KSC- E- 165, KSC- GP- 864, KSC- STD- 132, all required for NASA 8739. 4 credentials with other industry- standard certifications.
Design Engineering We provide quality in- house design engineering services from up- front analysis to integration, assembly, and test. Our ISO 9001: 2015/ AS9100D certified engineering
capabilities include the ability to perform initial design concepts or value- add engi ing change r to exnstlng e’ ing. Our multidisciplinary eng ing experience and
talent cover a broad spectrum of capabilities, enabling an AS9+66-even more comprehensive range of projects. Our design engineering capabilities include: o Requirements Definition —
Product development and process optimization e Verification / Validation (multiple checks and balance) — Meets speclﬁcatlon and intended purpose ® Model Based Systems Engineering —
Use of visual modeling vs document- based information exchange ® 3D CAD & 2D Engi ing Rel = heduling, and controlling e Test Procedures and
Performance — Meets custi driven requir ® Operations / Maintenance Manuals — Fully integrated and procedurally driven e System Integration — Horizontal sub- system
integration approach to projects and programs e Design for Life Cycle Cost & Manufacturing — Incorporation of innovative design manufacturing ¢ Model Based Data Control — Complex
design verification / valldatlon © Finite Element and Failure Mode & Effects Analysis ® Design for ManufacturabilityOur broad range of support of international and domestic governments
and cial includes the Netherlands Organization, U. S. Department of State, the U. S. Department of Defense, NASA, Collins Acrospace eertifteation, Lockheed Martin,
Teledyne Marine, Bechtel Sierra Space, Intuitive Machines, OneWeb Satellites, Parsons Corporatlon, and weL3Harrls in areas that mclude but are not llmlted to launch vehicles, satellites,
and autonomous underwater vehicles. Technology Design and nternational-—-- Integration Fra R f f Sldus leverages its

facturing and hnology expertise to address crltlcal space supply chain challenges with initiatives etre: mmE tooling-and-eapabilityte “dd. untque-high—preeision 1
requirements—e-Spaece—Infrastrueture—as—a—Serviee—We-are-in-the-process-of developingand hing-space—based-infrastrueture-and olub‘ualuusl lated-ground—infrastructuresupport-el
Pavload 1 d, d-: 4 4 1 1sh-¢ tallots H Coll 1, -t -t that 4 £ v ‘g
Payload-providers-are-our p.... .pa. ustomers-and-target s-whe-wish-to-outseur roperations Colle t .y, the-end—to—end-infrastrueture-that resultsis-offered-as Space—ts—

¢ ed-3D-printed)-satelites-in—house-(LizzieS h at are engmeered»expected ohavetheeapaeﬁyfurther Sldus mission of Space Access Relmagmed ®, provndmg flexnble and cost-
effective solutions to and— an expanding global customer base. e FeatherEdge ™, a compact data processing unit tailored for Al applications in orbit. Its small size and low power design
enable compatibility with diverse satellite platforms e Orlaithtm AI Ecosystem which includes FeatherEdgetm hardware, a compact data processing unit tailored for AI applications in orbit,
and Cielotm, Al solutions from space, for delivering insights from diverse sensor sets ® Sidus low voltage differential signaling (LVDS) switch card e Reusable flight software e Flight
computer simulator software e Lab- based integration and test- bed platform e VPX System including OBC / GPU e Printed Circuit Board for GPS, radio, microcontrollersKey

Achievements o S fully 1 hed LizzieSat ®- 1 in March 2024 and LizzieSat ®- 2 in D ber 2024, establishing our micro- constellation for delivering near real- time solutions for our
customers’ mission critical needs. In Q1 2025, we completed the build and launch of our third cial satellite, LizzieSat ®- 3, equipped with both Sidus and cust - hosted technologi
o Executed contract to exclusively design and build the first- generation lunar fleet of Data Storage Sp aft for L tar Data Holdi a provider of premium data storage and
Resi 'ency- as- a- Service (RAAS), whleh reinforces the adaptability of te-stmult usly-host-ourpa luad\ for-etr-ows purpeses-{see upa\.\. Dalu as—a—Serviee beluw, or-offer-ride—share
-- the lezneSa.t ® platform 44 en 3 a rEs—o rrira e an eshateprogra sa
ve O < I < H £E 1de—catal i catallit, £ stalats | d | 3 A cof D, 1 21 2023
Faneemetrie-Our Spae a trueture—as—a—Serviee-offerin plans-to-pro ide:satellite-designs ¢ ttre;€o o operationss ...u}m,. ac As-of B &

h%o

1 ional-Fel UniendE
€ nternational-Teleeoms Bnton(t

d partnerships-with-a fully opera.tlonal g

with-near-contintous-high—rate—-on—orbitto-cloud-comn ons-network;-e-seeured-a-nission eperations-control center teeated-on-the Florida-Spaee-Coastin-Merrittdstand; Fl-eapable-to
manage satellite operations, orchestrate collection management tasks and satisfy data distribution requests for our own constellations and others and signed agreement with intentions-Neuraspace to
provide space traffic management and LEOP (Launch and Early Operations) support services, enhancing Sidus’ 11 operation capabilities ® Received approval by the U. S. Federal

ions C ission (FCC) for operation of a micro 11 of remote ing, multi- mission satellites in Low Earth Orbit (LEO) e Awarded second contract to integrate HEO
Holmes Imager aboard LizzieSat ®- 3 ¢ Awarded contract with Xiomas Technologies to supply FeatherEdge ™ computing system for fire detection via high- altitude infrared imaging e
Awarded $ 2 million contract from Craig Technologies to manufacture to-two automate-fleet interactive display equipment (FIDE) pre- production unit many— main elements-panels for U. S.
Navy Propulsion systems ® Awarded subcontract on the $ 30M Intuitive Machines- led Moon RACER team for the NASA Lunar Terrain Vehicle Services (LTVS) contract in support of this
the Agency’ s Artemis Campaign and begun work e Expanded capabilities related to Lunar missions following award of the NASA Lunar Terrain Vehicle Services Contract as a member of
the Intuitive Machines- led Moon Reusable Autonomous Crewed Exploration Rover team ® Announced strategic partnerships with international partners in support of the Sidus
lnternatlonal Space Center, to include German satellite manufacturing startup Reflex Aerospace, Japanese space- tech company Warpspace specializing in next- generation optical

ion technol and NamaSys Bahrain, a multi discipline Technology & Electronic Security Consultancy supporting Saudi Arabia space initiatives ® Awarded follow on contract
for additional support to NAA Stennis Space Center for Autonomous Satellite Technology for Resilient Application (ASTRA) historic in- space payload mission with NASA Stennis Space
Center and secured follow- on contract for additional ASTRA support ® Demonstrated Sidus Orlaithtm on- orbit capability with an AI enhanced, thermal sensing firefighting software
solution, showcasing the ability to process large sets of raw data in space and deliver only relevant information to end users . Over-This achievement established flight heritage, which is the
history of successful operation of a particular component, subsystem, or system in a space environment, for our Sidus Orlaithtm AI Ecosystem edge computing hardware and software
solutions e Incorporated space- to- space data relay module, enabling rapid, direct- to- user data transfer for time ;-+we-plan—- sensitive missions into LizzieSat ®- 3 ication system to
begin-integrate Iridium- enabled technology into future satellites ¢ Completed the critical design review for LizzieSat ® NL, a laser communication satellite contracted by The Netherlands
Organi rated facturing 11 by intredueing-producing additional-serviees-beyond-en-and delivering thousands of unique parts to 14 cust S ACross cial,
government and defense sectors, reinforcing Sidus’ role as a trusted provider of mission - erbitinfrastrueture-serviees-critical hardware e Strengthened intellectual property portfolio with the
approval of new patents and the publication of a patent application protecting enh d functionality of the LizzieSat ® Modular Satellite Platform System e Developed and achieved flight
heritage for the Sidus low voltage differential signaling (LVDS) switch card, which extends the capabllltles mﬁy—melude%tm&ﬁm&ppmgﬁmﬂ—maupp@ﬁﬂl the payload processor, enabllng
communication with multiple optlcal scnsors through high speed LVDS data connections gov f nanetverab Each ¥
individual-bust ase-basis-and-safeguarded-againstrisk-to-ourcore-business: Extended partnershlp Spaee—Dafeﬁh protege wuth L3Harr|s under Department of Defense Mentor Protege
Progralefferentlatlon a——Semeeaﬂd—I-ﬂsight% e p y e
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$ $ e-vattie data—Our LizzieSat ® satel llx platform addresses-this
has been de51gned to provnde a standard modular satellite platform that serves as the foundatlon lm multiple missions for Leo, Geo, Cislunar, Lunar and beyond.
Additionally, our platform provides diffcrentiated data collection when compared to industry alternatives. We-ptanto-The LizzieSat ® multi- mission satellite for a multi- mission constellation tead
leads the next generation of Earth-earth and Spaee-space data collection by: e Collecting on- orbit coincident data: LizzieSat ® is capable of hosting multiple- sensors on the same satellite to collect
varying data t ypes at the same time and with the same LUHL{IHVH geometry. On- orbit coincident collection benefits-users-provides the opportunity to develop higher value data by deereasing—-

tellati to-deli i)

creating false-pesitives-with-e 1 d thatreinforee-one-another-derivative products through data fusion of multiple types of sensor outputs . ® Analyzing data on the satellite on-

orbit at-the-edge> l-ﬁ—ordeﬁ&mﬁxmze#alueﬁﬁd—speed—mOur satellltes are Sldus proprletary artlﬁclal intelligence ecosystem, Sidus Orlaith ™, Sidus Orlaith ™ enables on- orbit data
processing for critical applications such as in 8 a y Space Situational Awareness (SSA) . a-eutting—maritime monitoring and disaster

response. The Sidus Orlaith AI Platform ™ is powered by the edge Amfmal InteHi FeatherEdge ™ GEN 2, featuring the NVIDIA Jetson NX Orin module which is capable of

P

100 trillion or Tera Operations per Second ( TOPS). This advanced space — rated Al pr ing system is optimized for delivering high- performance, near real- time data analytics directly
from space. Enhancements to future satellites include an upgraded FeatherEdgetm processor that can 248 trillion or Tera Operatlons Per Second (TOPS )eempaﬂyhtehe&er—taetlﬁafe(—kl—)—aﬂd
Machine-Learmine-(viL board-the-satelit hard 4 & e 45O Tk di hardened-AlAMI it ) biteoi
{Mb)-en—beard-the through-hardware-and-seftware-develop wr-prans-inelude-integratin, hardened-AdHME OHr-OR—orbite
data-coleetion—e Redueing-Space to Space data-Data size-Relay : By processing data at the edge on- board LizzieSat ® , we can are-able-te-first-reduce the file size by-and transmitting—--- transmit
only the processed answer-solution . not the entire raw dataset. This enables us to move data from low- Earth-earth orbit to higher orbit data relay services tkeJridiam)-for a lower- cost and more
continual data transmission option to our customers. Additionally, it significantly reduces downlink costs and enhances response times critical to cust: plications. LizzieSat ™- 3 is

upgraded to harness the powerful combination of rapid direct- to- user data transfer capability and on- orbit Artificial Intelligence by integrating a space- to- space data relay module to
provide data vital to organizations utilizing direct- to- device hardware. e Post- launch mission additions: Our LizzieSat ® satellites have been designed with a system flexible enough to
support new customer missions post- launch (through software and algorithm updates) to allow Sidus to generate additional revenue on LizzieSat ® platforms that have already launched and
are operating on orbit. The net value of data collected from our planned LizzieSat ® constellation is expected to alews— allow organizations to make better decisions with higher confidence, and
increased accuracy and speed. Fhe-Company We expect to enriehes-—- enrich this processed data with customizable analytics users control for llml own —use case, and in turn prov ide data as a
\llb\tll[lll(\ll across industries to nlmm/l\lmn\ so they ean af&ablet&unpm\t decision- making and mitigate risk —We gove 3
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. Planned services that benefit current and future customers include delivering
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bmu LI] ta that can pm\ ide critical insight for assessment, lHLQll] trafficking monitoring, energy, mining, oil and gas, fire monitoring, classification of
vegetation, soil moisture, carbon mass, Maritime Automatic Identlfcatlon System ( AIS ) Aviation-ADS-Air Traffic Control Automatic Dependent Surveillance , and weather monitoring;
providing the Ahllm for ulxlonm\ to demonstrate that a technology (hardware or software) performs successfully in the harsh environment of space and de ll\umﬂ space services. Weﬂ&ﬁ—teﬂwﬂﬂﬂé
+ £k d leadineU—S—basedt rth-orb i LREO-2) 1 TH Heat 2 ops 1 EEN tallat: £ 4 +th-ok ¥l Our operating
operate-one-of the-industrysleading U-—S—based-dow-earth-orbit(“1EO-)-smatt or-“smalisats)-eor foeused-on-earth-observation-and-remete-sensing—Our operating

strategy is to continue to capitalize on our smart vertical integration to cnhance the capabilities of our multi- mission satcllite constellation, to design and manufacture satellites for government
and commercial customers utilizing our advanced and proprietary technologies, to increase our international and domestic partnerships and to expand our coincident data analytics offerings in order
to increase the value we deliver to our customers. Our two primary operating assets — our satellite constellation and hardware-our manufacturing facility and capability —- complement each other
and arc the mutaallyreinforeingand-are-arcsult of years of heritage-experience and innovation. Key Factors Affecting Our Results and Prospects We believe that our performance and future success
depend on several factors that present significant opportunities but also pose risks and challenges, including competition from better known and well- capitalized companies, the risk of actual or perceived
afety issues and their consequences for our reputation and the other factors discussed under *“ Risk Factors. ” We believe the factors discussed below are key to our success. Growing our experienced

¢ hardware operations We...... Flight and Satellite systems. Commencing and Expanding Commercial Satellite Operations Our goal is to enable customers to meet their mission objectives with
cost- effective solutions and to help eustomers-them understand how space- based data can be impactful to day- to- day business. Our stra
out as end user focused. While others are focused on a data verticalization strategy specializing in es-a-key sectors or a problem set, we believe that flexibility in production, low- cost bespeke
standardized design and offering * Bringing-Space Access Reimagined Bewn-te-Earth-" for consumers will provide a scalable model for growth. In just over twelve hs, we
and began operations With-with three |izzicSat ® multi- mission satellites for a multi- missi llation. Designed to be modular, flexible, and cost- effective, our proven LizzieSat ®
platform enables rapid mission configuration and scalability across a wide range of satellite sizes, efficiently addressing unique mission requirements. Built with several proprietary Sidus

gy includes increasing the demand downstream by starting

forr ble core p our smart vertical integration provides greater control over the supply chain, ensuring seamless integration of all components — whether developed in-
house or sourced externally. This integrated approach offers a distinct advantage over competitors who rely on purchasing and integrating hardware, software, and subsystems from multiple
vendors. Our existing, proven manufacturing facility and infrastructure provides scalable and str lined facturing with flexible and efficient cycles tailored to both internal and




external end- users. We ensure controlled product quality and service through the use of space- qualified Commercial Off- the- Shelf (COTS) components, along with our AS9100 certified
eapablllty to manufacture our own space supply chain products. Our modular design reviews-supports flexible tech 'y integration, enabling rapid incorporation of variable sensors and

ion- specific technologies. By spreading fixed costs across multiple customers and capabilities, we offer a more cost- effective solution. As a full- stack space services provider, our
offenngs are anchored by a state- of- the- art Mission Control Center ( MCC PBR-and-€BR-) fully-completed-in2022- ensuring end- to- end we—beg&n—hi-zfesm—megraiwnﬂnd-cesﬁng—m
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reventie-for-the-Company-and-enga: that-otherwise gy fot have-eo with-StdusIr-Q3-2023-we announced (f ful on aeg of- Hy-all-the-assets-of Exo— orbit

— . 1 . b VR :
activation of the Spaee-a-eutting—edge-California-basedfirm—sp inr-Edge-Artifietal-ntell {Absefeware-and-hardware-applieationsin-orderte EdgeAlcapabilities-tto-our

~s-FeatherEdge Adplatform™ processer which witkenable-enables us to deliver near real- time intelligence derived from Earth-earth Observation-observation
data. Further expanding the capabilities of our constellation, we implemented the annetneed-an-agreement-with-Satlab te-implementits-A / S second- generation automated identification system (AIS)
technology into the LizzieSat ™M-® satellite constellation. AIS technology uses sophisticated systems on board marine vessels to identify and track ships to prevent collisions and protect life at sea. The
integration of this technology tets + itt, combined with data from optical sensors on board LizzieSat ®, enable-enables unique more-aeeurate-vesscl tracking and monitoring
solutions while providing valuable information about ship movements in real time. In Janwary2023-addition to AIS technology . we were-awarded-a-folow—omagreement-have integrated visual
spectrum and multispectral imagers into our sensor suite and expect to expand the sensors to include software defined multlspectral or hyperspectral sensors for future the—next—phaseef
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numerous-potential-eustomers; domestie-and-inter overnment forpayload-hesting-and-datarelated-to-our planned-sate over-the-frext24-months—We have

previously been approved for our X- band and S- band radio frequencies licensing through a published filing by the ITU on April 4-6 , 2021. Such licenses are held through Aurea Alas, Ltd., an Isle of
Man c\vmpum which is a ViE-Variable interest entity to us. The ITU filing contains approved spectrum use for multiple X- Band and S- Band frequencies and seven different orbital planes, including
45 degrees. In August 2023, the FCC appreved-the-granted Sidus a LizzieSat —® experimental launch and operating license for launch and nlqwlm ona \]mu,\ F n\mn 9 Transporter 10 mission .

This tn-additionwe-filed-aPart25-license includes approval requestwith-the-FEC-for orbital operations utilizing the LizzieS teHation-through-LizzieSatsi ion-previously approved ITU
S- band and X- band frequencies and ground station coverage . The-We also received FCC Part 25 license regtiestis-approval for the LizzieSat ® satellite llation missi two through five
in October of 2024. The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), an agency of the U. S. Department of Commerce, granted a Tier 1 license authorizing Sidus to operate
LizzieSat, a private remote- sensing space system in 2024. We currently have several satellltes in productlon and expect fhefevmwpeﬁed—A—NOMl:reense—reqﬂest—wasLﬂppfeveélo ﬂy—Bfageﬁﬂ—y
Geek&errlaunch four to six more Ll//ne\ll ® satellltes rangmg from 100kg a a Y

400kg over the next 24 months. In addltlon, we expect to begln building satellltes for other S ing lunar

Any del in commencing our commercial launch (»puntmns including due-te-delays or cost overruns in obtaining NOAA licenses or other regulatory approvals for future operations or frequency
requirements, could adversely impact our results and growth plans GH‘FGI'OWlng our experienced space hardware operations We are on track to grow our s]m J Lmd defense hzu’d\\ are

pudllun \\11]1 a wonl of ex mmluw frenrene-shift-to two and a | d]l shifts w1thandr an 1ncreased tnereasthgourcustomer base in the future. ) y
W S y—With current customers in the-space,marine,and h.fen\x industries,our contract revenue is stable
growing nml we are in active tllscllssl(m\ with numerous pmcmml customers,including government agencies,large defense contractors and private companies,to add to our contracted revenue.In the past
decade,we have fabricated greund-Ground and flight-Flight products for the NASA SLS Rocket and Mobile Launcher as well as other eommereia-Commercial spaee-Space and sateHite-Satellite
companies. Customers We-have-supported include eastemers-saeh-as-Bocing,Lockheed Martin,Northrop Grumman,Dynetics / Leidos,Blue Origin,United Launch Alliance,Collins
Aerospace,L3Harris,OneWeb and Space Systems Loral / Maxar. We-Various products have been manufactured vaﬁeus—preduet&including fluid,hydraulic and pneumatic systems,electrical control
systems,cable harnesses,hardware lifting frames,umbilical plates,purge and hazardous gas disconnects,frangible bolts,reef cutters,wave guides,customized platforms,and other precision machined and
electrical component parts for all types of Rockets,Ground,Flight and Satellite systems.Commencing and Vertically Integrated Space Infrastructure Manufacturing We are designing, developing,
manufacturing, and planning-te-eperate-operating a constellation of proprietary smallsats in addition to designing and building variations of our satellites for other customer missions . These
ml«.llm» are designed for mulupk missions and customers and form the foundation of our satellite platform. Weighing-Our initial satellites weigh approximately 100 kilograms each and 5

arc designed to be more tumtmm] than ulhut\tx and nanosatellites and less expensive to manufacture than thetarger-our competitors. In addition to our own hybrid 3D

printed, modul \dlL”IIL\ i the-200—600kerange—t hed-inte-a-, we are designing and facturing i satellltes usmg our standard des1gn for LH) and lunar appllcatlons

to-provide ’ eovers; .m oﬂﬁuxtonmsm{h&that mclude gov unmundnd mmmuu.ll entmes seetors—With-six-initial-globally-distributed-ground stations;ourconsteHation-is-designed-for
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rapie 5 and-deliveryofhigh—revisithigh— imagery-and-dataanalyties—As-our <o on-grows-the-amountof data-we-colleet-will sealerand-we-expeet-ourrevisit

. Our cost- effietent-effective smallsats are designed from the ground- up to optimize performance per unit cost . Qur model is a movement from highly bespoke, costly satellite
manufacturing techniques to standardized bus with integration of customer requirements at lower costs . We can integrate technologies and deliver data on demand at lower costs than legacy
providers due to our vertical integration, use of Custemer-Off commercial off the Shetf-shelf (COTS) proven systems, cost- efficiencies, capital efficient eonsteHation-satellite design, and adaptable
pricing models. We design and manufacture eursatellites at our Cape Canaveral facility. Our current configuration and facility is designed to manufacture multiple 5—+0-satellites a-per month. Our
vertical ml;gm\mn enables us to control our satellites t hyou\gh the entire (lulgm nmnuhlummg_ and operation process. Our years of cxpu!u]ge manufactur m\; space hardware means we can
leverage our manufacturing expertise and commercial best practices for satellite production. Additionally, leveraging both in- house and partner- provided subsystem components and in- house design and
integration services s-as well as operational support of satellites on orbit, te-previde-provides turn- key delivery of entire-eonstelations-satellites to offer *“ concept to constellation ™ in months instead of
years. Specifically, our Spaee-and-Defense—as—a—Serviee-offerings are expected to encompass all aspects of hosted satellite and constellation services, including hosting customer payleads-technologies
onto our satellites, and delivering data and constellation scrvices to customers from our space platform. These services are expected to allow customers to focus on developing innovative payloeads
technologies rather than having to design or develop complete satellite buses or sateltites-er-constellations . Additionally . whieh-we wiltprovide sateng-with-ancillary services that are-tkely-te-include
telemetry, tracking and control “FF-$-€23-, communications, processing, as well as software development and maintenance. Our patented space- related technologies include a print head for regolith-
polymer mixture and associated feedstock; a heat transfer system for regolith; a method for establishing a wastewater bioreactor environment; vertical takeoft
construct same; and high- load vacuum chamber motion feedthrough systems and methods. Regolith is a blanket of unconsolidated, loose, heterogeneous superficial deposits covering solid rock. It
includes dust, broken rocks, and other related materials and is present on Barth-earth , the Meesr-moon , Mars, some asteroids, and other terrestrial planets and moons. We continue to patent our products
including our satellites, external platforms and other innovations. Sidus holds 14 granted p and 13 pending applications. 47 Revenue Generation We generate revenue by selling paytead
technology space on our satellite platform, providing engineering and systems integration services to \lmlegle customers on a project- by- project basis, and manufacturing space hardware for other
space and defense entities to include satellites . Additionally, we intend to add to our revenue by selling geospatial data and actionable intelligence captured through our constellation. This support is
typically contracted to both commercial and government customers under fixed price contracts and often includes other services. Due to the size and capacity of our satellite, we plan are-able-to hesta
expand the diverse array of sensors on each satellite such as Multispectral and Hyperspectral Earth Observing Imagers, Maritime Vessel RF Tracking receivers, UHF IoT Transceivers, Optical
Communications gear-systems, and others . Integrating multiple sensors and technologies on a single platferm-that-multi- mission satellite can simultancously address the needs of many-multiple
eustomer-customers and their requirements. Lowering Manufacturing Cost and Schedule We are-developing-have developed a manufacturing model that provides rapid response to customer
requirements including integration of customers technologies ané-for space- based data delivery. Our planned-satellites are being-designed to integrate Customer-Off the-Shel-COTS Jsubsystems that

are space- proven, can be rapidly integrated into the satellite and replaced rapidly when customer needs change or evolve. Our \cmcull.\ integrated manufacturing procusscs give us the flexibility to make

and landing pad and interlocking pavers to

changes during the ]no(lu(tmn cycle \\nhnut and\,lln” launch or costs. E nvironmental, social, and corporate governance White-Envir 1 Suv;a} and-Governanee(ESGY .eyuum is-netmandatory;
ESG thatwill th X £ Findi beki itiealt & -t inabl th-and ize-sharehold
are-developing-anESGpeliey-that-wi th £several s-we-believe-are-eritieal-to-ensure-we-are-doingour part-te growth-and shareholder

Va-l-nﬁ\\ e have been in business for over ten years manufacturing space hardware and eom]mm.nlx and in that time, implementation of policies and processes to mitigate environmental impact have been
of upmost importance. Furthermore, since our inception, we have recognized the value of our employees and have always prioritized employee well- being through facets such as excellent benefits,
programs, educational assistance, and insurance of a safe and healthy work environment. We also understand that our efforts to promote value and well- being are not limited to our employees. We are
committed to the communities we belong to both locally and professionally. We recently started to formalize this commitment, providing tangible benefits back to the community that supports us. As the
global awareness and-impertanee-of environmental \Ll\ldlﬂdblhl\ inereases-continues to grow , we recognize our dutyresponsibility to implement developrients-innovations that not only advance
faeil—ifat&fhe—evehi&eﬁ—eﬁmmpnu solutions -but also promote environmentally conscious proteeels-yielding-practices with mcasurable benefits for results-toward-the-eonservationofour planct. A key
eompeonent-core element of our feews-on-sustainability strategy is the mtegratlon feuﬂémur—ufﬁlzaﬂem>l In- house 3D pxmlmu technology as a pmmm ummllnuumwﬁsseemethod While Fhe
development-of3D printing offers numerous operational advantages, i-its most significant contribution lies
in reduetion——- reducing efcnvironmental strain-impact . %Notably, a portion of our l izzieSat ® v ' satellite bus is 3D printed ,
aligning —Manufaeturing-parts-with a-our mission to mini our ecological footprint. 3D printer-printing s1gmﬁcant1y lLLlLIQLS evefal-hnu"\ um\umpuon and material waste compared to
traditional machining methods . redueing-eur-which often generate more scrap than usable parts. By eliminating the excess waste and energy demands of conventional processes, we achieve
greater efficiency and a lower carbon footprint eempared-to-itspred of conventionat . Additional-benefitsinelude-The advantages extend beyond manufacturmg the remevai
lighter weight of waste-and-unneeessary-3D- printed components reduces transportation cnergy — whether by vi :

>
cargo ships— ship and-or commercial vehieles— vehicle — and requires less storage for-transportation-sees-a-signifieant-deerease—Thisreduetionin-weight-is-aecomf d
by-areduetioninspace requemeﬁts—feﬁheusmg—theﬁa{eﬁa{» thereby lowering eutting-outthe-need-for-targestorage-spaces-and-the cnergy needed for warehousing to-maintain-those-faeitities-.
Looking ahead teward-the-future-, we are committed to further enhancing our the—pewfmal-fofexeﬁmgﬂevebpmenm{heﬁe}éoﬁsmwmlﬂhl\ efforts are-ofupmostimpertanee-. Fhese
developments-inelude-We actively explore the use of mere-biodegradable and ferrecycled materials for thatean-be-used-to- e-parts— part production and further-benefit-the-environment
continue to improve existing practices . Currently Until-these-devel eetr-, We are-doing-ourpart-through-the-practice-of reeyeling recycle reughly-approximately 5. 000 pounds bs—of metal
annually, in addition to all a-yem%eﬂp}ed—w-t&r&aefeeyeﬁﬂg—efd&nyu\u oil and umldnl As technologies evolve eeﬂtmue—feﬂd’v‘aﬂee we remain dedicated to adopting next- generation sustainable
solutlons and preserving our planet for future generations the-Earth-and-e to-evolve-with-newert as-they-develop-. Social We recognize the vital importance of our employees, the

communities with-whieh-we operate in, and are-situated-as-well-as-the global community at large . T his 1 reeognition-hasted-us-awareness drives our commitment to implement
1mplement1ng initiatives a—vaﬂetyeﬁaeﬂeﬂﬁlml support-seetety-create meaningful, positive impact — from the individual to a global scale. Employee well- being is-lies at the heart of our mission
to-provide-a-positive-impact-onal-. With-oureore-valuesbeingrooted-Rooted in a faﬂnhalrculture of family and community eemmunal-strueture-, we uphold these-our core values by
ntlumn robust eur-employees-exeelent-benefits spregrams-, cducational assistance, and insuranee-ofa safe and-, healthy work environment for all empleyees-. We uﬂderstend»also celebrate the
impertanee-value of diversity — inrthe-wetkplaee-because #our company was built by-diversity—-Community-on all-seales+is-it — and continue to foster an inclusive workplace where everyone can




thrive. 48 We belleve that strong communities are fundamental to our success . ;-and-beeause-of that That belief inspired -we-are-eommitted-to-teaving-atasting-impaeton-the creatlon of eommunity
Sidus Serves, our way—efdaeﬂve}ymltlatlve dedicated to improving h e on eaftrlrEarth through ingful "u.u.uu.my y invelvement
engagement. Vulnnteerlsm is key-te-an integral part of our culture 5 tively iav A it > -- support K
— 12 education, previding-assist military personnel and veteran-veterans assistanee-, champion cnvironmental stow dlds]np anc ve'ruﬁfeefmg—a%conmbute our tlme and resources to uml
nonprofits erganizations- Our Wesand-ourcmployees sare deeply pm\mnau about t-he«lmpfevemeﬂfefmakmg a difference, and we proudly invest in their- the communitics v
efferts-where they live and work partnership-with-leeal;regional-and of ' We ’ are~re pfeud»especlally committed to sappeﬁsnpportmg local STEM programs and schools , with
a inoeal-cor ities—We-are-f d--- focus on bridging the opportunity gap in the acrospace industry. field-by-supperting-young-prof Is-through-Through establishing-partnerships with
severalorganizations that dedieated-to-providing-provide hands- on STEM ning eppertunities-to a diverse array-range of students , we are helping to build a more inclusive and innovative future
. Our governance structure is designed to promote transparency, efficiency, and ethics. Through a qualified and diverse chain of command, we are confident that our decision making will carry out
performance at the highest degree. Our Board of Directors consists of professionals with strong executive experience, business strategy and leadership skills. Our board consists of 3-8 independent
directors alongside our CEO . Our Growth Strategies We are focused on empowering end users, developers, channel partners and the organizations they serve to quickly and easily access and
integrate real- time geospatial intelligence into their daily operations and prove out technologies to further grow the space ecosystem. Our growth strategy is driven by the following objectives:
Increase our overall customer base. As and—- an €FO-established heritage aerospace firm, we are positioned at the forefront of the ongoing political and secular shift toward space- based
communications and data derived from commercial satellite and intelligence providers. This evolving landscape presents a significant opportunity to expand our customer base through a
combination of direct and indirect sales strategies. To support this growth, we are actively scaling both our direct sales teams and our global network of indirect sales channels. Expand within
our current customer base. As our satellite design and manufacturing and space- based data offerings grow and deliver results, we expect that our current customers will increase their
spending on our expanded services. Continue to penetrate international markets. We have expanded our strategic focus to ineluding-include 2-women-international markets, actively building a
pipeline of prospective partnerships with small, underrepresented governments and global companies that can benefit from our expertise and services. As part of this initiative, we have signed
partnership agreements with companies in Germany, Japan, Bahrain, and India to explore potential joint venture opportunities. Grow distribution ch Is and ch | partner ecosy !
‘We have strategically invested resources to expand our sales reach by developing robust distribution channels and forging partnerships with technology providers, solution partners, strategic
global system integrators, and value- added resellers. These collaborations are designed to help us enter and grow in new markets while effectively complementing our direct sales efforts .
Global Space Industry Overview The Inreeent-years;-the-impertanee-of the-space cconomy has been-growing-as-experienced s1gn1ﬂcant growth in recent years, driven by tcchnological advanees
advancements in beth-satcllites and supperting-terrestrial technologies that have enabled new commercial applications use-eases-. These applications encompass use-eases-netade-satellite broadband,

remote imaging, Internet- of- Things ( IoT “¥0F>) / Machine- to- Machine (*-M2M ) communications, defense- related applieations-uses . as-well-as-others—As-aresult;severalnew-and existing
more. Consequently, numerous operators have announced plans for new satellite wn\ullmmm , predominantly comprising te-serve-these-use-eases—Many-of these ¢ tetati with

eensistofsmall Low Earth Orbit (LEO ) satellites rather than traditional large Geostationary Orbit ( GEO ) satellites. This With-the-flax-influx of new entrants across various segments has led to
an evolving at-atHevels-ofthe-vatue-ehain;the-small satellite value chain has-eontinted-to-evelve, es’peetal-lypartlcularly mthe launch seeterservnces downstream value- added applications, M-&As
mergers and acquisitions, and consolidation between-among stakcholders. The rapid pace nl mnunnmn and-teehn eentintie-continues to drive the commercialization of space-
based data, analytics, and insights, enhancing their relevance to businesses, governments, and the generat-public. The Farehermefe—t-h&L emand for space- derived data that-ean-be-eoteeted-from-spaee-is
growing rapidly , while the cost of accessing space is decreasing. Key Severatkey-trends have-emergedﬂn the new space economy rinetuding-include the expansion of satellite constellations and-the-,
increased availability of space- based data, the-a shift in user demand tewards— toward analytics and insights, climate change adaptation, global security concerns, and advancements in on- board
technologies. According to €iti-a McKinsey Repert-report 2022:-Space—Pawn-of-aNew-Agepublished in January 2022-2025 , foreeasts-a-the space economy is projected to reach $ | . 8 trillion
annuat-revente-for-the-space-eeonomy-by 2046-2035 . up aninerease-lrom S 376-630 billion in 2626-2023 , with foreeasts-of strong-an average annual growth inrrate of 9 %, outpacing global GDP
growth. This growth is expected to be driven by satcllites, increased government space budgets, and as-weH-as-new applications and industries in the-field-efspace exploration. 49 The Hr-addition;
Prospeets-for-the-Smat-small Satellite-satellite market is also experiencing substantml growth. According to The Business Research Company and a 2025 Global Market Insights —A—Eureconsult
Reportreport Sth-EditionJuly2022-, expeets-thatover-the global small satellite next-deeade;-the-total-manufaeturing-andHauneh-market size was vatue-valued forsmatt-satettites-at $ 6. 9 billion in
2024 and is expeeted-projected (o grow at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 16. 4 % from 2025 to 2034 feael‘rreachmg approxnmately $ 8430 6 blllmn by 2034 Tmore-than3- S-times
the-market-value-over 2042-2024-Although-this- This indieates-signifieant-growth is attributed to factors such as a 5 g ise
ef—eubesate—eensteﬂaﬁeﬁs*aﬂd—ﬂaeﬂﬂfmdueﬁeﬁeHew—wxl effectiveness in space missions systems-for-both-manufacturing-andauneh-, advances in mlnlaturlzatlon, wheh—reéueewefageeesfs—pef
i rapid grewthin-development cycles, improved access to space, and the commercialization of space operations. private-Private investment in the commercial space industry has fed
surged, leading to a-vave-the emergence of new companies reinventing major elements of the traditional space industry, including human spaceflight, satellites, and launch services , in-additionte-as
well as unlocking entirely new market segments. Fﬂﬂhei‘mefe—gevemmemvcovernment agencies have realized-recognized the value of the private commercial space industry and have become
increasingly mere-supportive and reliant on private companies to catalyze innovation and advance national space objectives. In the United States, this is has-been-evidenced by notable policy initiatives
and the growing share of space activities conducted by commercial contractors ~grewingshare-of. Overall, the space aetwﬁyeconomy is ponsed for significant growth, with both established and
emerging players contributing to an increasingly dynamic and competitive landscape . Ldunnh \Iml\u Spac—eHlstorlcally, a ionally-beenlimited-10 these-with-significantspace was
constrained by high capital expenditares-requirements . with launch costs serving as rema & h - h shave-tra a eerrthe primary bottleneck for +
developmenteforbital activities. Launch Fhe-frequeney-and-availability — adequate ef—lauﬂehes—w%}eﬂeeeptab}ehn fhe—}egaey—mafkef(sevefalrtradmonal large- scale missions occurring only a
few times a year y-has-proved paralyzingto-some— was often insufficient and limiting for operators of small satellites. Adtheugh-While emerging launch providers have aimed to increase launch
frequency and ﬂex1blllty for smallsat mlssmns, financial barriers have contmued to pose challenges for ncw entrants. Today, the landscape is shifting rapidly. After years of limited launch
opportumtles, 5 g a fle y-to-small satellites now benefit from a wider range s-eapital-remains-the-main-barrier-to-entry—After-years-of launch
lutions , small now-enjoy-more-launch eptions-as-new+ hicles, rideshare programs ., brokers , and deployment systems smaHsat-dispensers
© vat aet According to Euroconsult, the smalsat--- small satellite ldumh mar] ul — whieh-was-valued at $ 7. 6 billion — is set-projected to grow by over 279 %
toreach $ 28. 4 blllnm 51 heweverHoweverfﬂﬂe%r a significant portion of that market fauneh-valae-rcmains eaptive-ef-dominated by national industries-programs and vertically integrated
providers like playersfe—g--SpaceX - Previously overlooked due to fragmented demand and lower perceived profitability, the smallsat sector is now receiving increased attention, as launch
supply adapts to meet rising demand with greater responsiveness and innovation. Small Satellite Market Since 2018, the commercial space market has experlenced a sngnlﬁcant paradlgm

shift, leading to an increased demand for small satellites (‘had-been d-and-eonsidered-lessprofitable-than targer atellites-tauneh-providers-had-notaetively pursued-the Jauneh-b
However,-this-has-now-changed:-as-the-taunch-supply-has-adapted-rapidiy—Since 2018 —a paradigm-shift-in-the-commerciat-space-market has-resulted-in-an-inereased-demand-for-smallsats ) . According to

Euroconsult , etatee—thahnmll\(us have become more compact smalter-insize-over the past few years but-while enhancing their performance. Technological advancements have gained-in
van pand-expanded their mission capabilities, making them more resilient, effective, and fewer-cost - effective . This Miniaturization
mmlatunzatlon trend H«eenﬂnueus—pfeeess—fhaﬁnm\\s the-eustomer-customers o choose between lighter satellites with ne-ehange-unchanged in-capabilitics s-or bigger-larger . morc powerful s-and
more-eapablesatellites with-offering greater eapabilities-functionalities . ©therKey technical enablers include rbutare-nottimited-to-: <Extension-e Extended use of efeetrieal--- electric pmpulsmn .
ases<»-Miniaturization of attitude sensors +++-e Improvements in Setar-solar eells— cell and batteries-battery ~c{ficicncy imprevement;<#+-e Commercial off- the- shelf ( COTS ) solutions for bus
clectronics +-e 3D printing technologiesThe —Fhe-demand for large geosy nehmnmh sate llites has declined dfam‘aﬁea-l—l—ymx companies pfepared%e—l-&ﬂﬁelffocus on deploymg constellations 01 smaller,

eheaper-cost- effective broadband satellites in low and medium Earth orbits 5 Hing-in-a-dramatie-deerease-in-d d-fortarge-geosynehronous-comt 1s-sateltites-. Adv ts New
technologies-in spaee-and-space- l\.ldlk&l sectors, particularly computational t ulmnlxwlu sand data analytics, are-have faeilitating-facilitated the miniaturization of satellite systems, thereby improving

hancing the market. Ci q ly Pue-to-this-, smallsats are-now able-te-provide operational services previously exclusive to larger enty-avaitable-threugh-heaviersatcllites. Euroconsult antieipates
projects lhal abeut_—l-?rappronmately 26 . 560-104 smallsats (<under 500 kg) will be launched between 2023 and 2032, averaging a daily launch mass of 1. 5 tons over 2022-203+-er-about365

the decade rext-10-years)- Morcover, therise-ofthis market growth has alse-ereated-a-led to the emergence of ncw marketsegnent-segments i,

such as n: mn\ndhru (aﬁdﬁmesateﬂﬁefmwlmw less than 10 kg ) AH(I mlcrosatellltes (weighing between 10 and 100 kg ) srespeetively-. While-these-These satcllitcs can operate be-deployed

indiv |du4H\ or %ey—e&ﬂ—a’:se—beepemtedr 15 part of a-eenstelation — ra-large greup-groups of interconnected satcllitcs intereonneeted-te-provide-providing aserviee-services like -sueh
as-the-Starlinksatellite s-offeringof Nlnha] internet connectivity , exemplified by SpaceX’ s Starlink constellation . Aeeerdingte-Curoconsult -reports that the smallsat manufacturing
market, whieh-was-valued at § 15. 5 billion everfrom 2012 —to 2021, is se%expected to grow by 258 % to $ 55. 6 billion over 2022 —to 2031, driven by numerous the-multipheation-efconstellation
projects from both commercial and government stakeholders. The next decade will be-defined-primarily by-feature the rollout of multiple constellation projects, whieh-wilt ing for 81 %
of smralt - llsat I hes , mainly fer-by commercial operators. Notably, A-tetal-ef3. 335 smallsats <under 10 kg are expeeted-anticipated (o launch thretgt in the next decade, +—es-more

than twiee-doubling the 1, 656 launched ever-between 2012 —and 2021. Satellites in this category, especially ewbesats-CubeSats . have gained momentum recently +, with 1, 187 swere-launched in the
past S-five years alone. The growth in the-low Earth orbit ( LEO ) satellite constellations is driven by technological advances in ground equip new b models, expanded funding, and
increasing demand for high bandwidth and lower latency. Although the satellite 11 market r ins in its early stages, significant growth is anticipated in the launch industry as
companies seek versatile and cost- effective methods to deploy single satellites to specific orblts or establish their satellite constellations. F urthermore, the expansion of the satellite
constellations nm\kd is expected to beneﬁtu ing-driven-by-technologieal a\.‘wau in-ground-equif -Hew-bust dels-expanded-fundingand-growing-¢ t fw hi hba..dv idth-and-tower

s-satellite € 35 AHRS-RAS ' & &
a1 del+ 3 1 tallit 44 163 ST depl thet talli toalat E; N 1ot th th-ofth ¢ tolath Jeat+ 2} 1 3 +¢
and-ow—eostways-to-deliversingle to-speeifie-orbits-or-deploy-their eonstelations—Fuarthermore,w pate-the-growth-of the constelations-marketto-contribute-businesst
services offerings. LEO satellite constellations have relatively short lifespans on orbit, itating the resulting-in-arequirementte-launch of replenishment satellites every few

years =50 Results of Operations Comparison of year ended December 31, 2623-2024 to year ended December 31, 2622-2023 The following table provides certain selected financial information for the
periods presented: Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Change % Revenue $ 4, 672,646 $ 5. 962, 785 $7293-468-5 (1,336-290 , 623-139 ) (4822 ) % Cost of revenue 6, 141, 657 4, 321, 482
58552751, 533-820 , 175 42 793)26)-"0 Gross Profit (Loss) (1, 469, 011) 1, 641, 303 -3 . 438-110 , 433-263;470-+4-314 ) (190) °6 Gross Profit Percentage (31) % 28 % 20-%-SG-Selling, general
&Aradministrative expense 14, 249, 870 14 166, 61743-83 . 253 1482—432—684—]—85{%"“ ()thl"k\l)Lﬂ\L ( 805 175) (1 l)» 034) (7952, 66‘}141 )0H—997—365}4—2—'F % Net loss $ (17, 524, 056)
$(14 3 million compared to total
revenue Tm I]n t\\d\x mnnthx Lmiui December 31, 292%2023 Non- uld[ul party revenue (ltu‘ 1sed h\ nmnn\nmud\ 2&23 “u for the twelve months Lndui I)Lumwu 31,2623-2024, to
approximately $ 3 . 9 million as compared to approximately $ 5. 0 mﬂhenﬂe«eempafeéﬁe*&pprexmﬁfe%y%ﬁ%mlllmn for the twelve months ended December 31, 2622-2023 and-. Thls was primarily
driven by the timing of fixed price milestone contracts effsetby-and lower satellite payload-technology revenue. Related party revenue for the year decreased 16 % to approximately 9-%-te-$ 952-800 ,
226-000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023-2024 versus approximately $ 952, 000 +—6-mithon-for twelve months ended December 31, 2622-2023 and-. This was driven-influenced by the
timing of fixed = price milestone contracts and a reduction in the number of contracts our related party entered-inte-and-secured with its customers, leading to decreased outsourcing fess-of #s-work
to us. Cost of Revenue Cost of revenue deereased-increased 26-42 % for the twelve months ended December 31, 2623-2024 to approxnmately $ 6. 1 million as compared to approximately $ 4. 3 mithen
as-compared-te-approximately-$-5-9-million for the twelve months ended I)LCLl“ ber 31, 2022-2023 and included approximately $ $88-713 , 000 related party cost of sales as of December 31, 2623-2024
and approximately $ 436-655 , 363-000 as of December 3-31 , 26222023 . The overall deerease-increase in cost ofrevenue was pl |m arily driven h\ a mix of contracts and-of varying types, satellite an
and related software depreciation expense increasc of approximately $ 1 75 million versus 2023 and in a a sifess et-continued increased supply
chain related costs in the manufacturing side of our business. The +4-31 % inerease-decrease in our gross margin for the twelve months ended I)LLL”1hL\ 31,2623-2024 to a loss of approximately $ 1. 6-5
million as compared to a profit of approximately $ 1. 4-6 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2622-2023 4s-, was driven primarily by the-higher satellite and related depreciations
costs, our mix of varying types of contracts with higher material and labor expenses and a inerease-decrease in our higher margin satetite-business. 51 Selling, General, and Administrative




Expenses Selling, general, and administrative expenses were in line inereased-approximately-$-684:-000-when compared with the same period in 2022-2023 . Thls%he—mereaseyeﬂr—ever«ye%\ms
primarily due to the following: This inerease-was primarily related to the following increases: ® An increase of’ approxnmately $ 684-304 . 000 in professionat-fees tside services (0 $ 635 +;
93+, 000 COm]JW.I(.d to$ 3304—24& 000 in 2622-2023 duc to fegal-eosts-busi devel and sales consulting services and temporary office and operations IL|’IIC(| labor te-varieus-eorporate
matters;ft and: ittonrof Exe—Spaee-. ® An increase of approximately $ 295903 000 in fundraising-mission control related cxpenses to $ 324976 , 000 compared to $ H6-73 . 000 in
2622-2023 was primarily due to the-timing-of our-eapital-raise-2024 post launch satellite related services required . ® An increase of approximately $ 335, 000 +—7-mittion-in employee-fundraising
related cxpenses to $ 657, 000 compared to $ 321, 000 in 2023, as a result of increased capital raises. ® An increase of approximately $ 7—2-miltioneompared-217, 000 in Board related cash and
stock compensation to approximately $ 5-5-mitten-430, 000 compared to approximately $ 213, 000 in 2622-2023 irn-order-as we continue to support-the-needs-expand and build our Board of
Directors the-business-. These incr were pattiatty-offset by the following decre o A decrease of $596-356 , 000 in D & O insurance to $ 948-592 , 000 compared to S 948 +-544-, 000 in 2622
2023 was due to a reduction in insurance rates. ® A decrease of $ 1}4%838 29&000 in professional fees H related-to-oursatelite-side-ofour-bust {0 § +06;-866-1. 1 million compared to § 248;
666-1. 9 million in 2022-2023 primarily related to lower legal achange-in that ded-the-serviee-pertod-and fedueed—peﬁed»accountmg related expense-expenses . © A decrease of § 317, 000
+2-mittion-in IR+PR-expenses-research and development costs to S 0 . 00 compared to $ 317, 000 +—2-miltion-in 2622-2023 related to a-one—time-eharge-initial i ing design and devel
costs of the satellite. ® A decrease of $ 327, 000 in steek—based-eonsulting-feesfor-investor and public relationsFotat—---- relations expense to $ 109, 000 from $ 436 000 in 2023, as a result of
bringing more of these functions in house. Total other income (expense) During the year ended December 31, 2024, we had interest income of $ 39, 009, other income related to the sale of obsolete
equipment and scrap material of $ 4, 613, interest expense of $ 1, 285, 652 and asset- based loan expense of § 542, 550. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we had gain on \dlL of
eqmpmem 01 $ 17, 950, finance expense of $ 917, 848, ﬁﬂd»mlelesl expense of § 747, 420 and asset- based loan expense of $ 155, 716 =
93- NON- GAAP MEASURES To provide investors with additional information in connection with our |c\u|ts as dctumlm(l in accordance
AAP measures of dd]u»lcd EB]TD A. We use adjusted EBITDA in order to evaluate our operating performance and make strategic decisions regarding future direction of the
company since it provid ingful comparison to our peers using similar measures. We define adjusted EBITDA as net income (as determined by U. S. GAAP) adjusted for interest expense,
depreciation and amortization expense, acquisition deal costs, severance costs, capital market and advisory fees, equity- based compensation and warrant costs. These non- GAAP measures may be
different from non- GAAP measures made by other companies since not all companies will use the same measures. Therefore, these non- GAAP measures should not be considered in isolation or as a
substitute for relevant U. S. GAAP measures and should be read in conjunction with information presented on a U. S. GAAP basis. 52 The following table reconciles adjusted EBITDA to net loss (the
most comparable GAAP measure) for the twelve months ended December 31 2024, and 2023 ;-ard-2022- Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Change % Net Income / (Loss) $ (4417
,328-524 . 056 348)-(12:839;968-) S (114 ,488-328 , 380-348 ) 12-$ (3, 195, 708) 22 % Interest Expense (1) 1, 306, 252 903, 136 795403 | 116 45 669+07-4671+4-% Depreciation and Amortization (i)
2,171,873 217, 107 2381 , 954 85942+, 766 900 752)9)-" Acquisition Deal Costs (#Hiii ) _= 220, 632 —(220, 632 ) - 100 % Capital raise expense (iv) 805, 322 927, 875 (122, 553)- 13 % Warrant
costs underwriter (v)- 917, 848 (917, 848)- 100 % Scverance Costs 22,201 147, 222 63—769—83—453*181—%r€apﬁal-Mafketﬁnd-adﬂsefy—feeﬁ #1125, 021 ) - 927875 85 824:-036-163:-83943-%
Equity =based compensation (#vi ) 309, 736 104, 038 4205 , 698 198 70 Warranteostsv)-94+7-848-917-848—Total Non- GAAP Adjustments 4, 615, 384 3. 437, 858 3-1 ,
+3+177 . 526 34 333-306:-52516-% Adjusted EBITDA (12,908, 672) ( 1¢ X‘)( 4‘)( ) ( 92 708018 . 635-182 ) 19 (5885512 (i) Sidus Space incurred increased interest expense due to short-
term note payable beeeming-duc in Q4 2024 and interest expense related to an asset- based loan. (ii ) Sidus Space incurred increased depreciation expense 2024 with launch and deployment of
satellite fixed asset and related satellite software, as well as new ERP software capitalization. (iii ) Sidus Space incurred one- time lcnul costs associated with thL dcqul\mon of Exo- \pdu. an
\mlmal Imdlmmc ( AI) company. ( tit-iv ) Sidus %pdu incurred 1nternal fundralslng expense related to multiple capital raises ene 3 v
e vely-. (v) Sidus Space incurred one- time costs related to underwriter warrants during 2023 8 (vi) Sidus
Space issued stock- based compensatmn for employee and Board services rendered quuldlt\ dnd Capital Resources The following table provides selected financial data about us as of December
31,2023-2024 . and December 31, 2622-2023 . December 31, December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Change % Current assets § 22,252,552 $ 9, 202, 310 $ 713 , 449-050 , 868-$1,752,44224-242 142 %%,
Current liabilities § 14, 209,502 $ 12, 219, $6-1.359-990 , 146 16 652-$-5:-860;304-92-% Working capital (deficiency) $ 8,043,050 $ (3, 017, 046) S +11 ,096-060 , 096 816-5 367 4107862
B77) % Liquidity is the ability of a company to generate funds to support asset growth, satisfy disbursement needs, maintain r equirements, and otherwise operate on an ongoing bas
insufficient operating revenues, so we are currently dependent on debt financing and sale of equity to fund operations. We had an accumulated deficit of approximately § 60. 3 million and a working
capital surplus of approximately $ 8. 0 million as of D« L 31, 2024 pared to lated deficit ol'apprommately $ 4 8 nnlllon and a \\mkmg capital deficiency of approximately $ 3. 0
million as of December 31, 2023 eompared-to- tated-defieit-of approxi 1-$28- As 3-millionand vorking-eap p i —+m ras-of December 31, 2622-2024 —As-of
, we had dppm\lnm\elv $15. 7 mllllon ofcash compared to approxnmately $1 nnl]mn of cash eempﬁfed—teﬂppfexﬁﬂﬁte%y%%ﬁﬁﬂmﬂﬁfeashm of December 31, 2622-2023 .
As of Deccmbel 31, g b e teipath Q12024 fauneh—As-of Deeember3+-, our 2022the-working
capital surplus was pnmanly (iUL to funds raised thfeugh—ﬁﬂaﬂemgm fe&aﬂeﬁ—t&uun eqﬂﬁy—lmecapltal raises completed Q4 2024 As of eredit-December 31, 2023, the working capital deficiency was
primarily due to our build out of our LizzieSat ® satellite in anticipation of our Q1 2024 launch . Current assets increased by approximately $ +13 . 80 million, or 24-142 %, to $ 22. 3 million as of
December 31, 2024 from approxnmately $9.2 nnllmn as 01 December 31, 2023 ffemﬁppreﬁmﬁe}y%#—#ﬁﬂ}heﬂﬁs—eﬂ?eeembeﬁ«l—%ﬁ% The increase is primarily attributable to our increased
cash balance p fess- Current liabilities increased by approximately $ 52 . 80 million, or 92-16 %, to approximately $ 14. 2 million as of December 31, 2024
from approximately $ 12. 2 mlllmn as of December 31, 2023 frem-approximately-$-6—4-million-as-of Deeember34:-2022- The increase was attributable to an increase in our asset- based loan liability
partlally nffset by a decrease in aeeotnts— account payable and other current liabilitics and-our-asset—basedHoan-tability- On-In January 29:-2624-2025 -the Company-company issued 2 entered-into-a
L 484247 . 906-667 sharcs of Class A Cemmoen-common Steek-stock in exchange for and-pre—funded-warrants WehasprHiggmgawexerclsed from the
December 2024 capltal ralse. The company recelved funds of 69—99(¥approx1mately $2.4 mllllon in exchange for the shar s 1ssued

with GAAP, we use non-

¥ bety nderwriters- 53 Gross proceeds from the offerina were $......
Flow \rc(us E mlcd Dcu.mbu 31, 2024 2()7 2022—( mm_c “u (dsh uscd in operating activities $ (15 825, 052)$( 11, 49 442) S (42-4 ,093-075 , 908-610 ) 35 $344:466-(37"%
$(7,474,836) $ (7,691, 844) § 217, 008 ( 3 2,-099;858-) $+(5:-594-986)266-" Cash provided by financing activities $ 37, 787,360 $ 18,362, 134 § 2-19 , 778425 | 226
106%89{5*]5—583—954—56% %o Cash on hand $ 15,703,579 8 1. 216, 107 S 2-14 . 295:259-$5-(-679-152)(47-487 ¥, 472 1191 %, €ash-Flow-from-OperatingAetivities-Y car ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 and-2022-For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, we did not generate positive cash flows from operating activities. For the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , net cash
flows used in operating activities was approximately $ 415 . 7-8 million compared to approximately $ 42-11 . 47 million during the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 . Cash flows used in operating
activities for the year ended December 31, 2024, of approximately $ 15. 8 million is comprised of a net loss of $ 17. 5 mllllon, which was reduced by non- cash expenses of $ 289, 175 for stock-
based compensation related to vested stock and stock options, $ 87, 129 for bad debt expense, approximately $ 2. 2 million for depreciation and amortization, and an increase in net working
capital of approximately $ 849, 000 . Cash flows used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023, of approximately $ 11. 7 million is comprised of a net loss of $ 14. 3 million, which
was reduced by non- cash expenses of $ 917, 848 for issuing warrants as compensation of underwriter services, $ 104, 038 for stock based uvmp:nsauon $ 17, 871 for bad debt expense and-, $ 217, 107

$7, 102 527 Lu‘

Cash used in investing activit

for (Icprumllon and 'nnoxllmlmn and a decrease in in net ehaﬁgeﬂnmknw capital of approximately $ 1. 3 million —€a vea <
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. Cash Flows from Investing Activities Dunn" lhe
year Ll]LlLL] Dcccmbu ?1 202%2024 we purchased prop and cqulpmun in lhc ﬂmounl ol nppm\nnau]\ $ 7. %5 million ol'whlch with-approxt 1y-$-483-644-related-to-Exo—Space
and-approximately $ 6. 76 million primarily related to the satellite side of our business. During the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 , we purchased property and equipment in the amount ot
approximately $ 7. 2 million and invested approximately $ 483, 644 related to our Exo- Space acq n and approxi ly $ 6 . +7 million primarily related to the satellite side of our business.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities During the year ended December 31, 2024, net cash provided in financing activities of approximately $ 37. 8 million included our January 2024, March 2024,
N ber 2024 and D: ber 2024 capital raises of approximately $ 33. 6 million net proceeds, and approximately $ 4. 3 million net proceeds of an asset- based loan agreement, repayment of
notes payable of $ 150, 000 and proceeds from stock payable from warrants exercise. During the year ended December 31, 2023, net cash provided in financing activities of approximately $ 18. 4
million included our January 2023, April 2023 and October 2023 capital raises of approximately $ 16. 6 million net proceeds, partialy-offsetby-approximately $ 2. I million net repayment-proceeds of an

asset- based loan ag cement, repayment of notes payable nt npplo\mmtel} $303, 000 Aﬂd dividend puvmum on Series A preferred stock umts i 5 >
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497%66» Off- Balance Sheet Almnmnunts We do not have any off- b(lldﬂ ngements or |c1(1tmnsh|ps w |th unconsolidated entities or tlymncm] pa In ships, such as entities ottcn referred to as
structured finance or special purpose entities. Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is
based on our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“ GAAP ™). The preparation of these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well
as the reported expenses incurred during the reporting periods. Our estimates are based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions. While our significant accounting policies are described in more detail in the notes to our financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report on Form
10- K, we believe that the following accounting polici ritical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving management’ s
judgments and estimates. 54 We believe our most critical accounting policies and estimates relate to the following: @ Revenue Recognition @ Inventory @ Credit losses ® ® Lease Accounting Stock
Option and Warrant ValuationWe adopted ASC 606 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers using the modified retrospective transition approach. The core principle of ASC 606 is that revenue should
be recognized in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled for exchange of those
goods or services. Our updated accounting policies and related disclosures are set forth below, including the disclosure for disag, ted revenue. The impact of adopting ASC 606 was not material to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Our revenue is recognized under Topic 606 in a manner that reasonably reflects the delivery of its services and products to customers in return for expected
consideration and includes the following five clements: @ executed contracts with our customers that we believe are legally enforceable; e identification of performance obligations in the respective
contract; ® determination of the transaction price for each performance obligation in the respective contract; ® Allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation; and e recognition of

a

revenue only when we satisfy each performance obligation. Thcsc five elements, as ﬂpplml to uuh of our revenue e&tegewcategorles is-are summarized below: d-eontraets-with-out
4 that bheal 1 Nkt £ N} id 41 L th, £t 1 £ VN H H in-th
€ s-that-we-believe are-legatly-enforceable; identifieation-of }M.V.mam ok rtherespeetive-contract; deter of the-tr: p.. for-each-performanee-o -t

n—Revenues primarily from
manufactnrlng related 1xed price contracts tlnl are ~1111 in pm«n’ess at monlh end are T cou\lzed on lhe peuexmve ol Lompleuon melhod meﬂsnred b\ the pelceulage of total costs incurred to date to
the estimated total costs for each contract. This method is used because management considers total costs to be the best available measure of progress on these contracts. Revenue from fixed price
contracts and time- and- materials contracts that are completed in the month the work was started are recognized when the work is shipped. Revenues from fixed price contracts primarily related to the
satellite side of the business that require milestone payments are recognized at the time of the milestone being met. This method is used because management considers that the payments are
nonrefundable unless the entity fails to perform as promised. If the customer terminates the contract, we are entitled eaty-to retain any progress payments received from the customer and we have no
further rights to compensation from the customer. Even though the payments made by the customer are nonrefundable, the cumulative amount of those payments is not expected, at all times throughout
the contract, to at least correspond to the amount that would be necessary to compensate us for performance completed to date. Accordingly, we account for the progress under the contract as a
performance obligation satisfied at a point in time . The Company accounts for the majority of its fixed price or tlme and materials contracts as performance obligations satisfied over times, due
to the Company’ s enforceable right to collect based on services provided through any licable date of termi A r ized as revenue over time due to this, but in which the

Company does not yet have the right to invoice for due to contractual arrangements are reflected as contract assets until such time as they are invoiced, and the Company has the right to




receive payment . Inventory consists of work in progress and finished goods and consists of estimated revenue calculated on a percentage of completion based on direct labor and materials in relation to
the total contract value. We do not maintain raw materials. Credit Losses The provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables are-is estimated based on historical information, customer solvency
and changes in customer payment terms and practices. The Company will calibrate its provision matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward- looking information. The amount of
expected credit losses is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Company” s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of the customer’ s actual default in the future. The company will utilize the Allowance Method based on the accounts receivable ng in order to accrue bad debt expense. 55 Leases In
February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016- 02, Leases (Topic 842). The standard requires lessees to recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from leases in the balance sheet. Additionally, in July
2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018- 11, Li Topic 842) — Targeted Improvements, which, among other things, provides an additional transition method that would allow entities to not apply the
guidance in ASU 2016- 02 in the comparative periods presented in the financial statements and instead recognize a cumulative- effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period
of adoption. We determine if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating leases are included in operating lease right- of- use (“ ROU ) assets, operating lease liabilit current, and operating lease
liabilities- noncurrent on the balance sheets. Finance leases are included in property and equipment, other current liabilities, and other long- term liabilities in our balance sheets. ROU assets represent our
right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at
commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we generally use our incremental borrowing rate based on the
estimated rate of interest for collateralized borrowing over a similar term of the lease payments at commencement date. The operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and
excludes lease incentives. Our lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. Lease expense for lease payments is
recognized on a straight- line basis over the lease term. Leases with a lease term of 12 months or less at inception are not recorded on our balance sheet and are expensed on a straight- line basis over the
lease term in our statement of operations. We use the Black- Scholes option- pricing model to value all options and Class A common stock warrants. Estimating the fair value of stock options using the
Black- Scholes option- pricing model requires the application of significant assumptions, such as the fair value of our Class A common stock, the estimated term of the options, risk- free interest rates, the
expected volatility of the price of our Class A common stock, and an expected dividend yield. Each of these assumptions is subjective, requires significant judgment, and is based upon management’ s
best estimates. If any of these assumptions were to change significantly in the future, equity- based compensation related to future awards may differ significantly, as compared with awards previously
granted. On April 5, 2012, the JOBS Act was enacted. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an “ emerging growth company ” can take advantage of the extended transition period provided in
Section 7 (a) (2) (B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (“ Securities Act ”) for complying with new or revised accounting standards. In other words, an “ emerging growth company ” can delay the
adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. We have chosen to take advantage of the extended transition periods available to emerging
growth companies under the JOBS Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies provided under the JOBS Act. As a
result, our financial statements may not be comparable to those of companies that comply with public company effective dates for complying with new or revised accounting standards. We are in the
process of evaluating the benefits of relying on other exemptions and reduced reporting requirements provided by the JOBS Act. Subject to certain conditions set forth in the JOBS Act, as an “ emerging
growth company, ” we intend to rely on certain of these exemptions, including without limitation, (i) providing an auditor’ s attestation report on our system of internal controls over financial reporting
pursuant to Section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act and (ii) complying with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“ PCAOB ) regarding
mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor” s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements, known as the auditor discussion and analysis. We will
remain an “ emerging growth company ” until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal r in which we have total annual gross revenues of $ 1. 07 billion or more; (ii) the last day of our fis
following the fifth anniversary of the date of the completion of this offering; (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $ 1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the previous three years; or (iv) the
date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC. ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK The As-a-smalter
reporting-eompany-Company is ;we-are-not required to provide the information required by this #errItem as it is a “ smaller reporting company, ” as defined in Rule 12b- 2 of the Exchange Act .
56 ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA SIDUS SPACE, INC. Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: $641+-5525 ) F
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-F- 2 Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-F- 3 (‘onsolidalcd
Statements of Stockholder” s Equity (Befieit)-for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-F- 4 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023
and-2022-F- 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F- 6 57 6Report— Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Sidus Space,
Inc. Opinion on the Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sidus Space, Inc. (“ the Company ») as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders” equity fdefteit)y-, and cash flows for each of the years in thea— the two- year period cnded December 31, 2024 , and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the *“financial statements ). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2022;-and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in then— the two- year period cnded December 31, 2024 | in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of Ameriea . Basis for Opinion These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company”’ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company” s financial statements based on our audit-audits . We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB *-) and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB. We conducted our audit-audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
report As part of our audits , we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting , but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’ s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our audit-audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit-audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit-audits prevides— provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. ~S+BFBergers-EPAPE-Critical Audit Matters The critical audlt

matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be i d to the audit tee
and that: ( 1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the ﬁnanclal statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or plex jud The icatil
of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the fi 1 taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audlt matters below, providing

separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate. Revenue Recognition — Refer to Note 2 to the financial statements Description of the
Critical Audit Matter The Company recognizes revenue upon transfer of control of promised products or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company
expects to receive in exchange for those products or services or when an enforceable right to payment for performance to date exists. The Company offers various mission critical hardware
facturing and engi ing services, along with satellite production and other orbital support programs. Significant judgment is exercised by the Company in determining revenue
recognition for these cust agr ts, and includes the following: e Determination of whether products and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be
accounted for separately versus together. ® The pattern of delivery (i. e.. tlmmg of when revenue is recog d) for each distinct performance obligation. e Identification and treatment of
contract terms that may impact the timing and t of revenue r i including contracts that include an enforceable right to payment for performance or other contractual

restrictions. Given these factors, the related audit effort in evaluati ’sj 1d in determining revenue r ition for these cust agr ts required a high degree of

auditor judgment. How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit Our prmc1pal audit procedures related to the Company’ s revenue r ition for these agr

included the following, among others: ® We evaluated management’ s significant accounting policies related to these custs agr for r bl o We selected a ple of
customer agreements and performed the following procedures:- Obtained and read contract source d ts for each selection, including master agr ts, and other d ts that
were part of the agr - Tested * s identification and treatment of contract terms and provisions.- Assessed the terms in the agri t and eval d the
appropriateness of ’ s application of their ing p , along with their use of estimates, in the determination of revenue recognition conclusions. ¢ We tested the
mathematical accuracy of management’ s calculations of revenue and the associated timing of revenue recognized in the fi ial stati ts. Fruci & A iates I, PLLC — PCAOB ID 5041-#

05525 We have served as the Company” s auditor since 2624-2024 Lakeweod-. Spokane . €6-Washington March 31, 2025 F- 1- SIDUS SPACE, INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Assets Current assets Cash S 15,703,579 $ 1, 216, 107 $27295;-259-Accounts receivable 827, 886 1, 175, 077 856;340-Accounts receivable- related
parties 641, 376 67, 447 368:470-Accounts receivable 641, 376 67, 447 +68470-Inventory 4255 . 247716 858 , 642 929-583:-437-Contract asset 771 , 347 424-60-, 932-386 436, 411 Contract asset-
related party 46, 953 43, 173 +4:-982-Contract assct 46, 953 43, 173 +4:-982-Prepaid and other current assets 3, 429, 656 5, 405, 453 3;476;-748-Total current assets 22, 252, 552 9, 202, 310 7449868
Property and equipment, net 14, 891,976 9, 570, 214 25-554;-992-Operating lease right- of- use assets 121, 545 115, 573 249;93FIntangible asset 398, 135 —398, 135 Other assets 81, 359 64, 830 42,778
Total Assets $ 37, 745,567 $ 19, 351, 112 $-346;297-575-Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity Current liabilities Accounts payable and other current liabilities $ 3, 481, 167 $ 6, 697, 562 $3;-415;-845
Accounts payable and accrued interest- related party 581, 243 677, 039 566;636-Contract liability 16, 192 77, 124 66;932-Contract liability- related party 46, 953 43, 173 +4-982-Contract liability 46,

ed loan liability 6,902, 636 2, 587, 900 582:349-Notes payable 3, 059, 767 2, 017, 286 45-599;456-Operating lease liability 121, 544 119, 272 499;458-Total current

>s 14,209, 502 12, 219, >whé—3§949§%9peraﬁng4ease+mbﬂwy-neﬁ—e‘mem«63—3+&loml Liabilities 14,209, 502 12, 219, 356 6;422;-362-Commitments and contingencies-- Stockholders’
Equity Preferred Stock: 5, 000, 000 shares authorized; $ 0. 0001 par value; no shares issued and outstanding ——Series A convertible preferred stock: 2, 000 shares authorized; 0 and 372 and-8-shares
issued and outstanding, respectively-- Preferred stock , value-- Common stock: 210, 000, 000 authorized; $ 0. 0001 par value —Class A common stock: 200, 000, 000 shares authorized; 15, 956, 816 and
983, 173 and-80;227-shares issued and outstanding, respectively 1, 597 98 8-Class B common stock: 10, 000, 000 shares authorized; 100, 000 shares issued and outstanding 10 10 Common stock , value
10 10 Additional paid- in capital 83, 887, 682 49, 918, 441 32,—151794+/\ccumulaled deficit (42-60 . 786-353 . 793-224 ) ( 28-42 . 255-786 . 846-793 ) Total Stockholders’ Equity 23,536, 065 7, 131,
756 3;-895;-243-Total Liabilities and Stockholders” Equity $ 37, 745,567 $ 19, 351, 112 $46;297,-575-See auditor’ s report and notes to the audited financial statements F- 2 CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 2024 2023 2022-Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Revenue $ 3,873,704 $ 5. 010, 565 $-6:256;780-Revenue- related parties 798, 942 952, 220 4042
628-Total- revente-5;-962,7857293408-Cestofrevenue 4, 672, 646 5, 962, 785 Cost of revenue 6, 141, 657 4, 321, 482 5:-855:-275-Gross profit (loss) (1, 469, 011) 1, 641, 303 5438;433-Operating
expenses Selling, general and administrative expenses— expense 14, 249, 870 14, 166, 617 43;-482;432-Total operating expenses 14, 249, 870 14, 166, 617 43;:-482:-432-Net loss from operations (4215,
525718 . 314-881 ) (12, 044-525 , 299-314 ) Other income (expense) Other income 4, 613 17, 950 —Interest expense ( 1, 306, 252) (747, 420) (78+Interest income 39 , 376)-015- Assct- based loan
expense (+55-542 . 746-551 ) (+4-155 . 293-716 ) Finance expense = (917, 848) =Total other income (expense) (1, 863-805 , 934-175 ) ( 795-1 . 669-803, 034 ) Loss before income taxes (+4-17 , 328-524
. 348056 ) (+2-14 ., 839-328 , 968-348 ) Provision for income taxes-- Net loss § (+4-17 . 328-524 , 348-056 ) S (+2-14 , 839-328 , 968-348 ) Dividend on Series A preferred Stock ( 42, 375) (202, 599) -
Net loss attributed to stockholders (44-17 , 530-566 , 947-431 ) (+2-14 , 839-530 , 968-947 ) Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (23-3 . H-60 ) $ (74-23 . 86-44 ) Basic and diluted weighted
average number of common shares outstanding 4, 874, 985 619, 986 +H5658-F-3 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
(’Ipllﬂ] Dellcn Toml SEnes A Additional Prelened Smck Class A Common Stock Ll'uss B Lommon Stock Additienal-Paid- In Auumu]med shmex Amount Shares Amount Slmes Amount (apllal

87< 71? Senes A prelelred stock units 1ssued 2, 000-
- I 811,000-1, 811, ()()U ( IJS\ A common stox,k issued fol conversion of Series A plcf rcd stock and dividend (I. 6 8)- 176, 791 18-- 166, 465- 166, 483 Class A common stock units issued-- 150,
000 ]3—7 14‘ 784, 419- 14‘ 784, 434 Class A common stock issued for exercise of warrants-- 529, 940 53-- 3, 634- 3, 687 Warrants issued for finance expense--- 917, 848 917, 848 Vested Board
Compensation------ 54, 350- 54, 350 Stock option expense---- 49, 688- 49, 688 Dividend on Series A preferred Stock------- (202, 599) (202, 599) Common stock issue for reverse split adjustment-- 46,
207 4-- (4)-- Net loss------ (14, 48) (14, 328, 348) Balance- December 31, 2023 372 $- 983, 173 $ 98 100, 000 $ 10 $ 49, 918, 441 $ (42, 786, 793) $ 7, 131, 756 Balance 372 $- 983, 173 $ 98 100,
0008 10 $49,918,441 $ (42, 786, 793) § 7, 131, 756 Class A common stock issued for conversion of Series A preferred stock and dividend (372)- 106, 748 11-- 58, 930- 58, 941 Class A common
stock units issued-- 14, 162, 490 1, 417-- 31, 632, 168- 31, 633, 585 Class A common stock issued for exercise of warrants-- 686, 735 69-- 1, 966, 470- 1, 966, 539 Vested officers compensation--




17, 671 2-- 114, 437- 114, 439 Stock option expense------ 174, 736- 174, 736 Stock payable for 10, 000 shares for exercise of warrants------ 22, 500- 22, 500 Dividend on Series A preferred Stock---
---- (42, 375) (42, 375) Reverse split adjustment-- (1)----—- Net loss------- (17, 524, 056) (17, 524, 056) Balance- December 31, 2024- $- 15, 956, 816 $ 1, 597 100, 000 $ 10 $ 83, 887, 682 §$ (60, 353,
224) $ 23, 536, 065 Balance- $- 15, 956, 816 $ 1, 597 100, 000 $ 10 $ 83, 887, 682 $ (60, 353, 224) $ 23, 536, 065 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
F-4 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 2024 2023 2022-Y ears Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Cash Flows From Operating Activities: Net loss $ (44-17 , 328-524 , 348-056 )
$ (4214 ,839-328 , 968-348 ) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: Stock based compensation 289,175 1, 021, 886 1—209—969—Fﬁmﬁee—Expense-—D<.p1umuun and
amortization 2, 171, 873 217, 107 349;-936-Bad debt 87, 129 17, 871 22,-580-Changes in operating assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable 260, 062 (290, 839 HF44;-984-) Accounts receivable- related
party (573, 929) 100, 723 275-H2-Inventory 602, 926 ( 624-265 ., 594 §81455:935-) Contract asset (46910 , +92-975 ) ( 60-375 , 932-479 ) Contract asset- related party (283 , 494-780 ) (44-28 . 982
191 ) Prepaid expenses and other assets 1, 959, 318 (1, 950, 807 3-9H5-94+) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2, 026, 147) 3, 986, 275 2;-649;-484-Accounts payable and accrued liabilities-
related party (95, 796) 110, 403 56;-099-Contract liability (60, 932) 16, 192 68;932-Contract liability- related party 3, 780 28, 191 (48;:429)-Changes in operating lease assets and liabilities (83 , 832-700
) (6-8,866-832 ) Net Cash used in Operating Activities (H-15 , 749-825 , 442-052 ) (+2-11 , 693-749 , 998-442 ) Cash Flows From Investing Activities: Purchase of property and equipment (7, 268-474
. 200-836 ) (27 ,099-208 . 858-200 ) Cash paid for asset acquisition - (483, 644) =Net Cash used in Investing Activities (7, 69+474 . 844-836 ) ( 2-7 . 699-691 ., 858-844 ) Cash Flows From Financing
Activities: Proceeds from issuance of common stock units 33, 600, 124 14, 788, 121 3;224;355-Proceeds from issuance of s A preferred stock units = 1, 811, 000 —Proceeds from asset- based loan
agreement 7, 305, 852 6, 379, 624 562;-349-Repayment of asset- based loan chumm (2, 991 116)(4 294, ()7%)7Prm eds from ﬂefe&stock pdyub ¢ —for 10, 000 shares for exercise of warrants 22,
500 - Repayment of notes payable ( 150, 000) (302, 983 en 8 € € y ) Dividend paid = (19, 555) =Net Cash provided
by Financing Activities 37, 787, 360 18, 362, 134 2;778:486-Net \.hange in cash 14, 487, 472 (1,079, 152) ash, begmnm; of peuod 1,216,107 2, 295, 259 43;-740;-845-Cash, end of
period $ 15,703,579 $ 1, 216, 107 $2;295;:-259-Supplemental cash flow information Cash paid for interest $ 1 304 144 $ 190, 920 $-284;178-Cash paid for taxes $- $- Non- cash Investing and
Financing transactions: Bebf—fefgweﬂess%%—l—é%—']é&( lass A common stock issued for conversion of Series A convertible preferred stock $ +66~ 16 . 483-566 $- Recognition Common-stoek-issue
forreversesphit-adjustment-$—$—Modifteation-ol right- of- use asset and lease liability $ 284, 861 $ 135, 235 §—Class A common stock issued for exercised cashless warrant $- $ 166, 483 F - 5 \IOTEb
TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS D MBER 31, 2024 AND 2023 AND-2022-Note 1. Organization and Description of Business Sidus Space Inc. (“ Sidus 7, “ we ”, “us ” or
the “ Company ), was formed as Craig Technologies Aerospace Solutions, LLC, in the state of Florida, on July 17, 2012. On April 16, 2021, the Company filed a Certificate of Conversion to register and
incorporate with the state of Delaware and on August 13, 2021 changed the company name to Sidus Space, Inc. Deseription-efBusiness-Founded in 2012, we-are-a-growing-U—S-Sidus Space is an
innovative, agile space mission enabler providing flexible, cost- effectlve solutions to government, defense, mtelllgence, and commercial spaee-eompany-companies wﬁharound the globe. Our

products mand established-services include satellite manufacturing bust whe-has-been-trusted-to-provids eritieal-space-hardware-to-many-of the-tep-acrospace+ forovera-d
eapture-Jarger-market-needs—TFo-address-C tal needs-and + . Al swe-plan-to-organize-into-three-core-bust Hnes: facturing serviees-spaee— driven
infrastruetire—as—a—servieerand-space- based data soluti issi lanning and insigh operations, A / ML products and services and space and defense manufacturing. With
our mission of Space Access Reimagined ®, Sidus is committed to rapld innovation, adaptable and cost- effective solutions, and the optimization of space system and data collection
performance. We offer customers a vanety of mission options whether the ablllty to host a technology, procure a satellite bus, or simply purchase data as a service . Our vertieally-integrated
meodetflight proven modular satellite, LizzieSat ® is t y-aeross-each-tine-a 3D printed, multi- sensor, multi- mission satelllte, whlch is the ﬁrst of busmewmﬂglts kind, offering a
flexible, cost- effective platform that can be easily adapted to mtegrate expand-existing-and-unloelncw petentialrevente-generating-opportunities-tech gies or ized and scaled to create a
new satellite desngn to meet issi requlr ts . Addi Through our Sidus Orlaith ™ AI ecosystem , wc enable near real toek-to-furthertransition-into-a-subseription- time on- orbit data

g eess-processing as-we-expand-atongside-, enhancing the speed and efficiency of data delivery from LizzieSat ® sensors. Orlaith ™ offers
high- performance on- orblt edge puting and data pr ing from diverse sensor sets leveraging Sidus’ proprietary FeatherEdge ™ hardware and Cielo ™ software. Orlaith’ s systemic
capabilities provide industry- leading and differentiated data delivery for a wide range of end uses including methane d AIS tracking, border security, and technology
characterization. Orlaith’ s data processing can also be seamlessly customized for new and / etir— or esoteric missions space—based-feeus—Reverse Stock Split On December 6, 2023, the Board
approved a one- for- one hundred (1- for- 100) reverse split of the Company’ s issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock (the “ Reverse Stock Split ). On December 19, 2023, the Company filed
with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware a certificate of amendment to its certificate of incorporation (the “ Certificate of Amendment ”) to effect the Reverse Stock Split. All share and per
share information in these financial statements retroactively reflect this reverse stock split. Note 2. Summary of Signifieation—-- Significant Accounting Policies Basis of Presentation The financial
statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“ GAAP ) and are presented in US dollars. The Company
uses the accrual basis of accounting and has adopted a December 31 fiscal year end. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations. F- 6 Ferthe-full-yearended B ber-31;2022-the-Company-hasreclassified-operatingexp to-sellinggeneral-and
expenses—Principles of Consolidation The consolidated financial statements include the variable interest enlily (VI IE ), Aurea Alas Limited (“ Aurea ”), of which we are the primary beneficiary. Aurea
is a Limited company organized in the Isle of Man, which entered into a license agreement with a third party vendor, whereby they licensed the rights to use certain available radio frequency spectrum for
atellite communications. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation. For entities determined to be VIEs, an evaluation is required to determine whether the
“ompany is the primary beneficiary. The Company evaluates its economic interests in the entity specifically determining if the Company has both the power to dlru.t the activities of the VIE that most
significantly impact the VIE” s economic performance (“ the power ”) and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE (“ the benefits ™).
When making the determination on whether the benefits received from an entity are significant, the Company considers the total economics of the entity ;-and analyzes whether the Company” s share of
the economics is significant. The Company utilizes qualitative factors, and, where applicable, quantitative factors, while performing the analysis. Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements
in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Some of these judgments can be subjective and complex, and, consequently, actual results may differ from these
estimates. Examples of estimates and assumptions include: for revenue recognition, determining the nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations,, the fair value of and / or potential
impairment of property and equipment; product life cycles; useful lives of our property and equipment; allowances for doubtful accounts; the market value of, and demand for, our inventory; fair value
calculation of warrant; and the potential outcome of uncertain tax positions that have been recognized in our consolidated financial statements or tax returns. Cash and Cash Equivalents For purposes of
balance sheet presentation and reporting of cash flows, the Company considers all unrestricted demand deposits, money market funds and highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of less
than 90 days to be cash and cash equivalents. The Company had no cash equivalents at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-. Periodically, the Company may carry cash balances at financial
institutions more than the federally insured limit of $ 250, 000 per institution. The amount in excess of the FDIC insurance as of December 31, 2023-2024 , was $ 966-645 , 407275 . The Company has
not experienced losses on these accounts and management believes, based upon the quality of the financial institutions, that the credit risk with regard to these deposits is not significant. The Company
has also mitigated some of the risk through the use of a premium savings t. This t is used for ts that are over a set bal intained in the Company’ s general operating
account. Balances in the premium savings account are insured up to $ 150 million. F- 7 Accounts Receivable Accounts receivable are stated at the amount of consideration from customers of which
the Company has an unconditional right to receive plus any accrued and unpaid interest. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is based upon a review of outstanding
receivables, historical collection information and existing economic conditions. The Company sells certain accounts receivable with recourse in order to accelerate the receipt of cash . Bechtel, Craig
Technologies and TNO make up approximately 38 %, 19 % and 12 % of the total revenue respectively in FY24 and 13 %, 44 % and 34 % respectively of December 31, 2024 accounts
receivable. Bechtel and L3 make up approximately 31 % and 9 % of the total revenue respectively for FY23 and 58 % and 11 % of the total Di ber 31, 2023, receivable
respectively . Bad Debt and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Historically the Company has been able to collect all past due amounts and has not written off past due invoices, therefore there is limited
historical data on the company’ s historical losses or expected losses at this time. In compliance with GAAP the Company has determined the following policy will be followed regarding outstanding
customer invoices. An allowance for doubtful accounts has been established to reflect the anticipated uncollectible value of the related receivable account. Review procedures have been established to
provide a realistic reserve based on past collection experience and anticipated losses on the receivables. F=#The company will utilize the allowance method based on accounts receivable aging in order to
accrue bad debt expense and the contra balance sheet account, allowance for doubtful accounts. The accounts receivable aging will be reviewed quarterly and necessary adjustments made to the
allowance for doubtful accounts account balance. The Company will review their policy annually to determine if adjustments should be made based on more recent accounts receivable trends. During the
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, the Company recorded bad debt of $ 87,129 and $ 17, 871 and-, respectively. The Company’ s allowance for doubtful accounts balance at
December 31, 2024 was $ 22-112 , 500 and $ 25 . respeetively-370 at December 31, 2023 . Stock Based Compensation The Company accounts for stock- based compensation awards in accordance with
ASC Topic 718, *“ Compensation — Stock Compensation. ” The cost of services received from employees and non- employees in exchange for awards of equity instruments is recognized in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income based on the estimated fair value of those awards on the grant date and amortized on a straight- line basis over the requisite service
period or vesting period. The Company records forfeitures as they occur. Share- based payments are valued using a Black- Scholes option pricing model. The grants are amortized on a straight- line basis
over the requisite s ¢ periods, which is generally the vesting period. If an award is granted, but vesting does not occur, any previously recognized compensation cost is reversed in the period related to
the termination of service. The expected option term is computed using the “ simplified ” method as permitted under the provisions of ASC 718- 10- S99. The Company uses the simplified method to
calculate expected term of share options and similar instruments as the Company does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term.
The share price as of the grant date was determined by current market prices for our common stock. Expected volatility is based on the historical stock price volatility of comparable companies’ common
¢, as our stock does not have sufficient historical trading activity. Risk free interest rates were obtained from U. S. Treasury rates for the applicable periods. F- 8 Contract Assets and Contract
Liabilities The amounts included within contract assets and contract liabilities are related to the company” s long- term construction contracts. The Company accounts for the majority of its fixed price
or tlme and materials contracts as performance obligations satisfied over times, due to the Company’ s enforceable right to collect based on services provided through any applicable date of
ter A ized as revenue over time due to this, but in which the Company does not yet have the right to invoice for due to contractual arrangements are reflected as
contract assets until such tlme as they are invoiced, and the Company has the right to receive payment. Retainage for which the company has an unconditional right to payment that is only subject
to the passage of time is classified as contracts receivable. Retainage subject to conditions other than the passage of time are included in contract assets and contract liabilities on a net basis at the
individual contract level. Contract assets represent revenue recognized in excess of amounts paid or payable (contracts receivable) to the company on uncompleted contracts. Contract liabilities represent
the company’ s obligation to perform on uncompleted contracts with customers for which the company has received payment or for which contracts receivable are outstanding. Inventory consists of
finished-goeds-and-work in progress and consists of estimated revenue calculated on a percentage of completion based on direct labor and materials in relation to the total contract value. The Company
does not maintain raw materials. Property and Equipment Property and equipment, consisting mostly of plant and machinery, motor vehicles and computer equipment, is recorded at cost reduced by
accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. Construction in progress generally involves short- term capital projects and is not depreciated until the development has reached completion and the
asset has been put into service. Depreciation expense is recognized over the assets” estimated useful lives of three to ten years using the straight- line method. Major additions and improvements are
capitalized as additions to the property and equipment accounts, while replacements, maintenance and repairs that do not improve or extend the life of the respective assets, are expensed as incurred.
Estimated useful lives are periodically reviewed and, when appropriate, changes are made prospectively. When certain events or changes in operating conditions occur, asset lives may be adjusted and an
impairment assessment may be performed on the recoverability of the carrying amounts. F=8-Long- Lived Assets Long- lived assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in business
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets are no longer appropriate. Each impairment test is based on a comparison
of the undiscounted future cash flows to the recorded value of the asset. If impairment is indicated, the asset is written down to its estimated fair value. Fair Value Measurements The Company uses a
three- tier fair value hierarchy to classify and disclose all assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as well as assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non- recurring basis, in
periods subsequent to their initial measurement. The hierarchy requires the Company to use observable inputs when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs, when determining fair
value. The three tiers are defined as follows: ® Level 1 — Observable inputs that reflect quoted market prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets; ® Level 2 — Observable




inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly in the marketplace for identical or similar assets and liabilities; and e Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that
are supported by little or no market data, which require the Company to develop its own assumptions. F-9 The Company’ s financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, prepaid expense
and other current assets, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and loans payable, are carried at historical cost. At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the carrying amounts of these instruments
approximated their fair values because of the short- term nature of these instruments. Business Combinations Business combinations are recorded using the acquisition method of accounting. The
purchase price of the acquisition is allocated to the tangible assets, liabilities, identifiable intangible assets acquired and non- controlling interest, if any, based on their estimated fair values as of the
acquisition date. The excess of the purchase price over those fair values is recorded as goodwill. Acquisition- related expenses are expensed as incurred. Intangible Assets Intangible assets with an
indefinite life are not amortized and are tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Intangible assets with finite lives are
initially recorded at cost and amortized on a straight- line basis over the estimated economic useful lives of the respective assets. Acquired intangible assets from business combinations are recognized
and measured at fair value at the time of acquisition. The identifiable intangible asset recognized in the Company’ s acquisitions is a customer list, which will be tested for impairment annually. Revense
Reeegnition-The Company adopted ASC 606 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers using the modified retrospective transition approach. The core principle of ASC 606 is that revenue should be
recognized in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled for exchange of those
goods or services. The Company” s updated accounting policies and related disclosures are set forth below, including the disclosure for disaggregated revenue. The impact of adopting ASC 606 was not
material to the Consolidated Financial Statements. =9-Revenue from the Company is recognized under Topic 606 in a manner that reasonably reflects the delivery of its services and products to
customers in return for expected consideration and includes the following elements: @ executed contracts with the Company’ s customers that it believes are legally enforceable; e identification of
performance obligations in the respective contract; ® determination of the transaction price for each performance obligation in the respective contract; e AHeeatien-allocation of the transaction price to
each performance obligation; and e recognition of revenue only when the Company satisfies each performance obligation. F- 10 These five elements, as applied to each of the Company” s revenue
category, is-are summarized below: Revenues from fixed price manufacturing related contracts that are still in progress at month end are recognized on the percentage- of- completion method,
measured by the percentage of total costs incurred to date to the estimated total costs for each contract. This method is used because management considers total costs to be the best available measure of
progress on these contracts. Revenue from fixed price contracts and time- and- materials contracts that are completed in the month the work was started are recognized when the work is shipped. To
achieve this core principle, we apply the following five steps: identify the contract with the client, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the
transaction price to performance obligations in the contract and recognize revenues when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation. Revenues from fixed price service contracts that contain
provisions for milestone payments primarily related to satellite technology related contracts arc recognized at the time of the milestone being met and-paymentreeetved-. This method is used because
management considers that the payments are nonrefundable unless the entity fails to perform as promised. If the customer terminates the contract, the Company is entitled enby-to retain any progress
payments received from the customer and the Company has no further rights to compensation from the customer. Even though the payments made by the customer are nonrefundable, the cumulative
amount of those payments is not expected, at all times throughout the contract, to at least correspond to the amount that would be necessary to compensate the Company for performance completed to
date. Accordingly, the Company accounts for the progress under the contract as a performance obligation satisfied at a point in time. To achieve this core principle, we apply the following five steps:
identify the contract with the client, identify the performance obligations in the contract, determine the transaction price, allocate the transaction price to performance obligations in the contract and
recognize revenues when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation. €estThe Company accounts for the majority of its fixed price or time and materials contracts as performance
obligations satisfied over times, due to the Company’ s enforceable right to collect based on services provided through any applicable date of termi A r ized as revenuc over
time due to this, but in which the Company does not yet have the right to invoice for due to contractual arrangements are reflected as contract assets until such time as tlley are invoiced, and
the Company has the right to receive payment. Costs are recognized when incurred. Cost of revenue consists of direct labor, subcontract, materials, depreciation on machinery and equipment, and
other direct costs. Net Income (Loss) Per Share of Common Stock The Company has adopted ASC Topic 260, “ Earnings per Share ” which requires presentation of basic earnings per share on the face of
the statements of operations for all entities with complex capital structures and requires a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of the basic earnings per share computation. In the
accompanying financial statements, basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per
share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and potentially dilutive outstanding shares of common stock during the period to reflect the
potential dilution that could occur from common stock issuable through contingent share arrangements, stock options and warrants unless the result would be antidilutive. F—+8-For the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-, the following common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share as the result of the computation was anti- dilutive.
Schedule of Diluted Net Loss Per Sharc December 31, December 31, 2024 2023 ( Sharcs ) ( Shares ) Warrants excludlng pre%%%—é?—L funded warrant 5 402 306 233, 818 Scncs A comcmblc
preferred stock =283, 512 =Total common stock equivalents 6575 , 402 986 e-tfan-arran gementisatease e e etuded-inopera a h
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its inception. Under FASB ASC 740, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences am ibutable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets, including tax loss and credit carryforwards, and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date. Deferred income tax expense represents the change during the period in the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. The components of the deferred tax
assets and liabilities are individually classified as current and non- current based on their characteristics. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it
is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. No deferred tax assets or liabilities were recognized as of December 31, 2623-2024 or December 31, 2622
2023 . The Company accounts for warrants as either equity- classified or liability- classified instruments based on an assessment of the warrant” s specific terms and applicable authoritative guidance in
FASB ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ ASC 480 ) and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ ASC 815 ™). The assessment considers whether the warrants are freestanding financial
instruments pursuant to ASC 480, meet the definition of a liability pursuant to ASC 480, and whether the warrants meet all of the requirements for equity classification under ASC 815, including whether
the warrants are indexed to the Company’ s own ordinary shares and whether the warrant holders could potentially require “ net cash settlement ” in a circumstance outside of the Company” s control,
among other conditions for equity classification. This assessment, which requires the use of professional judgment, is conducted at the time of warrant issuance and as of each subsequent quarterly period
end date while the warrants are outstanding. For issued or modified warrants that meet all of the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded as a component of additional
paid- in capital at the time of issuance. For issued or modified warrants that do not meet all the criteria for equity classification, the warrants are required to be recorded at their initial fair value on the
date of issuance, and each balance sheet date thereafter. Changes in the estimated fair value of the warrants are recognized as a non- cash gain or loss on the statements of operations. The fair value of the
warrants was estimated using a Black- Scholes pricing model. F- H-12 Recent Accounting Pronouncements In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022- 03, ASC Subtopic “ Fair Value Measurement
(Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sale Restrictions . These amendments clarify that a contractual restriction on the sale of an equity security is not
considered part of the unit of account of the equity security and, therefore, is not considered in measuring fair value. The amendments in this update are effective for public business entities for fiscal
years, including interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2023. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the adoption of this standard
on its consolidated financial statements. The Company has considered all other recently issued accounting pronouncements and does not believe the adoption of such pronouncements will have a material
impact on its financial statements. Note 3. Variable Interest Entity The consolidated financial statements include Aurea Alas Limited, which is a variable interest entity of which we are the primary
beneficiary, and on August 26, 2020, the Company entered into a licensing agreement with Aurea. Aurea is a Limited company organized in the Isle of Man, which entered into a license agreement with a
third- party vendor, \Ahereby they licensed the rights to use certain av allable ndlo frequency spectrum for satellite communications. The Company is responsible for 100 % of the operations of Aurea and
derives 100 % of the net profits or losses derived from the business operations. The assets, liabilities and the operations of Aurea from the date of inception (July 20, 2020), were included in the
Company” s consolidated financial statements. Through a declaration of trust, 100 % of the voting rights of Aurea’ s shareholders have been transferred to the Company so that the Company has effective
control over Aurea and has the power to direct the activities of Aurea that most significantly impact its economic performance. There are no restrictions on the consolidated VIE’ s assets and on the
settlement of its liabilities and all carrying amounts of VIE” s assets and liabilities are consolidated with the Company” s financial statements. If facts and circumstances change such that the conclusion to
consolidate the VIE has changed, the Company shall disclose the primary factors that caused the change and the effect on the Company’ s financial statements in the periods when the change occurs. As
of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, Aurea’ s assets and liabilities are as follows: Schedule of Variable Interest Entities Assets and Liabilities December 31, 2623-December 31, 2622-2024 2023
Assets Cash $ 65,333 $ 52, 492 $76;-517-Prepaid and other current assets 13, 264 13, 164 H5394-Total Assets $ 78, 597 $ 65, 656 $-87-9+HLiability Accounts payable and other current liabilities $ 78,
5758 74, 219 $29:-005-For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022- Aurca’ s net loss was $ 170, 114 and $ 157, 467 and-$436-, 344-respectively. F-42-13 Note 4. Prepaid expense and
Other current assets As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, prepaid expense and other current assets are as follows: Schedule of Prepaid Expense and Other Current Assets December 31, 2623
December 31, 2022-2024 2023 Prepaid insurance $ 374, 480 $ 699, 310 $994:-450-Prepaid components 528, 000 1, 258, 965 950;679-Prepaid satellite services & licenses 2, 353,757 3. 313, 706 1367
425-Prepaid software 82,440 91, 258 +07-000-VAFreeeivable—Other current assets 90, 979 42, 214 57-494-Total $ 3,429,656 $ 5, 405, 453 $3;-476;748-During the years ended December 31, 2024
and 2023 and-2022-, the Compﬂny recorded interest expense of $ 18,492 and $ 26, 302 and-$23;46Frelated to financing of our prepaid insurance policies. Note 5. Inventory As of December 3 1, 2024
and 2023 and2022-, inventory is as follows: Schedule of Inventory December 31, 2623-2024 December 31, 20222023 Work in Process $ 255 , 716 247-929-5 583-858 , 437642 Work in Process
consists of components and related labor and other costs incurred on applicable contracts based on estimated total costs to complete. Related labor and other non- component costs for longer
term contracts subject to contractual invoicing arrangement are reflected in contracts receivable. For comparison purposes 2023 was adjusted to reflect labor and other related costs for
longer term contracts subject to contractual invoicing arrangements previously reflected in Work in Process to be reflected in contracts receivable. Note 6. Property and Equipment At December
31,2024 and 2023 and-2022-, property and equipment consisted of the following: Schedule of Property and Equipment December 31, 2023-December 31, 2022-2024 2023 Office equipment $ 17, 061 $
17,061 Computer equipment 41, 233 3741 , 296233 Vehicle 35, 424 28-35 , +43-424 Software 1, 358, 558 482, 127 +58;242-Machinery 3, 257, 764 3, 209, 719 3;:386;H--Leaschold improvements
397,536 372397 . 867536 R & D software - 9, 655 386;-Satellite and related software +82— 12, 305, 379- Construction in progress 2, 883, 337 &. 609, 902 5497276-Property and equipment, gross
20, 296, 292 12, 802, 657 5;-883448-Accumulated depreciation (3-5 , 232-404 , 443-316 ) (3. 328232 . 456443 ) Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation $ 14, 891,976 $ 9. 570, 214
F- 14 $2;-554:-992-As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, construction in progress represents components to be used in the manufacturing of our satellites. Depreciation expense of property and
equipment for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-is $ 2,171,873 and $ 217, 107 and-$3+9:936-0f which $ 1,921, 649 and $ 176, 321 and-$+8+-0605-are included as components
of cost of revenue, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard2022-, the Company purchased assets of $ 7, 474, 836 and $ 7, 208, 200 and-$-2--0699;-858-, respectively. F-43
Note 7. Business Acquisition On August 18, 2023, the Company entered into an Asset Conveyance Agreement (the “ Purchase Agreement ) with Exo- Space Inc., a Delaware corporation (“ Exo- Space
), and certain shareholders thereof. The Purchase Agreement provided for the acquisition by the Company of substantially all of the assets of Exo- Space (the “ Assets ) which includes the customer
contracts and lists related to Exo- Space’ s business of providing analytics services by (i) providing on- orbit data processing services, including satellite imaging intelligence services, and (ii) the
development of artificial intelligence and machine learning technology and software used for the on- orbit processing of data (the ** Business ) from Exo- Space. The purchase price for the Assets was
approximately $ 468, 000 in cash. In addition, on August 18, 2023, the Company entered into a Sale of Business Non- Competition and Non- Solicitation Agreement with Exo- Space Inc. and each of
Jeremy Allam (* Allam ), Mark Lorden (“ Lorden ), Marcel Lariviere (“ Lariviere ”) and Tate Schaar (“ Schaar ” and collectively, with Allam, Lorden and Lariviere, the “ Sellers ™) pursuant to which
the Sellers agreed to keep confidential certain information related to the Business and agreed to a five (5) year non- compete and non- solicitation. On August 21, 2023 (the *“ Closing Date ), the
Company completed its acquisition of the Assets related to Exo- Space (the “ Acquisition ”). As part of the Acquisition, Jeremy Allam, Marcel Lariviere, Mark Lorden and Tate Schaar entered into




employment agreements with the Company which granted non- statutory stock options to Jeremy Allam, Marcel Lariviere, Mark Lorden and Tate Schaar with respect to the following number of shares of
the Company’ s common stock: 1, 898, 502 (Allam); 949, 251 (Lariviere); 711, 938 (Lorden) and 395, 521 (Schaar). These option awards were made outside of the Company’ s 2021 Omnibus Equity
Incentive Plan and are made pursuant to the NASDAQ inducement grant exception in connection with such individuals’ commencement of employment with the Company which is August 21, 2023. The
option awards have an exercise price of $ 0. 16 which is equal to the fair market value of our stock on August 21, 2023, the date of grant of such options. The options have a five (5)- year term and shall
vest in four (4) equal installments on each of the first four (4) anniversaries of the date of grant, in each case subject to the optionee continuing to provide services to the Company through the applicable
vesting date. Notwithstanding the foregoing vesting conditions, no portion of the options shall be exercisable prior to the second (2nd) anniversary of the date of grant. In the event that the applicable
optionee resigns from employment for any reason prior to the second (2nd) dnm\er\my of the date of grant, the option will be immediately cancelled and terminated on the date of such resignation. Pro
forma results of operations have not been presented because the effects of the Acquisition was not material to our consolidated results of operations. Acquisition- related costs included legal fees of $ 220,
632 and were expensed as incurred. The following table summarizes the amounts for the business acquisition which were allocated to the fair value of aggregated net assets acquired: Schedule of
Business Acquisition Allocated to Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired Cash paid $ 468, 663 Assets Acquired: Accounts receivable $ 51, 769 Inventory 9, 611 Property and equipment 9, 148 Intangible
asset 398, 135 Total $ 468, 663 F-15 Note 8. Accounts payable and other current liabilities At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, accounts payable and other current liabilities consisted of the
following: Schedule of Accounts payable-Payable and Other Current Liabilities December 31, 2023-December 31, 2022-2024 2023 Accounts payable $ 2, 071,357 $ 4, 716, 964 $14-483;467-Payroll
liabilities 907, 697 1. 250, 330 820;454-Credit card liability 51,522 93, 826 44;-650-Other payable 165, 435 156, 885 239;440-Dividend payable - 16, 566 —Aeerved-interest—related-party—Payable for
purchase of property and equipment 18, 799 - Insurance payable 266, 357 462, 991 828467 Total accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 3, 481, 167 $ 6, 697, 562 As of December 31, 2024 and
2023 accounts payable included $ 3-92 , 415-500 and $ 37 , 845F-—14-500 related to Q4 Board of Director compensation payments. Note 9. Asset- based loan The Company is party to a recourse
loan and security agreement with an unrelated lender dated November 30, 2022, whereby the lender will provide loans secured by certain accounts receivable for up to 90 % of the face amount, which is

paid to the Company in the form of a cash advance. The Company has a revolving line of credit for $ 3 million with a collateralized loan interest rate of +5-16 . 2 % annum and uncollateralized loan
interest rate of 19. 5 % annum on outstanding balances . In 2024, the Company agreed to increase a revolving line of credit for $ 7 million . Additionally, in the event of default the Lender at its
option can increase the loan interest rate by 5 % per annum for each month or partial month default on outstanding balances. Under the loan and security agreement, the Company must pay back any
invoices that become uncollectable. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the company’ s collateralized and uncollateralized assct- based loan balance was $ 6, 902, 636 and $ 2, 587. 900
and-$-502,349-, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the costs and interest incurred by the Company in connection with the loan and security agreement activities
were $ 542,501 and $ 155, 716 and-, respectively. As of January 31, 2025 the Company’ s revolving line of credit was increased from $ +4;293;respeetively-7 million to $ 10 . 5 million with same
interest rates noted above for collateralized and uncollateralized loan interest rates. The Company used the increase in its revolving line of credit to pay off the approximately $ 3. 2 million
note payable with Decathlon. F- 16 Note 10. Contract assets and liabilities At December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, contract assets and contract liabilities consisted of the following: Schedule of
Contract Assets and LiabilitiesContract assets December 31, 2623-2024 December 31, 2622-2023 Revenue recognized in excess of amounts paid or payable (contracts receivable) to the company on
uncompleted contracts (contract asset) that are subject to restrictions on invoicing . cxcluding retainage § -1, 331, 194 $ —359, 287 Retainage included in contract assets due to being conditional on
something other than solely passage of time 16, 192 77, 124 66;-932-Retainage included in contract assets due to being conditional on something other than solely passage of time — related party 46, 953
43, 173 +4;-982-Total contract assets $ $26-1 , 207394, 339 § 75479 , 944-584 Contract liabilities December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 Payments received or receivable (contracts receivable) in
s of revenue recognized on uncompleted contracts (contract liability), excluding retainage $- $- Retainage included in contract liabilities due to being conditional on something other than solely
passage of time 16, 192 77, 124 66;932-Retainage included in contract liabilities due to being conditional on something other than solely passage of time — related party 46, 953 43, 173 +4;-982-Total
act liabilities § 63, 145 $ 120, 297 $75:-94H4F—45-Note 11. Leases Operating lease We have a noncancelable operating lease entered in November 2016 for our efftee-faeility-warehouse space that
expires-expired in July 2021 and has-had renewal options to May 2024 —The monthly “ Base Rent ” is-was $ 10, 392 and the Base Rent s-was increased by 2. 5 % each year. In May 2023 the Company
exercised its option and extended the lease to May 31, 2024. In May 2021, we entered into a new lease agreement for-which included both our office and warehouse space that expired May 31, 2024.
The Company had the option to terminate the lease after 12 months and 24 months from the commencement date. The office facility monthly “ Base Rent ” was $ 11, 855 and the Base Rent
was mcreased by 2 5 % each year. We have a new lease contract entered June 1 2024 which mcludes both our office facility and warchouse space that expires #-May 31, 2624-2025 —Fhe

v e a “Base Rent ”is $ 11, 855-876 and $ 12, 767
iﬂefeased—by%—S%eaeh—yeaf We ruognund lola] lease expense, pnmmm related to our opemlmL leases, on a slmght line basis in accordance with ASC 842. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2622-, the Company recorded a refundable security deposit of $ 10, 000 for its warehouse space and is included in other assets on the balance sheet. F-17 The operating lease expense were as follows:
Schedule of Operating tease-Lease expense-Expense 2024 2023 2622-Year-Years Ended-ended December 31, 2024 2023 2622-Lease cost Operating lease cost $ 384,237 $ 353, 329 $338;:389
Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases was as follows: Summary of ©ther-Supplemental Balance Sheet Information 2024 Beeember3+:-2023 December 31, 2622-2024 2023
Operating lease right- of- use assets at inception $ +-284 , 861 276:-545-% 1, H9-276 . 675-515 Accumulated amortization (4163 , 316 +60;-942-) ( 869-1 . 738-160, 942 ) Total operating lease right- of-
use assets $ 121,545 $ 115, 573 $249;-937-Operating lease liabilities- current $ 121,544 $ 119, 272 $199;158-Operating lease liabilities- non- current- - 63;-340-Total operating lease liabilities $ 121,
544 8 119. 272 $262-Right- of- use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liability 284 . 468-861- Weighted- average remaining lease term — operating leases (year) 0. 41 0. 42 26
Weighted- average discount rate — operating leases 4-8 . #3-25 % 4. 86-73 % Future minimum lease payments under operating leases that have initial noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year at
December 31, 2023-2024 , were as follows: Summary-Schedule of Future Minimum Lease Payments Under Operating beasesYear—--- Leases Ending-Total Year Ended December 31, 2624-2025 $ 126
123 , 2H-216 Thereafter- Total undiscounted lease payments $26-123 , 244216 Less: Imputed interest (939-1, 672 ) Operating lease liabilities +49-8 121 , 272-F-544 Sublease On August 1, 2021, the
Company entered into a Sublease Agreement with its related party and a principal shareholder (“ Sublandlord ”), whereby the Company shall sublease certain offices, rooms and shared use
of common spaces located at 150 Sykes Creek Parkway, Merritt Island, FL. The Lease is a month - +6-Finanee-to- month |casc and may be terminated with 30 days’ notice to the Sublandlord.
The monthly rent shall be $ 4, 570 from inception through January 31,2022, $ 4, 707 from February 1, 2022 to January 31, 2023 and $ 4, 847 from February 1, 2023 to January 31,2024. On
February 1, 2024 the Company extended the month feas: -and-offiee undernon-— eancelable-finanee-to- month tease-Subl agr . The term-ofthese
‘monthly rent shall be $ 4, 618. 03 from 59-menths-February 1, 2024 to %ﬁemhs-aﬁéaﬂmwl—mterest—rafeﬂs—%eheﬂﬁgeJanuary 31 2025, $ 4, 756. 57 from February 1,

2025 to January 31, 2026 and $ 4 , 899 %-to-6-%-. During-the-yearended-Deeember-27 from February 1, 2026 to January 31 262%2027 he
{eases—tet&hﬂg%-}%,—ew,—pﬁeﬁeﬁaam—dates A common area maintenance fee (CAM) will be charged in As 5 a he y snotha
fease ' to the monthly rent . During tl’IL years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 aﬂd%%%. the Cnmpany recorded depreeiation-offinanee-$ 79, 005 and § 58, 024
directly related to this short- term month to month lcasc to asse d t casc expenses of $-6-and-5—+-8%-respeetivety-. F- 18 Note 12. Notes Payable
Decathlon Note On December 3, 2021, we entered into a Loan Assgnmcm and A\>L11upllon A"recmcm or Loan Assignment, with Decathlon Alpha IV, L. P., or Decathlon and Craig Technical
Consulting, Inc (* CTC ”) pursuant to which we assumed the Decathlon Note. In connection with our assumption of the Decathlon Note, CTC reduced the principal of the Note Payable — related party by
$ 1. 4 million for an a gate principal balance of $ 2. 6 million. The Company recorded a reclas: ation of § 1, 106, 164 from Note Payable — related party to Note payable — non- current (Decathlon
note) and recorded forgiveness of note payable — related party of § 293, 836. (See Note 12) Management believes that the assumption of the Decathlon Note from CTC 4s-was in our best interests because
in connection therewith, Decathlon released us from a cross- collateralization agreement it was a party to with CTC for a loan of a greater amount. Also in connection with the Loan Assignment on
December 3, 2021, we entered into a Revenue Loan and Security Agreement, or RLSA, with Decathlon and our CEO, Carol Craig, pursuant to which we pay interest based on a minimum rate of one (1)
times the amount advanced and make monthly payments based on a percentage of our revenue calculated as an amount equal to the product of (i) all revenue for the immediately preceding month
multiplied by (ii) the Applicable Revenue Percentage, defined as 4 % of revenue for payments due during any month. The Decathlon Note was amended November 16, 2023. The maturity date was
extended from December 9, 2023 to December 9, 2024 and final payoff of indebtedness and release of security executed January 29, 2025. The monthly interest was converted to a fixed
amount of $ 50, 000 per month. The Decathlon Note is sccured by our assets and is guaranteed by CTC and matures the earliest of: (i) December 9, 2024, (ii) immediately prior to a change of control,
or (iii) upon an ration of the obligations due to a default under the RLSA. As a result, on December 31, 2021, the Company recorded the fergives-forgiveness of note payable- related party of $ 293,
836 and the reclass o ‘g 1, 106, 164 from Note Payable — related party to Note Payable. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, the Company recorded interest expense of $ 1,
192,481 and $ 721, 119 and-$-738;-048-, respectively, which included an additional accrual estimate based on the principal and accrued but unpaid interest payment due when the note matures, and made
payments of $ 150, 000 and $ 252, 983 and-$-258;-949-, respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-, the (ompan\ recorded principal amount and accrued interest of $ 3, 059, 767 and $
2,017, 286 and-$4-599:450-on the balance sheet, respectively. Atmaturity-On January 31, 2025 the Company fully paid off will-berequired-to-pay-approxi ly-$22M-repr ing-the Deeathl
Nete-principal amount and accrued but unpaid interest of approximately $ 3. 2 million . Note 13. Related Party Transactions Revenue and Accounts Receivable The Company recognized revenue of $
798,942 and $ 952, 220 and-$15-0425-628-for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-and accounts receivable of $ 641,376 and $ 67, 447 and contract asset $+68;+76-and contract
liability of $ 46,953 and $ 43, 173 and-$44:982-as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 anrd-2022-, respectively, from contracts entered into by Craig Technical Consulting, Inc, a principal stockholder, and
subcontracted to the Company for four customers. Accounts Payable As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 aﬂd%ﬂ% 1he (nmpam owed $ 581,243 and $ 677, 039 aﬂd—$—§66—63€rlu (mlL Te«.hmnal
Consulting, Inc. Advances are unsecure duu on dedll(l and non- bearing- interest. NeotePayable—RelatedParty During-the-yearended-Deeembe h
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+36-654 ., 363-605 . and general and administrative expense of $ 93, 476 and $ 24, 363 and-$142,267-, respectively. Professional Service /\:‘ILLIHLI]I\ A Professional Qel\ ices Agreement, LTfLLIl\L
November 15, 2021, was made, between the Company and Craig Technical Consulting, Inc. The period of performance for this Agreement was December 1, 2021, through November 30, 2022. The
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18 idered-material, fi ial condition, or operating results . License Agreement The consolidated financial statements include Aurea Alas Limited, which is a variable interest entity of which we
are the primary beneficiary (see Note 3). On August 18, 2020, Aurea entered into a license agreement with a third- party vendor (the “ Vendor ), whereby they licensed the rights to use certain available
radio l‘requeucy spectrum for satellite communications. The Company shall pay an annual Reservation Fee of $ 120, 000 while the Company pursues up to four (4) NGSO satellite filing (s) via the
Vendor. The Reservation Fee is levied on the date the filing (s) is received at the International Telecommunication Union (ITU). The Reservation Fee is payable annually at the anniversary of the date of
receipt, as long as the customer retains the NGSO filing (s). The Reservation Fee payment continues to be payable until any of the frequency assignments of the NGSO filing (s) are brought into use.
Upon the submission to the ITU to bring into use any of the frequency assignments of a given constellation, an annual License Fee of $ 120, 000 shall be paid in lieu of the Reservation Fee. On February
1, 2021, the Vendor submitted the license filing to the ITU and on April 6, 2021, the ITU published the license filing for LIZZIE IOMSAT. Payments began in February 2021. For the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-the Company recorded payments of $ 120, 000 in Other General and Administrative expenses. These are eliminated upon lidation. - 48-20 Note 15.
Stockholder’ s Equity Authorized Capital Stock Effective July 3, 2023, the Company filed Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to amend for authorized capital stock to authorize the
Company to issue 215, 000, 000 shares. The Company has authorized 5, 000, 000 shares of preferred stock with a par value of $ 0. 0001. The Company has authorized 210, 000, 000 shares of common
stock with a par value of $ 0. 0001, consisting of 200, 000, 000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 10, 000, 000 shares of Class B Common Stock. The Class B Common Stock is entitled to 10 votes
for every 1 vote of the Class A Common Stock. Series A Convertible Preferred Stock On October 11, 2023, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “ Purchase Agreement ) with




certain institutional investors, pursuant to which the Company agreed to issue and sell to such investor, in a registered direct offering (the “ Offering ), an aggregate of 2, 000 shares of the Company” s
Series A convertible preferred stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share and stated value of $ 1, 000 per share (the ** Series A Preferred Stock ) at an offering price of $ 1, 000 per share. Each share of Series A
Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of the Company” s Class A Common Stock at an initial conversion price of $ 10. 152 pu share (the “ Conversion Price ). The Conversion Price is subject to
customary adjustments for stock dividends, stock splits, reclassifications and the like, and subject to price- based adjustment, on a “ full ratchet ™ basis, in the event of any issuances of Common Stock, or
securities convertible, exercisable or exchangeable for Common Stock, at a price below the then- applicable Conversion Price (subject to certain exceptions). The Series A Preferred Stock (and the shares
of the Company” s Class A common stock (the “ Class A Common Stock 7)) underlying the Series A Preferred Stock) were offered by the Company pursuant to its shelf registration statement on Form S-
3 (File No. 333- 273430), which was originally filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC ”) on July 26, 2023 and declared effective by the SEC on August 14, 2023. Concurrently
with the sale of the Series A Preferred Stock, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement in a concurrent private placement, for each share of Class A Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A
Preferred Stock purchased by the investor, such investor receiv n.d from the Company an unregistered warrant (the “ Warrant ™) to purchase one share of Class A Common Stock (the “ Warrant Shares ™).
Each Warrant will be exercisable for one share of the Company” s Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of § 10. 152 per share, will be exercisable immediately upon issuance, and will have a tum
of five years from the date of issuance. The exercise price is subject to customary adjustments for stock dividends, stock splits, reclassifications and the like, and subject to price- based adjustment, on a
full ratchet ” basis, in the event of any issuances of Class A Common Stock, or securities convertible, exercisable or exchangeable “lass A Common Stock, at a price below the then- applicable
exercise price (subject to certain exceptions). During the year-years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 372 and 1, 628 shares of Series A convertible preferred stock and a related dividend of $ 27, 374
and $ 166, 483 were converted into 106, 748 and 176, 791 shares of Class A common stock , respectively . The Company had 0 and 372 and-6-shares of Series A Convertible preferred stock issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively. F- 21 Class A Common Stock The Company had 15, 956, 816 and 983, 173 and-88;227-shares of Class A common stock issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively Gross proceeds from the exercise of the warrants was $ 1,631,524 . Fiseal-year2024-On January 29,2024,the Company
elesed-entered into a public offering of an aggregate of 1,181,900 shares of Class A Common Stock and pre- funded warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 69,900 shares of Class A Common Stock
in lieu of Shares,which were-have been sold pursuant to that certain Underwriting Agreement,dated January 29,2024,by and between the Company and the Representative of the Underwriters.Gross
proceeds from the offering were $ 5,632,650 and net proceeds after underwriter discount,various fees and expenses was $ 5,008,259.0n February 29,2024,the Company etesed-entered into a public
offering of an aggregate of 1,321,000 shares (the “ Shares ™) of Class A Common Stock,which were-have been sold pursuant to that certain Underwriting Agreement,dated February 29,2024,by and
between the (ompany and 1Iu. Rgpuumalnc of lhn. Underwriter: pmuuls lxom lh&. offering were $ 7,926,000 and net proceeds after undu“nlnr dlsu)um various fees and expenses was $
7,102,527, On-Nevember14;2024;the-Compan 3 “iscal year 2023 On January 30, 2023, the Company offered an aggregate of up to 26, 400 shares of our Class A
common stock dl]d pre- tundtd W dlldl]l\ to lethd\L up to an agg (100 shdu\ of Class A common stock. In addition, the company issued 22, 500 prefunded warrants to cover over- allotments.
All pre- funded warrants were exercised and total issued stock in lhls offering was 172, 500 aggregate shares of Class A common stock. The purchase price for each share of Class A common stock was $
30. 0. Warrants equal to 4 % of the number of securities issued by the Company in the offering were issued to the underwriter at an exercise price of 125 % of the offering price per share. Gross proceeds
from the offering were approximately $ 5. 2 million, and net proceeds of approximately $ 4. 6 million after underwriter expenses. F- 4922 On April 20, 2023, the Company sold an aggregate of 85, 720
shares of our Class A Common Stock and pre- funded warrants to purchase up to an aggregate 217, 310 shares of Class A Common Stock and warrants to purchase up to 303, 030 shares of Class A
Common Stock. In addition, the Company sold 37, 880 shares of Class A Common Stock and 37, 880 of accompanying warrants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock pursuant to the partial
of the underwriter” s over- allotment option. The purchase price for each share of C A Common Stock and accompanying warrant was $ 33. 0. Warrants equal to 3 % of the number of
securities issued by the Company in the offering at an exercise price of 125 % of the offering price per share was issued to the underwriter. Gross proceeds from the offering were approximately $ 11.
mllllon and net pmuud: ofappm\nnmd\ $ 10. 2 million after undumnm0 dlM,OleS ’llld comnussmns and estimated offering expenses puyublu by us. During lhc year ended Duccmbcr 31,2023, 166.

retpro stothe Pty f 2 $ —Class B Common S(vd\ The ( ompany Imd l(Jl) 000 shares of Class B common stock issued
and outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 70"? aﬂd—292% January 20” u(lclnm For lhe year endcd December 31, 2023, the Company issued a total of 146, 100 pre- funded warrants exercisable for
a period of five years at an exercise price per share of $ 30. 0 in connection with the common stock sold in January 2023. These warrants were fully exercised into Class A Common stock as part of the
offering previously described. In addition, the Company issued a total of 6, 901 underwriter warrants exercisable 180 days after the January 30, 2023 date of the offering agreement, for a period of five
years at an exercise price per share of $ 37. 5 in connection with the common stock sold. The Company recognized the value of 6, 901 underwriter warrants of $ 566, 229 as finance expense for
compensation of services. April 2023 offering For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company issued a total of 217, 310 pre- funded warrants and 340, 910 warrants exercisable for a period of five
years at an exercise price per share of § 33. 0 in connection with the common stock sold in April 2023. During the second and third quarters of 2023, a total of 217, 310 pre- funded warrants and 333, 049
warrants were ised into Class A Common stock. In addition, the Company issued a total of 10, 228 underwriter warrants exercisable 180 days after the April 20, 2023 date of the offering agreement,
101 a period of five years at an exercise price per share of § 41. 25 in connection with the common stock sold. The Company recognized the value of 10, 228 underwriter warrants of $ 240, 525 as
{ for p ion of services. October 2023 offering For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company issued 197, 006 warrants exercisable for a period of five years at an exercise

price per share of $ 10. 152 in connection with the Series A Convertible Pr d stock sold in October 2023. In addition, the Company issued a total of 11, 820 underwriter warrants exercisable any time
after the October 11, 2023 date of the ol\ﬂ.rinﬂ for a period of five years at an exercise price per share of $ 12. 69 in connection with the common stock sold. The Company recognized the value of 11,
820 underwriter warrants of $ 111, 094 as fi for ion of services. - 20-Fer-23 During the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company issued 200 warrants
exercisable for a period of five years at and-- an exerclse price per share of $ 100 to a prior employee. January 2622-2024 offering The Company issued a total of 69 . 900 pre- funded warrants
exercisable for a period of five years at an exercise price per share of $ 4. 50 in n with the stock sold in January 2024. These warrants were fully exercised into Class A
Common stock as part of the offering previously described. In addition, the Company issued a total of 62, 585 underwriter warrants exercisable 180 days after the January 29, 2024 date of the
underwriting agreement, for a period of five years at an exercise price per share of § 5. 625 in tion with the stock sold. The Company recognized finanee-expense-the value of 62,
585 underwriter warrants of $ 9+7-528 . 848-818 as direct incremental costs of the offering and recorded as a reduction of additional paid in capital. February 2024 offering The Company
issued a total of 66, 050 underwriter warrants exercisable 180 days after the February 29, 2024 date of the offering agreement, for a period of five years at and- an exercise price per share of $
7.50 in tion with the stock sold. The Company recognized the value of 66, 050 underwriter warrants of $ 576, 061 as direct incremental costs of the offering and recorded as a
reduction of additional paid in capital. November 2024 offering The Company issued a total of 296, 635 underwriter warrants exercisable 180 days after the November 14, 2024 date of the
offering agreement, for a period of five years at an exercise price per share of $ 1. 56 in ion with the stock sold. The Company recognized the value of 296, 635 underwriter
warrants of $ 361, 636 as direct incremental costs of the offering and recorded as a reduction of additional paid in capital. December 2024 offering The Company issued pre- funded warrants
to purchase up to 1, 162, 802 shares of the Company’ s Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $ 0 . 0001 per share and warrants to purchase up to 3 . respeetively-409 , for-946 shares of
the Company’ s Common Stock, at a purchase price of $ 2. 25 per share of C Stock and panying warrants. The Common Warrants are exercisable immediately upon issuance at
an exercise price of § 2. 25 per share and have a term of exercise equal to five and one- half years from the date of issuance. In addition, the Company issued a total of 340, 995 underwriter
warrants issue-exercisable 180 days after the December 18, 2024 date of the offering agreement, for eompensation-a period of servieesfive years at an exercise price per share of § 2. 25 in

ion with the stock sold. The Company recognized the value of 340, 995 underwriter warrants of $ 1, 881, 092 as direct incremental costs of the offering and recorded as a
reduction of additional paid in capital. The Company concluded that the warrants met the requirements to be classified in stockholders’ equity . The Company utilizes the Black- Scholes model
to value its warrants. The Company utilized the following assumptions: Schedule of Warrant Valuation Assumption Year ended December 31, 2024 Year ended December 31, 2023 Expected term 5- 5.
50 years 5 years Expected average volatility 177- 188 % 182- 190 % Expected dividend yield- = Risk- free interest rate 3. 97-4.32 % 3. 62- 3. 96 % F- 24 A summary of activity of the warrants during
the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 as follows: Schedule of Activity of Warrant Number of Weighted average Average shares Exercise Price Life (years) Outstanding, December 31, 2022- §
Granted 146, 100 30. 00 5. 00 Granted 558, 220 33. 00 5. 00 Granted 6, 901 37. 50 5. 00 Granted 10, 228 41. 25 5. 00 Granted 11, 820 12. 69 5. 00 Granted 197, 006 10. 15 5. 00 Exercised (146, 100) 30.
00- Exercised (550, 359) 33. 00- Expired——Outstanding, December 31, 2023 233, 816 § 13. 22 4. 73 Granted 69, 900 4. 50 5. 00 Granted 200 100. 00 5. 00 Granted 62, 585 5. 63 5. 00 Granted 66,
050 7. 50 5. 00 Granted 296, 635 1. 56 5. 00 Granted 340, 995 2. 25 5. 00 Granted 3, 409, 946 2. 25 5. 50 Granted (*) 1, 162, 802 2. 25 5. 50 Split — warrant granted in October 2023 516, 012 1.
25- Exereisable—-- Exercised (* *) (756, 635) 3. 25- Outstanding . December 31, 2623-2024 233-5 | 816-402, 306 S 6-2 . 43-50 5. 35 Exercisable, December 31, 2024 4 , 764, 676 $ 2 . 73-58 5. 40 *
Prefunded warrants were not yet issued as of December 31, 2024. * * Prefunded warrants, 69, 900, from January 2024 offering, are included in the direct sale of equity due to immediately
exercised upon raise. The intrinsic value of the warrants as of December 31, 2023-2024 is $ 6-14, 107, 379 . Stock Options On August 21, 2023, the Company granted 39, 552 options with an exercise
price of $ 16. 0, with a term of five (5) years to exercise from the grant date, to employees of the Company. Options issued vest at 25 % of's 1bject to the option on each anniversary date, on August
21,2024, 2025, 2026 and 2027. In October 2023, the Company granted 200 options with an exercise price of $ 100. 0, with a term of five (5) years to exercise from the grant date, to an employee of the
Company under separation agreement. Options vest at grant date. On February 6, 2024, the Company granted 25, 000 options with an exercise price of $ 4. 12, with a term of five (5) years to
exercise from the grant date to employees of the Company. Options issued vest at 33 % of shares subject to the option on each anniversary date, on February 6, 2025, 2026 and 2027. F- 25 The
Company utilizes the Black- Scholes model to value its stock options. The Company utilized the following assumptions: Schedule of Utilizes Black- Scholes Model to Value of Stock Options Year
Ended-ended Year ended December 31, December 31, 2024 2023 Expected term 3. 50 years 2. 50- 3. 75 years Expected average volatility 187 % 173 % Expected dividend yield- = Risk- free interest
rate 4. 14 % 4. 46- 5. 02 % F-24+-During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company granted 25, 000 and 39, 752 options valued at $ 95,325 and $ 583, 580 , respectively . During the
year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recognized stock option expense of $ 174, 736 and $ 49, 688 , respectively, and as of December 31, 2623-2024 , § 533-454 , 892-483 remains
unamortized. The intrinsic value of the 39-64 , 752 options outstanding as of December 31 2023-2024 , is $ 8-17, 000 . A summary of activity of the stock options during the year ended December 31,
2024 and 2023, is as follows: Schedule of Activity of Stock Options Options Outstanding Weighted Average Number of Weighted Average-Average Remaining life Options Ex Price s)
Outstanding, December 31, 2022- $-- Granted 39, 752 16. 42 5. 00 Exercised--- Forfeited / canceled--- Outstanding, December 31, 2023 39, 752 § 16. 42 4. 64 Granted 25, 000 4. 12 5. 00 Exercised---
Forfeited / led--- O ding, D ber 31, 2024 64, 752 $ 11. 67 3. 82 Excrcisable options, December 31, 2623-2024 266-10, 088 $ +00-17 . 80-4-67 3 . 82-64 Note 16. Income tax The
Company has not made a provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, since the Company has the benefit of net operating losses in these periods and the
Company changed from a limited liability partnership to a C corporation during 2021. Due to uncertainties surrounding the Company”’ s ability to generate future taxable income to realize deferred
income tax assets arising as a result of net Op(,l‘(lliﬂL losses carried forward, the Company has not recorded any deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2023-2024 . The Company has incurred a net
operating loss of § 45247 17 , 254-707, 422 . The net operating loss carry forwards can offset 80 percent of future taxable income and carryforward indefinitely as determined by respective tax
regulating authorities. The Company” s net opcmlmg loss carry forwards may be subject to annual limitations, which could eliminate, reduce or defer the utilization of the losses because of an ownership
change as defined in Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code U. S. federal tax returns are closed by statute for years through 2014. The status of state and non- U. S. tax examinations varies due to the
numerous legal entities and jurisdictions in which the C mn]mn\ operates. F- 26 A reconciliation between expected income taxes, computed at the federal income tax rate of 21 % applied to the pretax
accounting loss, and our blended state income tax rate of 5. 5 % in 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, and the income tax net expense included in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-is as follows: bchedule of Income Tax Reconciliation Income Tax Net Expenses 2024 2023 2622-Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 2022-Loss for the year $
(4417 . 328-524 , 348056 ) S (+2-14 . 839-328 , 968-348 ) Income tax (recovery) at statutory rate $ (3, 689-680 , 806-100 ) § (23 . 689-009 , 782-000 ) Statc income tax expense, net of federal tax effect
(788-963 , +00-800 ) (704-788 . 467-100 ) Permanent difference and other-- Change in valuation allowance 4, 643, 900 3, 797, 100 3;394;249-Income tax expense per books $- $- F—22-Net deferred tax
assets consist of the following components as of: Schedule of Net Deferred Tax Assets December 31, 2623-December 31, 292%2024 2023 Non- operating 1&1\\ carryforward $ 12,753,049 $ 8. 109, 149 §
4:-3425-649-Valuation allowance (812, +69-753 , +49-049 ) (4-8 . 342-109 ., 649-149 ) Net deferred tax asset $- - Note 17. & 1 Events-Sut g The Company operates as one
operating segment. The Company s chief operating decision maker (“ CODM ”) is its chief executive officer, who reviews financial mformatlon presented on a consolidated basis. The CODM
uses consolidated operating margin and net income (o assess financial performance and allocate resources. These financial metrics are used by the CODM to make key operating decisions,




such as the determination of the rate at which the Company seeks to grow global operating margin and the allocation of budget between cost of revenues, sales and marketing, technology and
development, and general and administrative expenses. The followmg table presents selected ﬁnanclal 1nformatlon with respect to the Company’ s single operating segment for the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 : Schedule ;-372-shares-of e a end Operating Segment 2024 2023 Change % Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 Change % Revenue S 4, 672, 646 $ 5, 962, 785 $ (1, 290, 139) (22) % Cost of revenue 6, 141 657 4,321, 482 1, 820, 175 42 % Gross Profit (Loss) (1, 469, 011) 1, 641, 303 (3, 110, 314)
(190) % Gross Profit Percentage (31) % 28 % Selling, general & administrative expense 14, 249, 870 14, 166, 617 83, 253 1 % Other expense (1, 805, 175) (1, 803, 034) (2, 141) 0 % Net loss $
(17, 524, 056) $ (14, 328, 348) $ (3, 195, 708) 22 % 2024 2023 Change % Years Ended December 31, 2024 2023 Change % Selling, general & administrative expenses Payroll expenses $ 6, 978,
930 $ 7,226, 481 $ (27247 , 374-were-converted-into-551) (3) % Sales and marketing expenses 193, 942 596, 368 (402, 426) (67) % Lease expense 386, 520 353, 329 33, 191 9 % Professional fees
1 105 930 1, 940, 600 (834, 670) (435~ 43) % General and administrative expense 5 , 984-584, 548 4, 049, 839 1, 534, 709 38 % Total $ 14, 249, 870 $ 14, 166, 617 $ 83,253 1 % Note 18.

q events Subseq to D ber 31, 2024, the Company issued a total of 2, 247, 667 sharcs of Class A common stock. Subseguentte-1, 068, 332 shares were from warrants exercised
at an exercise price of $ 2. 25 per share from the Company’ s December 34:-2023-2024 offering. 1, 448-162 , 724-802 shares were from prefunded warrants swere-cxercised tnte-, also related to the
Company’ s December 2024 offering, The remaining 16, 533 shares related to vested Officer and Director equity compensation issued in the form of Class A common stock. Gross proceeds from
the exercise of the...... $ 7, 102, 527. F- 23-27 ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE ITEM 9A.
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES As of the end of the period covered by this Report, we conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Offi of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a- 15 (e) and Rule 15d- 15 (e) of the Exchange Act). Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is: (i ed, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC” s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, or person performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Changes in Internal Control over
Financial Reporting There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a- 15 or 15d- 15 under the
Exchange Act that occurred during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2023-2024 that have materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management” s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting Our Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in
X Act Rule 13a- 15 (f). Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated
‘ramework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting
was effective as of December 31, 2023-2024 . ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS. Not
applicable. PART III ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE The following table sets forth the name, age and positions of our executive officers and
directors as of March 2731 , 2024-2025 . Name Age Position Carol Craig Chief Executive Officer and BireetorBi-White-Chairman Adarsh Parekh (1) Chi ancial Officer Dana Kilborne Director
Cole Oliver Director Leonardo Riera Director Jeffrey Shuman (2) Chairman-Riehard-Berman-Director Lavanson Coffey (3) Dircctor (1) Mr. White-Parekh joined the Company as Chief Financial
Officer in February-January 2624-2025 . (2) Mr. Riera-Shuman joined the Company as a director in Apﬂ-lrJuly%BE%Zl)M (3) Mr. BefmafrCoffey joined the Company as a director in Jantary-August
2024. The business background and certain other information about our directors and executive officers is set forth below. C “lrol Craig. Ms. Craig is the founder of our company and has served as our
Chief Executive Officer and Chairwoman since 2044-2012 . Ms. Craig is also the founder and Chief E > FC l Ci (mxulmw Inc., an engin nd technology company since
1999. Ms. Craig graduated from Knox College with a BA in Computer Science and a BS in Computer Science Engine ee in Electrical and
Computer Engineering from the University of Massachusetts at Amherst. She is currently pursuing a PhD in Systems Engineering and an MBA w1th a concentratlon in Flnance at the Florida Institute
of Technology. Carol is a former P- 3 Orion Naval Flight Officer and one of the first women ¢! le to fly in combat. She has served on over 30 boards that include educational, acrospace and defense
industry and non- profit organizations. Ms. Craig was selected to serve on our board of directors due to her extensive experience in the space industry and her relationships with key players in commercial
space along with her position as CEO. Bi-White-Adarsh Parekh . Mr. White-Parekh Jomed Sidus Space in January 2025, bringing over 20 years of experience in financial services and financial
operations. He has been directly involved in over 30-years-$ 3 billion of M & A experienee-ini operations-capital markets . and business-development-investing transactions .
He-Before joining Sidus Space, Mr. Parekh scrved as CFO ehieffinaneiat-officer;treasurer;-and-seeretary-of l-melheheeleTerran Orbital Corporation . playing tne=-a key role in its sale teehnology
eempaﬂyﬁstedﬁﬂ—the—Nasd&q—ffem%-l—} o %Q%Lockheed Martin . BeferewerkmgHe has also held CFO posntlons at multlple entities fntellicheelkIneheserved12-years-as-the-ehief finaneial

a F s e P r-and integral-rele-in-growing-the-business-was a Principal at
Renewahle Resources Group, a prlvate equltyfreﬁr firm managmg t-heeempaﬁy—s—meepﬂeﬂ—tmn er$ 3&2 ml-hefrbllhon in assets aﬂnual—reveﬁne—mﬂ—ﬁve-»ye&rpeﬁedr Mr. Parekh began Whﬁe
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merger-and-aeq strategt resotreeat and-or Prior-to-eo FM-heserved15-years-in-variousfi feadership-p inrthe
his career in PubheAeeeuﬁaﬁgthe Investment Bankmg DlVllell of Lehman Brothers, Inc., in New York, where he worked with Fortune 500 management
teams on transformatmnal transactlons Mr. White-Parekh focuses on cultivating sustai relationships to drive busi scalmg and positive, win- win transactions. He holds a Bachelor of
Asts-Sci inB A E ics degree with concentrations in Finance and M: t from Washingten-State-the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania aﬂd—tﬁ
Certified-Fraud-Examiner. Lconardo Riera. Mr. Riera was appointed to our board of directors in April 2023-and-appeinted-Chat of the Board-in-September2023. Mr. Riera has over 35 s

ment, including serving as Executive Director, Country Head for Bankers Trust in Caracas, Venezuela for over 10 years and Head of Merg
Acquisitions for Citicorp Investment Bank in Caracas, Venezuela. Mr. Riera has served as President of LiNiCo Corporation, a subsidiary of Comstock Mining Inc. (NYSE: LODE), a renew: able energy
and products company, since April 2022. Mr. Riera has served as a member of the board of directors and as Chief Strategy Officer of Vaya Space, a privately held space dlld defense company based in
Florida stnee-from March 2023 through August 2024 . He has also served as a member of the board of directors and chair of the audit committee of FenixOro Gold Corp. (FENX. CN), a Canadian
company focused on acquiring and exploring gold projects, since January 2021. \h Riera served as a member of the board of directors and as a member of the audit committee, nominating and corporate
governance committee and compensation committee of Medicine Man , Inc. (OTC SHWZ), a vertically integrated regional cannabis company based in Colorado, from June 2019
through January 2021. He also was Co- founder, Chief Executive Officer and Umuman of the Board of Directors of EnviroPower Renewable, Inc. a renewable energy company from 2012 through 2018.
Mr. Riera is the owner of and has served as CEO of Latin American Advisors Inc. since 1988 through which he provides mergers and acquisitions, investment advisory, private equity and strat
planning services. He was a consultant with McKinsey & Co. from 1984 through 1986. Mr. Riera served as President of the International Banking Association of Venezuela for three terms. He w
Head of Asset Structuring and Credit for a $ 2 Billion emerging market debt fund based in Florida, where he was responsible for investments in Russia, Ukraine, Kazakhstan, Mexico, China, Nigeria,
Singapore, Angola, and Brazil. Mr. Riera holds a degree in Economics from Universidad Catélica Andrés Bello and an MBA from the University of Pennsylvania’ s distinguished Wharton School of
Business. We believe that Mr. Riera’ s financial and executive experience qualifies him to serve on our Board of Directors. Dana Kilborne. Ms. Kilborne was appointed to our board of directors in
December 2021. Ms. Kilborne has been the President and CEO of Cypress Bank & Trust since April 2018 and CEO of Cypress Capital Group since October 2019. She is also a director of both
companies. In 2004, she founded another Florida based community bank as President and CEO and sold the company in January 2018. Ms. Kilborne has over thirty years of experience in the financial
services industry in Florida. She served as a Director of the Federal Reserve Board of Atlanta Bank, Jacksonville Branch and currently serves on the corporate boards of HealthFirst, Inc., Florida Tech,
and NCMIC. She is past Chair of the Economic Development Commission of the Space Coast, and of Holy Trinity Episcopal Academy, where she was also a volunteer teacher. She has served on the
board of several community organizations including the East Coast Zoological Society, the Advisory Board of the Bisk College of Business at Florida Tech and many other local not for profit institutions.
While in South Florida, she served on the Downtown Development Authority of West Palm Beach and Rosarian Academy and was awarded the Orchid Award by the mayor of West Palm Beach for her
leadership in the community. Ms. Kilborne was selected to be a director based on her broad background in finance, accounting, entrepreneurship and governance. Cole Oliver. Mr. Oliver was appointed to
our board of directors in December 2021. Mr. Oliver has been an equity partner in the law firm of Rossway Swan Tierney Barry & Oliver since 2010. Prior to beginning in private practice, Mr. Oliver
served as a federal law clerk to The Honorable John Antoon, II, United States District Court Middle District of Florida. Currently, Mr. Oliver sits on the Board of Directors for Cypress Capital Group and
Cypress Bank & Trust. Additionally, Mr. Oliver remains an active member of the community, currently serving as a Governing Board Member of the St. Johns River Water Management District, a
member of the Brevard County Charter Review Commission, and as the Treasurer of the Board of Directors for the Holy Trinity Episcopal Academy. Previously, Mr. Oliver has served as the President of
the East Coast Zoological Society and as a Member of the Brevard County Economic Development Commission. He received his B. A. degree from Washington & Lee University as a history major and
an MBA with a concentration in finance from Louisiana State University. Additionally, Mr. Oliver earned his J. D. degree from the University of Florida, graduating magna cum laude and serving as the
Editor in Chief of the Florida Law review. Mr. Oliver was selected to serve on our board of directors due to his extensive legal experience and his involvement and understanding of the impact of the
space industry on local, federal and global economies. Jeffrey Shuman, RiehardJ-—Berman—\r. Berman-Shuman was appointed to our board of directors in July 2025. He brings over 40 years of
experience across global diversified companies and the military, spanning the US Army, Avon Products, Honeywell International, Northrop Grumman, L3Harris and Quest Diagnostics. Mr.
Shuman was the Chief Human Resources Officer at Harris Corporation (now L3Harris) and at Quest Diagnostics during periods of profound cultural and operational progress. Earlier in his
career, he held senior executive positions in Operations, General Management and Human Resources. He currently serves on the advisory board of Garner Health, The Citadel School of

experience in investment banking and fund mar

a as also

Business, The Citadel Psychology Department and is AdVlSOl‘y Board emerltus at CIELO Talent Mr. Shuman earned a bachelor * s degree from The Citadel bust eareer-spans-over35-years
, Sefiort rent-and fo ing grad metger-&-aeq experienee—He-hasserved as a Medical Services Corp direetor-and-erofficer in the US Army. He completed
executive development programs in Business and Human Resources at the University of everMichi Harvard Busi School, University of Virginia’ s Darden School of Business,

University of Pennsylvania’ s Wharton Business School and Cornell University. He also participated in 2 dezen-US business exchange program with the People’ s publie-Republic and-of China,
supported the private-Private eompanies-Sector Council in key initiatives with the lastfive-years-Department of Education and the Department of Homeland Security, and was a regular
contributor and guest on “ Your Career Partners ”, a Washington DC- based radio talk show . Currently-Mr. Shuman received the “ Stevie Award ” during the American Business Awards for
“ Best Human Resources Executive ” and was the 2011 recipient for the “ HR Executive of the Year ” by HR Executive Magazine. Lavanson Coffey III, Mr. Coffey was appointed to our
board of directors in August 2025 He brmgs nearly four decades of aerospace experience and leadershlp to Sidus Space. After retiring from the U. S. Air Force . hc joined Ball Aerospace,
where is —O¥ a de-he led has-served-en-(hc launch mission for the Intelligence C: ity’ s first cially procured launch vehicle board-ofsix
that-havereached-overone-billiondoHars-inmarket-value- Previously-This achievement paved the way for commercial launch providers across the nation and helped the U. S.
government begin realizing affordable space lift. Following his time at Ball Aerospace . Mr. Beﬂﬂaﬂ*werked—a&Gel&maﬂ-Saehs—&n&Coffey joined Airbus U. S. Space & Defense was— as Senior
Vice President & Business Enabler and later served as Executive Director for their Space line of BankersFrust-Company-busi Mr. Coffey developed his leadership skills in the U. S. Air
Force, where his assignments ranged from Rocket Propulsion Engineering and Project Management to serving as an Assistant Professor of Astronautical Engineering and Aide- de- Camp for
the U. S. Air Force Academy Superintendent. As Program Manager and Division Deputy Director, he started-played a key role in building the M-&A-teveragedBuyoutDepartments-nation’ s
Atlas 5 launch capability and rehabilitating the Delta 4- heavy launch pad at Vandenberg AFB. He later served as the Secretary of the Air Force’ s Legislative Liaison in the U. S. Senate and
concluded his Air Force career by commanding the First Space Launch Squadron at Cape Canaveral, the 2nd Cadet Group at the U. S. Air Force Academy, and the 30th Launch Group at
Vandenberg, CA . Mr. Berman-Coffey holds a Speeial-Certifieate-BS in Engineering from Fhe-Hague-the U. S. Air Force Academy efnternational-Law-, a3—B-an MS in Engineering Management
from Callfornla State Unlverslty Besfe&Gel—lege—l:aw-Selml» arand two addltlonalM—BAr MA degrees inFinanee-and-aB—S—{rom Air New-Yerk-University {Stern)—Mr—Berman-was-appointed-to
veknow a g growth-e Family Relationships There are no family relationships among any of our executive officers
dnulm\ Arrangements between Officers and [)l ctors Except as set forth in this / \nmml R\,D()ll on l- rm 10- K, to our knowledge, there is no arrangement or understanding between any of our off
or directors and any other person pursuant to which such officer or director was selected to serve as an officer or director of the Company. Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings We are not aware of
any of our directors or officers being involved in any legal proceedings in the past ten years relating to any matters in bankruptcy, insolvency, criminal proceedings (other than traffic and other minor
offenses), or being subject to any of the items set forth under Item 401 (f) of Regulation S- K. Committees of Our Board of Directors Our board of directors directs the management of our business and
affairs, as provided by Delaware law, and conducts its business through meetings of the board of directors and its standing committees. We have a standing audit committee and compensation committee.




In addition, from time to time, special committees may be established under the direction of the board of directors when necessary to address specific issues. Audit Committee Our audit committee is
responsible for, among other things: ® Approving and retaining the independent auditors to conduct the annual audit of our financial statements; ® reviewing the proposed scope and results of the audit;
e reviewing and pre- approving audit and non- audit fees and services; ® reviewing accounting and financial controls with the independent auditors and our financial and accounting staff; @ reviewing
and approving transactions between us and our directors, officers and affiliates; @ establishing procedures for complaints received by us regarding accounting matters; ® overseeing internal audit
functions, if any; and e preparing the report of the audit committee that the rules of the SEC require to be included in our annual meeting proxy statement. Our audit committee consists of Dana Kilborne,
Cole Oliver and-, Leonardo Riera and Jeffrey Shuman , with Ms. Kilborne serving as chair. Our board of directors has affirmatively determined that Ms. Kilborne and Messrs. Oliver ané-, Riera and
Shuman cach meet the definition of “ independent director ” under the Nasdaq rules, and that they meet the independence standards under Rule 10A- 3. Each member of our audit committee meets the
financial literacy requirements of the Nasdaq rules. In addition, our board of directors has determined that Ms. Kilborne qualifies as an “ audit committee financial expert, ” as such term is defined in Item
407 (d) (5) of Regulation S- K. Our board of directors adopted a written charter for the audit committee, which is available on our principal corporate website at www. sidusspace. com. Compensation
Committee Our compensation committee is responsible for, among other things: @ reviewing and recommending the compensation arrangements for management, including the compensation for our
president and chief executive officer; ® establishing and reviewing general compensation policies with the objective to attract and retain superior talent, to reward individual performance and to achieve
our financial goals; ® administering our stock incentive plans; and @ preparing the report of the compensation committee that the rules of the SEC require to be included in our annual meeting proxy
statement. Our compensation committee wil-eensistconsists of Panatilborne-Jeffrey Shuman , Cole Oliver and, L.econardo Ricra and Lavanson Coffey , with Mr. Riera-Shuman scrving as chair. Our
board has determined that Ms—Kitberne-and-Messrs. Shuman, Oliver and, Ricra and Coffey arc independent directors under Nasdag rules. Our board of directors adopted a written charter for the
compensation committee, which will be available on our principal corporate website at www. sidusspace. com. Nominating and Governance The members of our nominating and governance committee
are Dana Kilborne, Cole Oliver ané-, Leonardo Riera and Lavanson Coffey . Mr. Oliver-Coffey scrves as the chairperson of the committee. The nominating and corporate governance committee assists
the board of directors in selecting individuals qualified to become our directors and in determining the composition of the board and its committees. The nominating and corporate governance committee
is responsible for, among other things: (i) identifying and evaluating individuals qualified to become members of the board by reviewing nominees for election to the board submitted by stockholders and
recommending to the board director nominees for each annual meeting of stockholders and for election to fill any vacancies on the board, (ii) advising the board with respect to board organization, desired
qualifications of board members, the membership, function, operation, structure and composition of committees (including any committee authority to delegate to subcommittees), and self- evaluation and
policies, (iii) advising on matters relating to corporate governance and monitoring developments in the law and practice of corporate governance, (iv) overseeing compliance with our code of ethics, and
(v) approving any related party transactions. The nominating and corporate governance committee’ s methods for identifying candidates for election to our board of directors (other than those proposed by
our stockholders, as discussed below) includes the solicitation of ideas for possible candidates from a number of sources — members of our board of directors, our executives, individuals personally
known to the members of our board of directors, and other research. The nominating and corporate governance committee may also, from time- to- time, retain one or more third- party search firms to
identify suitable candidates. In making director recommendations, the nominating and corporate governance committee may consider some or all of the following factors: (i) the candidate’ s judgment,
skill, experience with other organizations of comparable purpose, complexity and size, and subject to similar legal restrictions and oversight; (ii) the interplay of the candidate’ s experience with the
experience of other board members; (iii) the extent to which the candidate would be a desirable addition to the board and any committee thereof; (iv) whether or not the person has any relationships that
might impair his or her independence; and (v) the candidate’ s ability to contribute to the effective management of our company, taking into account the needs of our company and such factors as the
individual’ s experience, perspective, skills and knowledge of the industry in which we operate. Delinquent Section 16 (a) Reports Section 16 (a) of the Exchange Act requires our directors and executive
officers, and persons who own more than 10 % of a registered class of our equity securities, to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of our common stock and
other equity securities. To our knowledge, based solely upon a review of Forms 3, 4, and 5 filed with the SEC during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , we believe that our directors,
executive officers, and greater than 10 % beneficial owners have complied with all applicable filing requirements during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. A copy of the code is filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report on Form 10- K and is posted on our website, www. sidusspace.
com. We intend to post on our website all disclosures that are required by law or Nasdaq rules concerning any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of the code. ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION Summary Compensation Table The following table provides certain summary information concerning compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to our Principal Executive Officer
and our other highest paid executive officers whose total annual salary and bonus exceeded $ 100, 000 (collectively, the “ named executive officers ) for fiscal years December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2022~ All Other Salary Compensation Total Name and Principal Position Year ($) ($) ($) Carol Craig 2623-2024 247-325 | 425247-000 234 , 425-000 (1) 559, 000 President & Chief Executive Officer
262%2023 125217 425- 217999—(—1—)—]25 QGQ-Tefesa—Bufehﬁeld%ZS Bill White (2) 292&2024 275226 . 666-275-875 54 , 066-667 (3) 281, 542 Former Chief Financial Officer 2622-485:-906-5+-563

69-Jam 3 6 8 o &y 1) Ms. Craig waived-received a cash bonus eempensation-{or July 12622
2023 to June 30 2024 and a 6— month bonus for July 1, 2024 to Dec 31, 2024 . (2 M&Mr Bufehﬂeld»Whlte became our Chief Financial Officer on Apri-H-February 6 . 2022-2024 and left his
stepped-down-frem-herposition as CFO in January Feb—2024-2025 . (3) Mr. Adams-left-the-Company White was paid a % of his annual compensation in Oet-the form of restricted stock units . Mr.
White earned a partial cash bonus for 2023-2024 . Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2623-2024 There were fie-equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2023
2024 . Mr. White held 25, 000 options as per his employment agreement dated Feb 6, 2024, vesting over 3 years. These options became 100 % vested upon Mr. Whites termination of
employment . Non- Employee Director Compensation The following table presents the total compensation for each person who served as a non- employee member of our Board and received
compensation for such service during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . Other than as set forth in the table and described more fully below, we did not pay any compensation, make any
equity awards or non- equity awards to, or pay any other compensation to any of the non- employee members of our Board in 2623-2024 . Directors who are also employees do not receive cash or equity
compensation for service on our Board of Directors in addition to compensation payable for their service as employees of the Company. Name Fees Earned or Paid in Cash ($) All Other Compensation ($)
Total (S) Dana Kilborne 45-50 . 000 +6-20 , 000 55-70 ., 000 Cole Oliver 45-50 , 000 46-20 , 000 55-70 , 000 Leonardo Riera (1) 4779 , 566-37-167 39 . 833-85-167 118 . 333-Mignel-Valero-334 Richard
Berman (2) 26-120 , 000 -26-120 , 000 Jeffrey Shuman (3) 23, 889 10, 000 33, 889 Lavanson Coffey III (4) 17, 222- 17, 222 340, 278 89, 167 429, 445 (1) Mr. Ricra served joined-the-Company-as &
direetor-t-Apri-chairman of the board from September 2023 through July 2024 . (2) Mr. ¥atere-Berman joined the pany as a non- independent director in January 2024 and lcft the
Company-company as of January 2025. (3) Mr. Shuman joined the company as a director in June-July 2623-2024 . (4) Mr. Coffey joined the company as a director in August 2024 . Employment
Agreements In December 2021, we entered into an employment agreement with Ms. Craig, pursuant to which Ms. Craig serves as our Founder and Chief Executive Officer. Ms. Craig’ s employment
agreement provided for an annual base salary of $ 125, 000 and provides that Ms. Craig will be eligible for an annual discretionary bonus, with a target equal to 100 % of her base salary, based on the
achievement of certain performance objectives established by our Board of Directors. As of July 1, 2023, Ms. Craig’ s base salary was increased to $ 325 , 000 and January 1, 2025 her base salary was
increased to $ 400 , 000. Ms. Craig’ s employment agreement contains standard non- competition and non- solicitation provisions. Ms. Craig is also eligible to receive additional equity- based
compensation awards as the Company may grant from time to time. Ms. Craig’ s employment agreement further provides for standard expense reimbursement, vacation time and other standard executive
benefits. Pursuant to Ms. Craig’ s employment agreement, in the event her employment is terminated without cause, due to a non- renewal by the Company, or if she resigns for “ good reason ” (in each
case, other than within twelve (12) months following a change in control), Ms. Craig is entitled to (i) a cash payment equal to five (5) times the sum of her (x) annual base salary and (y) target bonus in
effect on her last day of employment; (ii) continuation of health benefits for a period of 24 months; (iii) a lump sum payment equal to the amount of any annual bonus earned with respect to a prior fiscal
year, but unpaid as of the date of termination; (iv) a lump sum payment equal to the amount of annual bonus that was accrued through the date of termination for the year in which employment ends; and
(v) subject to Ms. Craig’ s compliance with her restrictive covenants, the outstanding and unvested portion of any time- vesting equity award that would have vested during the one (1) year period
following Ms. Craig’ s termination had she remained an employee shall automatically vest upon his termination date. In the event that Ms. Craig’ s employment is terminated due to her death or
disability, she will be entitled to receive (i) a lump sum payment equal to the amount of any annual bonus earned with respect to a prior fiscal year, but unpaid as of the date of termination; (ii) a lump
sum payment equal to the amount of annual bonus that was accrued for the year in which employment ends; and (iii) the acceleration and vesting in full of any then outstanding and unvested portion of
any time- vesting equity award granted to her by the Company. In the event that Ms. Craig” s employment is terminated due to her non- renewal or resignation without “ good reason, ” she will be entitled
to receive a lump sum payment equal to the amount of any annual bonus earned with respect to a prior fiscal year, but unpaid as of the date of termination. In the event that Ms. Craig’ s employment is
terminated by the Company without cause, due to non- renewal by the Company, or if she resigns for “ good reason, ” in each case within twelve (12) months following a change in control, Ms. Craig is
entitled to (i) a cash payment equal to ten (10) times the sum of her (x) annual base salary and (y) target bonus in effect on her last day of employment; (ii) continuation of health benefits for a period of
24 months; (iii) a lump sum payment equal to the amount of any annual bonus earned with respect to a prior fiscal year, but unpaid as of the date of termination; (iv) a lump sum payment equal to the
amount of annual bonus that was accrued for the year in which employment ends prior to the date of termination; and (v) the acceleration and vesting in full of any then outstanding and unvested portion
of any time- vesting equity award granted to her by the Company. ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 27-31 , 2624-2025 by: e each of our named
executive officers; ® each of our directors; ® all of our current directors and executive officers as a group; and e each stockholder known by us to own beneficially more than five percent of our common
stock. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities. Shares of common stock that may be acquired by
an individual or group within 60 days of March 27-31 , 2624-2025 , pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants or conversion of preferred stock or convertible debt, are deemed to be outstanding for
the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such individual or group, but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person shown in
the table. Percentage of ownership is based on 4-18 , 884204 , 344-483 and 100, 000 shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock, issued and outstanding, respectively, as of March 24-31
,20624-2025 . Except as indicated in footnotes to this table, we believe that the stockholders named in this table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown to
be beneficially owned by them, based on information provided to us by such stockholders. Unless otherwise indicated, the address for each director and executive officer listed is: ¢ / o Sidus Space, Inc.,
150 N. Sykes Creek Parkway, Suite 200, Merritt Island, Florida 32953. Name of Beneficial Owner Number of Shares of Class A Beneficially Owned Number of Shares of Class B Beneficially Owned
Percentage of Common Stock Beneficially Owned Directors and Executive Officers: Carol Craig (1) -5, 000 100, 000 Adarsh Parekh (2) Bill White ( 2)—Feresa-Birehfield(-3) Jamie-Adams-19, 342
Leonardo Riera- Dana Kilborne- Cole Oliver- Richard Berman (4) Leonardo-Riera-14, 862 Jeffrey Shuman - BanaKitborne-Lavanson Coffey III - Eote-Oliver—Richard-Berman{5)- Directors and
Executive Officers as a group (8 persons) =39, 204 100, 000 5 % or Greater Stockholders: Craig Technical Consulting, Inc.- 100, 000 49-7%-Eind-Global-Partners- HHEC222,260-5. 2 3-%tonie

5 % (1) Carol Craig is the sole owner of Craig Technical Consulting, Inc. and has beneficial ownership of the Class B shares of common stock held by Craig Technical

Comu]ung, Inc. (2) Mr. JWhﬁeParekh joined the Company as CFO in February-January 2624-2025 . (3) Ms-Mr . Birehfietd-White stcpped down from her-his position as CFO in February-January
2024-2025 . (4) Mr. Adams-Berman joined the Company as a director in January 2024 and lcft the Company January #1-Oet2623-2025 . (5) Mr. Berman-Shuman joined the Company as a director
in Januwary-July 2024. (6) Mr. Coffey joined the Company as a director in August 2024. Sccurities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans The following table summarizes
information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2623-2024 . Plan Category Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights (a) Weighted
average exercise price of outstanding options, warrants and rights Number of securities remaining available for future issuance under equity compensation plans (excluding securities reflected in column
(a)) Equity compensation plans approved by security holder 17 —9-, 560-671- 782, 329 Equity compensation plans not approved by security holder--- Total 17 —9-, 500-671 782, 329 ITEM 13.
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE The following includes a summary of transactions during our fiscal years ended December 31,
2023-2024 and December 31, 2622-2023 to which we have been a party, including transactions in which the amount involved in the transaction exceeds the lesser of $ 120, 000 or 1 % of the average of
our total assets at year- end for the last two completed fiscal years, and in which any of our directors, executive officers or, to our knowledge, beneficial owners of more than 5 % of our capital stock or
any member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing persons had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, other than equity and other compensation, termination, change in control and
other arrangements, which are described elsewhere in this prospectus. We are not otherwise a party to a related party transaction, and no transaction is currently proposed, in which the amount of the
transaction exceeds the lesser of $ 120, 000 or 1 % of the average of our total assets at year- end for the last two completed fiscal years and in which a related person had or will have a direct or indirect
material interest. Our corporate headquarters is located at 150 N. Sykes Creek Parkway, Suite 200 Merritt Island, Florida 32953. We occupy facilities totaling approximately 3500 square feet under a
sublease from Craig Technical Consulting, Inc., a principal stockholder and an entity owned and controlled by our Chief Executive Officer, Carol Craig (“ CTC ), pursuant to a commercial sublease




agreement (the “ Lease Agreement ™), dated AugustFebruary 1, 20242024 . The Lease Agreement is a month- to- month lease and may be terminated with 30 days” notice. We currently pay $ 4, 847
757 CAM per month which includes applicable sales and use tax, which is currently 6. 5 % in Brevard County. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, we owed $ 527, 476 to CTC for cash
advances made to the Company. The advances are unsecured, due on demand and non- bearing- interest. On May 1, 2021, we converted $ 4 million in intercompany accounts receivable owed to CTC
into a related party note payable (the “ Note ”’) which included $ 1. 1 million in payments toward a loan (the “ CTC- Decathlon Note) to CTC and us by Decathlon Alpha IV, L. P., or Decathlon. The
principal balance of this Note outstanding (together with any accrued, but unpaid interest thereon) bears interest at a per annum interest rate equal to the long term Applicable Federal Rate (as such term is
defined in Section 1274 (d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended), and matures on September 30, 2025, and is payable in the amount of $ 250, 000 every quarter for four years beginning on
Oct 1,2021. On December 3, 2021, we entered into a Loan Assignment and Assumption Agreement, or Loan Assignment, with Decathlon and CTC pursuant to which we assumed principal amount of $

1 million (the “ Decathlon Note ") which was part of the Note. In connection with our assumption of the Decathlon Note, CTC reduced the principal of the Note by $ 1. 4 million for an aggregate
principal balance of $ 2. 6 million. Management believes that the assumption of the Decathlon Note from CTC was in our best interests because in connection therewith, Decathlon released us from a
cross- collateralization agreement it was a party to with CTC for a loan of a greater amount. Also in connection with the Loan Assignment, on December 3, 2021, we entered into a Revenue Loan and
Security Agreement, or RLSA, as amended, with Decathlon and our CEO, Carol Craig, pursuant to which we pay interest based on a minimum rate of 1 times the amount advanced and make monthly
payments based on a percentage of our revenue calculated as an amount equal to the product of (i) all revenue for the immediately preceding month multiplied by (ii) the Applicable Revenue Percentage,
defined as 4 % of revenue for payments due during any month. The Decathlon Note is secured by our assets and was guaranteed by CTC and matured-matures the carliest of: (i) Peeember9-January 31
,20624-2025 , (ii) immediately prior to a change of control, or (iii) upon an acceleration of the obligations due to a default under the RLSA. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we repaid $ 797,
505 and the Note and accrued interest was forgiven by CTC. We recorded debt forgiveness of the Note and accrued interest of $ 1, 624, 755 to additional paid in capital. We recognized revenue of $ 798,
942 and $ 952, 220 and-$1;-042;-628-for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 , from contracts entered into by CTC and subcontracted to us for four customers of CTC pursuant to separate
subcontracting agreements. For the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 aad-2022-, the Company recorded cost of revenue to Craig Technical Consulting, Inc. of approximately $ 588-712 , 606-669
and $ 436-654 , 363-605 , and general and administrative expense of $ 93, 476 and $ 24, 363 and-$-12;267-, respectively. A Professional Services Agreement, effective November 15, 2021, was made
between us and CTC. The period of performance for this agreement was December 1, 2021, through November 30, 2022. The agreement was amended, and the term of the agreement was extended to
Nevember-June 30, 2024-2025 . During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-, we recorded professional services of $ 163,546 and $ 106, 057 and-$460;475-, respectively, under the
Professional Services Agreement. Related Person Transaction Policy We have adopted a related person transaction policy that sets forth our procedures for the identification, review, consideration and
approval or ratification of related person transactions. For purposes of our policy only, a related person transaction is a transaction, arrangement or relationship, or any series of similar transactions,
arrangements or relationships, in which we and any related person are, were or will be participants in which the amount involved exceeds the lesser of $ 120, 000 or 1 % of our total assets at year- end.
Transactions involving compensation for services provided to us as an employee or director are not covered by this policy. A related person is any executive officer, director or beneficial owner of more
than 5 % of any class of our voting securities, including any of their immediate family members and any entity owned or controlled by such persons. Under the policy, if a transaction has been identified
as a related person transaction, including any transaction that was not a related person transaction when originally consummated or any transaction that was not initially identified as a related person
transaction prior to consummation, our management must present information regarding the related person transaction to our audit committee, or, if audit committee approval would be inappropriate, to
another independent body of our board of directors, for review, consideration and approval or ratification. The presentation must include a description of, among other things, the material facts, the
interests, direct and indirect, of the related persons, the benefits to us of the transaction and whether the transaction is on terms that are comparable to the terms available to or from, as the case may be, an
unrelated third party or to or from employees generally. Under the policy, we will collect information that we deem reasonably necessary from each director, executive officer and, to the extent feasible,
significant stockholder to enable us to identify any existing or potential related- person transactions and to effectuate the terms of the policy. In addition, under our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics,
our employees and directors will have an affirmative responsibility to disclose any transaction or relationship that reasonably could be expected to give rise to a conflict of interest. In considering related
person transactions, our audit committee, or other independent body of our board of directors, will take into account the relevant available facts and circumstances including, but not limited to: e the risks,
costs and benefits to us; ® the impact on a director’ s independence in the event that the related person is a director, immediate family member of a director or an entity with which a director is affiliated;
o the availability of other sources for comparable services or products; and e the terms available to or from, as the case may be, unrelated third parties or to or from employees generally. The policy
requires that, in determining whether to approve, ratify or reject a related person transaction, our audit committee, or other independent body of our board of directors, must consider, in light of known
circumstances, whether the transaction is in, or is not inconsistent with, our best interests and those of our stockholders, as our audit committee, or other independent body of our board of directors,
determines in the good faith exercise of its discretion. Independence of the Board of Directors Our board of directors undertook a review of the independence of our directors and considered whether any
director has a relationship with us that could compromise that director’ s ability to exercise independent judgment in carrying out that director” s responsibilities. Our board of directors has affirmatively
determined that Dana Kilborne, Cole Oliver, Leonardo Riera , Jeff Shuman and Miguel-Valere-Lavanson Coffey are cach an * independent director, ” as defined under Nasdaq rules. ITEM 14.
PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed by as described below: 2024 2023 2022-Audit fees $ 373,975 $ 93, 000 $72;-500-Audit
related fees 168, 500 9 -000-+6-, 000 Tax fees—- All other fees-- § 542,475 $ 102, 000 $-88;-500-Audit Fees: Fees for audit services were $ 373,975 and $ 93, 000 and-$-725-500-for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, respectively. These are fees for professional services performed by the principal auditor for the audit of our annual financial statements and services that are
normally provided in connection with statutory and regulatory filing or engagement. The year ended December 31, 2024 includes a re- audit fee of $ 125, 475 for years ended December 31, 2023 &
2022 due to dismissal of prior auditor by the Company as they were no longer permitted to appear or practice before the SEC for reasons described in the SEC’ s Order Instituting Public
Administrative and Cease- and- Desist Proceedings Pursuant to Sectlon 8A of the Securities Act of 1933, Sections 4C and 21C of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 102 (e) of the
Commission’ s Rules of Practice, Making Findi and Imposi 1 Sanctions and a Cease- and- Desist Order, dated May 3, 2024, as noted in the Company’ s May 3, 2024 Form 8K
filed with the SEC. Audit- Related Fees: Fees for audit- related services were $ 168, 500 and $ 9 -060-and-$16- 000 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-. These are fees for
assurance and related services performed by the principal auditor that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our financial sl'uemenli These services include attestations by the
principal auditor that are not required by statute or regulation and consulting on financial accounting / reporting standards. Tax Fees: No fees for tax services were paid for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 and-2022-. These are fees for professional services performed by the principal auditor with respect to tax compliance, tax planning, tax consultation, returns preparation and review of
returns. The review of tax returns includes the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries. All Other Fees: No all other fees were paid for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-. These
are fees billed by the auditor for products and services not included in the foregoing categories. Pre- Approval Policies and Procedures In accordance with the Sarbanes- Oxley Act, our audit committee
charter requires the audit committee to pre- approve all audit and permitted non- audit services provided by our independent registered public accounting firm, including the review and approval in
advance of our independent registered public accounting firm” s annual engagement letter and the proposed fees contained therein. The audit committee has the ability to delegate the authority to pre-
approve non- audit services to one or more designated members of the audit committee. If such authority is delegated, such delegated members of the audit committee must report to the full audit
committee at the next audit committee meeting all items pre- approved by such delegated members. In the fiscal years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 all of the services performed by our
independent registered public accounting firm were pre- approved by the audit committee. PART IV ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES (a) The following documents are
filed as part of this report: (1) Financial Statements: Page Index to Consolidated Financial Statements: F- 1 Consolidated Financial Statements: Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm F- 1 Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-F- 2 Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-F- 3
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-F- 4 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 and-2022-F- 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-F- 6The consolidated financial statements required by this Item are
included beginning at page F- 1. (1) Financial Statement Schedules: All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information required is shown
in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto. (b) Exhibits The following documents are included as exhibits to this report. Exhibit No. Title of Document 3. I Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 3. 2 Certificate of Amendment of Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated August 24, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 2 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 3. 3 Certificate of
Amendment of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation dated December 16, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 3 to Form 10- K filed with the SEC on April 5, 2022) 3. 4 Amended
and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 4 to Form 10- K filed with the SEC on April 5, 2022) 3. 5 Certificate of A d to A ded and R d Certificate of
Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on July 5, 2023) 3. 6 A d t No. 1 to A ded and Restated Bylaws of Sidus Space, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to Form 8- K filed on October 2, 2023 3. 7 Certificate of Designations of Preferences and Rights of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to Form 8- K filed on October 13, 2023) 3. 6-8 Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sidus Space, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 2 to Form 8- K
filed on October 13, 2023 ) 3. 9 Certificate of A d to A ded and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on
December 19, 2023) 4. 1 Description of the Registrant’ s Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2 to Form 10- K filed
with the SEC on April 5, 2022) 4. 2 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 2 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on March 27, 2023). 4. 3 Form of Warrant (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4. 1 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on October 13, 2023 ). 4. 4 Form of Common Warrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on December 19,
2024). 10. 1 Sidus Space, Inc. 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Form 10- K filed with the SEC on April 5, 2022) 10. 2 Revenue Loan and Security
Agreement dated December 1, 2021 by and among Sidus Space, Inc., Carol Craig and Decathlon Alpha IV, L. P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with
the SEC on December 3, 2021) 10. 3 Loan Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated December 1, 2021 by and between Decathlon Alpha IV, L. P., Craig Technical Consulting, Inc. and Sidus
Space, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 10. 4 Loan Agreement dated May 1, 2021 by and between Sidus Space,
Inc. and Craig Technical Consulting, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 10. 5 Form of Indemnification
Agreement for Directors and Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 5 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 10. 6 Lease Agreement dated as of
November 29, 2016 between 400 W. Central LLC and Craig Technologies Properties, LLC (assigned to Sidus Space, Inc.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 6 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1
filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 10. 7 Lease Agreement dated as of May 21, 2021 between 400 W. Central LLC and Sidus Space, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 7 to Amendment
No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021). 10. 8 Commercial Sublease Agreement dated August 1, 2021 by and between Sykes Creek Limited Partnership, Craig Technical Consulting,
Inc. and Sidus Space, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 8 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 10. 9 # NASA Contract Award dated November 5, 2018
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 9 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 10. 10 Employment Agreement between Sidus Space, Inc. and Carol Craig dated
December 16, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 10 to Form 10- K filed with the SEC on April 5, 2022) 10. 11 Debt Forgiveness Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to
Form 8- K filed with the SEC on June 9, 2022) 10. 12 Asset Conveyance Agreement entered into as of August 18, 2023 by and among Sidus Space, Inc., Exo- Space Inc. and the equity holders of Exo-
Space Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on August 22, 2023) 10. 13 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to
Form 8- K filed with the SEC on October 13, 2023). 10. 14 Form of Registration Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on October 13, 2023). 10.
15 First Amendment to Revenue Loan and Security Agreement dated November 16, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on December 6, 2023). 10. 16 Form
of Securities Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on December 19, 2024). 10. 17 Form of Registration Rights Agreement
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to Form 8- K filed with the SEC on December 19, 2024). 14. | Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14. 1 to Form
10- K filed with the SEC on April 5, 2022) 19. 1 Sidus Space, Inc. Insider Trading Policy 21. | List of Subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21. 1 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S- 1 filed
with the SEC on December 3, 2021) 23. 1 Consent of BF-Bergers-CPA-PE-Fruci & Associates, PLLC . Power of Attorney (included on signature page hereto). 31. 1 Certification of the Chief Executive
Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (a) of the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 31. 2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14
(a) of the Exchange Act, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002 32. 1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (b) of the Exchange Act and 18
U. S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 32. 2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a- 14 (b) of the Exchange Act and 18 U.
S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 97. 1 Clawback Policy (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97. 1 to Form 10- K filed on March 27, 2024)




101 * Inline XBRL Document Set for the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes in Part II, Item 8, “ Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ” of this Annual Report on Form

10- K 104 * Inline XBRL for the cover page of this Annual Report on Form 10- K, included in the Exhibit 101 Inline XBRL Document Set Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
Pursuant to Item 601 (b) (10) of Regulation S- K, certain confidential portions of this exhibit were omitted by means of marking such portions with an asterisk because the identified confidential portions
(i) are not material and (ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed. ITEM 16. FORM 10- K SUMMARY SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and 15 (d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10- K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 27¢k-31st day of March
2624-2025 . SIDUS SPACE, INC. / s/ Carol Craig Carol Craig Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and ChairwomanPOWER OF ATTORNEY KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESI
PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and npmmx Carol Craig as his or her attorney- in- fact, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her
in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10- K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorney- in- fact full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith as fully
to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney- in- fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue
hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10- K has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and
on the dates indicated. Signature Title Date / s / Carol Craig Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) March 27-31 , 2624-2025 Carol Craig / s / Bit-White-Adarsh Parekh Chief Financial
Officer March 31, 2025 Adarsh Parekh (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) Mareh27;2024-Bilb-White-/ s / Leonardo Riera Director and-Chairman-March 27-31 , 2624-2025 | «»ndnl«» Riera /s

Dana Kilborne Director March 27-31 , 2024-2025 Dana Kilborne /s / Cole Oliver Director March 27-31 , 2024-2025 Cole Oliver / s / Riehard-Berman-Jeffrey Shuman Dircctor March 27-31 ,
2025 Richard-Berman-Jeffrey Shuman /s / Lavanson Coffey Director March 31, 2025 Lavanson Coffey Exhibit 19. 1 SIDUS SPACE, INC. INSIDER TRADING POLICY1. PURPOSE This
Insider Trading Policy (this « Policy ) states the policy with respect to transactions in the securities of Sidus Space, Inc. (the “ Company ), and the handling of confidential information about
the Company and other companies with which the Company does busi The Company’ s Board of Directors has adopted this Policy to promote compliance with federal and state securities
laws that prohibit certain persons who are aware of material nonpublic information about a company from (i) trading in securities of that company, or (ii) providing material nonpublic
information to other persons who may trade on the basis of that information. 2. PERSONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY This Policy applies to all members of the Company’ s Board of
Directors (collectively, “ directors ” and each, a “ director ), officers and employees of the Company. The Company may also determine that other persons should be subject to this Policy,
such as contractors or consultants who have access to material nonpublic information about the Company. With respect to any person covered by this Policy, this Policy also applies to that
person’ s family members, other members of that person’ s household, and entities controlled by that person, as described below under “ Transactions by Family Members and Others ” and “
Transactions by Entities That You Influence or Control. ” 3. TRANSACTIONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY This Policy applies to transactions in the Company’ s securities (collectively,
Company Securities ), including the Company’ s stock, restricted stock, options to purchase common stock, or any other type of security the Company may issue, including (but not
limited to) preferred stock, convertible debentures and warrants. In addition, this Policy applies to derivative securities that are not issued by the Company but which relate to Company
Securities, such as exchange- traded put or call options or swaps. This Policy similarly applies to transactions in or relating to the securities of certain other companies with which the
Company does business. 4. INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the
Company and to not engage in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. Each individual is responsible for making sure that he or she
complies with this Policy, and that any family ber, | hold ber or related entity whose transactions are subject to this Policy, as discussed below, also comply with this Policy. In
all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information rests with that individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the
Administrator (as defined below) or any other employee or director pursuant to this Policy (or otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an individual from liability
under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and disciplinary action by the Company for any duct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws,
as described below under “ Consequences of Violations. ”- 1- 5. ADMINISTRATION OF THE POLICY The “ Administrator * of this Policy is the Company’ s Chief Financial Officer, the
Chief Executive Officer if a Chief Financial Officer has not been designated, or such other individual designated by the Company’ s Board of Directors from time to time. All determinations
and interpretations by the Administrator are final and not subject to further review. 6. PRINCIPAL STATEMENT OF POLICY (a) Trading in Company Securities and Disclosure of
Nonpublic Information. No director, officer or other employee of the Company (or any other person designated by this Policy or by the Administrator as subject to this Policy) who is aware of
material nonpublic information relating to the Company may, directly or indirectly through family members or other persons or entities: (i) engage in transactions in Company Securities,
except as otherwise specified in this Policy under the heading “ Limited Exceptions; ” (ii) recommend the purchase or sale of any Company Securities; (iii) disclose material nonpublic
information to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to have that information, or to persons outside of the Company, including, but not limited to, family, friends,
business associates, investors and consultants, except as required in the performance of regular corporate duties and only to the extent appropriate confidentiality protections are effective and
the disclosure conforms to Company policies; or (iv) assist anyone engaged in the above activities. (b) Trading in Securities of Other Companies. No director, officer or other employee of the
Company (or any other person designated by this Policy or by the Administrator as subject to this Pollcy) who, in the course of working for the Company, learns of material nonpubllc
information about a company with which the Company does or i ds to do busi luding a pplier or service provider of the Company, may trade in that company’ s
securities until the information becomes public or is no longer material. (c) No Exceptions. There are no exceptmns to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein. Transactions that may be
necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excluded from this Policy. The securities laws
do not recognize any mitigating cir and, in any event, even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company’ s reputation for adhering to the
highest standards of conduct.- 2- 7. DEFINITION OF MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION (a) Material Information. Information is considered “ material ” if a reasonable investor
would consider that information important in making a decision to buy, hold or sell securities. Any information that could be expected to impact the Company’ s stock price, whether it is
positive or negative, is considered material. There is no bright- line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and circumstances, and is
often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is not possible to define all categories of material information, some examples of information that ordinarily
would be regarded as material are: ® operating or financial results or projections, including earnings guid o analyst upgrades or downgrades of the Company or one of its securities; ®
corporate transactions, such as mergers, acquisitions or restructurings; e dividend, share repurchase or recapitalization matters; e debt or equity financing matters; e regulatory matters,
such as the status of applications with, and related feedback from, the U. S. Government and applicable foreign reg 'y bodies; ® a change in the Board of Directors or senior management;
® a change in auditors or disagreements with auditors; e impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems; e litigation or regulatory proceedings and investigations; e the
imposition of a ban on trading in Company Securities or other securities; o intellectual property and other proprietary information; e research milestones; and e significant corporate
developments, including with respect to material contracts, and research and development activities. (b) Nonpublic Information. Information is considered “ nonpublic  if that information
has not been broadly disclosed to the marketplace, such as by press release or a filing with the U. S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC ), and / or the investing public has not
had time to fully absorb that information. Nonpublic information may include: e information available to a select group of persons subject to confidentiality obligations to the Company; e
undisclosed facts that are the subject of rumors, even if the rumors are widely circulated; and e information that has been entrusted to the Company on a confidential basis.- 3- As a general
rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the investing public until the second business day after the day on which the information is released. If, for example, the
Company makes an announcement at 9 am ET on Monday, a person subject to this Policy should not trade in Company Securities until the market opens on Wednesday. If such an
announcement were made at 6 pm ET on Monday, the person subject to this Policy should not trade in Company Securities until the market opens on Thursday. Depending on the particular
circumstances, the Company may determine that a longer or shorter period should apply. 8. TRANSACTIONS BY FAMILY MEMBERS AND OTHERS This Policy applies to your family
members who reside with you, anyone else who lives in your household and any family members who do not live in your h hold but whose tr ions in Company Securities are directed
by you or are subject to your influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with you before they trade in Company Securities (collectively, “ Family Members ”). You are
responsible for the transactions of your Family Members and therefore should make them aware of the need to confer with you before they trade in Company Securities, and you should treat
all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if the transactions were for your own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to personal securities
transactions of Family Members where the purchase or sale decision is made by a third party not controlled by, influenced by or related to you or your Family Members. 9. TRANSACTIONS
BY ENTITIES THAT YOU INFLUENCE OR CONTROL This Policy applies to any entities that you influence or control, including any corporations, partnerships or trusts (collectively, “
Controlled Entities ), and transactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if they were for your own account. 10.
LIMITED EXCEPTIONS This Policy does not apply in the case of the following transactions (although these transactions may nevertheless be subject to the requirements of Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ded (the “ Exch Act ”), applicable to directors and executive officers): (a) Option Exercises. This Policy does not apply generally to the exercise of
an option, including a cashless exercise solely through the Company or the exercise of a tax withholding right through the Company to satisfy tax withholding requirements. However, this
Policy does apply to any sale of stock received upon exercise of an option, including any deemed sale caused by an election to make a cashless exercise through a broker, or any other market
sale for the purpose of generating the cash necessary to pay the option exercise price.- 4- (b) Rule 10b5- 1 Plans. Rule 10b5- 1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading
liability under Rule 10b- 5. In order to be eligible to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5- 1 plan for transactions in Company Securities that meets
certain conditions specified in the Rule (a “ Rule 10b5- 1 Plan ”). If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5- 1, Company Securities may be purchased or sold without regard to certain
insider trading restrictions. To comply with this Policy, a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be approved by the Administrator and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5- 1 and the Company’ s ¢
Guidelines for Rule 10b5- 1 Plans, ” which are set forth in Appendix 10 (b) to this Policy. In general, to ensure that a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan is entered into at a time when the person entering into
the plan is not aware of material nonpublic information, it must be entered into during an Open Trading Window. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over
the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or
delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party. Any Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be submitted for approval at least five business days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5- 1
Plan. No further pre- approval of transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan will be required. (c) 401 (k) Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in
the Company’ s 401 (k) plan resulting from your periodic contribution of money to the plan pursuant to your payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply, however, to certain elections
you may make under the 401 (k) plan, including: (i) an election to increase or decrease the percentage of your periodic contributions that will be allocated to any Company stock fund; (ii) an
election to make an intra- plan transfer of an existing account balance into or out of any Company stock fund; (iii) an election to borrow money against your 401 (k) plan account if the loan
will result in a liquidation of some or all of any Company stock fund bal ; and (iv) an election to pre- pay a plan loan if the pre- payment will result in allocation of loan proceeds to any
Company stock fund. (d) Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale. Bona fide gifts are not transactions subject to this Policy, unless the person making the gift has reason to believe that
the recipient i ds to sell the Company Securities while the director, officer or employee is aware of material nonpublic information, or the person making the gift is subject to the trading
restrictions specified below under “ Additional Procedures ” and the sales by the recipient of the Company Securities occur outside an Open Trading Window (as defined below). Further,
transactions in mutual funds that are invested in Company Securities are not transactions subject to this Policy. 11. SPECIAL AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS The Company has
determined that there is a heightened legal risk and / or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if the persons subject to this Policy engage in certain types of transactions.
Therefore, it is the Company’ s policy that any persons covered by this Policy may not engage in any of the following transactions, or should otherwise consider the Company’ s preferences as
described below: (a) Short- Term Trading. Short- term trading of Company Securities may be distracting to the person and may unduly focus the person on the Company’ s short- term stock
market performance instead of the Company’ s long- term business objectives. For these reasons, all persons subject to this Policy who purchase Company Securities in the open market are
discouraged from selling any Company Securities of the same class during the six months following the purchase (or vice versa). Furthermore, such short- term trading by directors or
executive officers (as defined by Rule 16a- 1) may result in short- swing profit liability under Section 16 (b) of the Exchange Act.- 5- (b) Short Sales. Short sales of Company Securities (i. e., the
sale of a security that the seller does not own) may evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal to the
market that the seller lacks fid. in the Company’ s pr ts. In addition, short sales may reduce a seller’ s incentive to seek to improve the Company’ s performance. For these




reasons, short sales of Company Securities are prohibited. Furthermore, Section 16 (c) of the Exchange Act prohibits directors and executive officers (as defined by Rule 16a- 1) from engaging
in short sales. Short sales arising from certain types of hedging transactions are subject to the paragraph below captioned “ Hedging Transactions. ” (c) Publicly- Traded Options. Given the
relatively short term of publicly- traded options, transactions in options may imply that a director, officer or employee is trading based on material nonpublic information and focus that
director’ s, officer’ s or other employee’ s attention on short- term performance at the expense of the Company’ s long- term objectives. Accordingly, tr: ions in put opti call op
other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy. Option positions arising from certain types of hedging transactions are sub]ect to
the paragraph below captioned “ Hedging Transactions. ” (d) Hedging Transactions. Hedging or monetization transactions can be lished through a ber of possibl
including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such hedging transactions may permlt a director, officer or
employee to continue to own Company Securities, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the director, officer or employee may no longer have the same
objectives as the Company’ s other stockholders. Therefore, directors, officers and employees are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions. (¢) Margin Accounts and Pledged
Securities. Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker without the cust 7S if the cust fails to meet a margin call. Similarly,
securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when
the pledgor is aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Company Securities, directors, officers and other employees are prohibited from holding
Company Securities in a margin account or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan unless the arrangement is specifically approved in advance by the Administrator.
Pledges of Company Securities arising from certain types of hedging transactions are subject to the paragraph above captioned “ Hedging Transactions. ” (f) Standing and Limit Orders.
Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5- 1 Plans, as described above) create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of
margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a transaction when a
director, officer or other employee is in possession of material nonpublic information. The Company therefore discourages placing standing or limit orders on Company Securities. If a person
subject to this Policy determines that they must use a standing order or limit order, the order should be limited to short duration and should otherwise comply with the restrictions and
procedures outlined below under the heading “ Additional Procedures. - 6- 12. ADDITIONAL PROCEDURES The Company has blished additional procedures in order to assist the
Company in the ad ration of this Policy, to facilitate compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in p ion of material public information, and to avoid the appearance
of any impropriety. These additional procedures are applicable only to those individuals described below. (a) Pre- Clearance Procedures. All directors, officers and employees of the Company,
as well as the Family Members and Controlled Entities of such persons, may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities without first obtaining pre- clearance of the transaction from
the Administrator. A request for pre- clearance should be submitted to the Administrator at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. The Administrator is under no
obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre- clearance, and may determine not to permit the transaction. If a person seeks pre- clearance and permission to engage in the transaction
is denied, then he or she should refrain from initiating any transaction in Company Securities and should not inform any other person of the restriction. When a request for pre- clearance is
made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or she may be aware of any material nonpublic information about the Company and should describe fully those circumstances to the
Administrator. The requestor should also indicate whether he or she has effected any non- exempt “ opposite- way ” transactions (e. g., an open market sale would be “ opposite ” any open
market purchase, and vice versa) within the past six months, and should be prepared to report the proposed transaction on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be
prepared to comply with SEC Rule 144 and file Form 144, if necessary, at the time of any sale. A request for pre- clearance must be made in writing, preferably by submission of a completed
Request for Pre- Clearance in the form of EXHIBIT A to this Policy. Pre- cleared transactions should be effected promptly. Requestors are required to refresh the request for pre- clearance if
a pre- cleared transaction is not effected within five business days after pre- clearance is received. Furthermore, requestors must i liately notify the Administrator following the execution
of any transaction. (b) Quarterly Trading Restrictions. Directors, officers and employees, as well as their Family Members and Controlled Entities, may not conduct any transactions
involving the Company’ s Securities (other than as specified by this Policy) except during an Open Trading Window. An “ Open Trading Window ” generally begins on the second business
day following the day of public release of the Company’ s quarterly earnings and ends 15 calendar days prior to the end of the then current quarter. The Administrator will notify directors,
officers and employees of the opening and closing of the trading window.- 7- (¢) Event- Specific Trading Restriction Periods. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the
Company and is known by only a few directors, offcers and / or employees. So long as the event remains material and blic, the persons designated by the Administrator may not trade
Company Securities. In addition, material develof impacting the Company may occur in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judg t of the Administrator, make it advisable that
designated persons should refrain from tradmg in Company Securmes even during the ordinary Open Trading Window described above. In that situation, the Administrator may notify these
persons that they should not trade in the Company’ s Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an event- specific trading restriction period or the closing of
the Open Trading Window will be d by the Administrator to persons desi d by the Administrator. Even if the Administrator has not designated you a person who should not
trade due to an event- specific restriction, you may not trade while aware of material nonpublic information. Exceptions will not be granted during an event- specific trading restriction
period. (d) Exceptions. (i) The quarterly trading restrictions and event- driven trading restrictions do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy does not apply, as described above
under the heading “ Limited Exceptions, ” nor do they apply to an election to participate in an employer plan during an open enrollment period. (ii) The Administrator in his or her discretion
may approve other or further exceptions to these requirements on a case- by- case basis in extraordinary circumstances. Any request for an exception pursuant to this paragraph must be
submitted in advance and in writing, and any approval must be in writing. 13. POST- TERMINATION TRANSACTIONS This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company
Securities even after termination of service to the Company. If an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information when his or her service terminates, that individual may not
trade in Company Securities until that information has become public or is no longer material. The pre- clearance procedures specified under the heading “ Additional Procedures ” above
and applicable to directors and certain executives will continue to apply for a period of six months after a termination of service, in order to facilitate compliance with Section 16 of the
Exchange Act. 14. CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLATIONS The purchase or sale of securities while aware of material nonpublic information, or the disclosure of material nonpublic information
to others who then trade in the Company’ s Securities, is prohibited by federal and state laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by the SEC, the U. S. Department of Justice
and state enforcement authorities. Punishment for insider trading violations is severe and could include significant fines and impri ‘While the regulatory authorities concentrate their
efforts on the individuals who trade, or who tip inside information to others who trade, the federal securities laws also impose potential liability on companies and other “ controlling persons
1f they fall to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by company personnel. In addition, an individual’ s failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to Company-

i up to and including termination of employment, whether or not the employee’ s failure to comply results in a violation of law. Needless to say, a violation of law, or even an
SEC investigation that does not result in prosecutmn, can tarnish a person’ s reputation and irreparably damage a career.- 8- 15. REPORTING OF VIOLATIONS Any person who violates
this Policy or any federal or state law governing insider trading or tipping, or who knows of or reasonably suspects any such violation by another person, should report the matter immediately
by following the procedures set forth in the Company’ s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as it may be amended from time to time. Employees are obligated to report susp d and
actual violations of Company policy or the law. Doing so brings the concern into the open so that it can be resolved quickly and more serious harm can be prevented. Failure to do so could
result in disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. If you encounter a situation or are considering a course of action and its appropriateness is unclear, do not
hesitate to reach out the Administrator with any questions; even the appearance of impropriety can be very damaging and should be avoided, and the Administrator may be in the best
position to provide helpful information or other resources. 16. CERTIFICATION All persons subject to this Policy may be required to certify and re- certify, from time to time, their
understanding of, and intent to comply with, this Policy. 17. AMENDMENT This Policy may be amended by the Board of Directors or any committee or designee to which the Board of
Directors delegates this authority. The Administrator has the authority to make determinations under, and interpretations of, this Policy, as specified in this Policy under the heading “
Administration of the Policy. ” In addition, the Administrator is authorized to approve amendments to this Policy that: (i) correct obvious errors (e. g., typographical or grammatical errors);
(ii) are i 1 by ct in legal requir ts; (iii) are y to clarify the meaning of this Policy; or (iv) are administrative in nature, such as the provisions of this Policy under the
heading “ Additional Procedures. ” Amended: August [ ], 2021- 9- Appendix 10 (b) Guidelines for Rule 10b5- 1 Plans : Rule 10b5- 1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider
trading liability under Rule 10b- 5. In order to be eligible to rely on this defense, a person subject to our Insider Trading Policy must enter into a Rule 10bS- 1 Plan for transactions in
Company Securities (as defined in the Insider Trading Policy) that meets certain conditions specified in the Rule. If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5- 1, Company Securities may
be purchased or sold without regard to certain insider trading restrictions. In general, a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the plan is not aware of
material nonpublic information. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the
date of the trade. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party. As specified in
the Company’ s Insider Trading Policy, a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be approved by the Administrator and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5- 1 and these guidelines. Any Rule 10b5- 1 Plan
must be submitted for approval at least five business days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan. Once a 10b5- 1 Plan is approved, no further pre- approval of transactions conducted
pursuant to the plan will be required. The following guidelines apply to all Rule 10b5- 1 Plans: e You may not enter into, modify or terminate a trading program outside of an Open Trading
Window or while in possession of material nonpublic information. ® All Rule 10b5- 1 Plans must have a duration of at least six months and no more than two years. e If a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan is
terminated, you must wait at least 30 days before trading outside of the Rule 10bS- 1 Plan. e If a trading program is terminated, you must wait until the commencement of the next Open
Trading Window before a new Rule 10b5- 1 Plan may be adopted. ® You may not commence sales under a trading program until at least 30 days following the date of establishment of a
trading program. Any modification of a trading program must not take effect for at least 30 days from the date of modification. ¢ You may not enter into any transaction in Company
Securities while the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan is in effect. The approval or adoption of a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan in no way reduces or eliminates a person’ s obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act,
including disclosure obligations and liability for short- swing profits. Persons subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act should consult with their own counsel in implementing a Rule 10b5- 1
Plan. * Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Sidus Space, Inc. Insider Trading Policy.- 10- Exhibit A Request for Pre- Clearance = For pre-
clearance to transact in Company Securities. Upon executing a transaction, directors, officers and employees must i diately notify the Company. Transaction Vehicle (check one)
Transaction Initiated By (check one) O Open Market Transaction O Employee or immediate family member directly 0 Equity Compensation Plan O Court or government decree (e. g.,
divorce decree) O Other (specify): O Broker (provide name, firm, telephone and e- mail): Type of Transaction (check one) O Purchase or acquire common stock O Sell or dispose of common
stock 0 Move Company Securities from one account to another (e. g., in or out of a trust) O Dispose of fractional shares O Pledge Company Securities for margin account, or otherwise O
Exercise options without subsequent sale O Exercise options with subsequent sale (e. g., a “ cashless exercise ) O Other (describe): Transaction Detail (provide the following information)
Number of securities: Estimated share price: Contemplated execution date: Date of your last “ opposite way ” transaction = «: Certification I certify that I have fully disclosed the information
requested in this form, I have read the Sidus Space, Inc. Insider Trading Policy, I am not in possession of material nonpublic information, and to the best of my knowledge and belief the
proposed transaction will not violate the Sidus Space, Inc. Insider Trading Policy. Signature: Print Name: Date: » Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings ascribed to
them in the Sidus Space, Inc. Insider Trading Policy. = = If a Section 16 insider buys and sells (or sells and buys) Company Securities within a six- month time frame and such transactions are
not exempt under SEC rules, the two transactions can be “ matched ” for purposes of Section 16. The insider may be sued and will be strictly liable for any profits made, regardless of whether

or

the insider was in p ion of material blic infor ion.- 11- Exhibit 23. I CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM To the Board of Directors of
Sldus Space, Inc. \\L consent to the inelasten-incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement-Statements on Form S- 8 (File No. 333- 263227 and 333- 283528 ). Form S- | (File No. 333-
70850 , yand-FiteNo—333- 276288 and 333- 282632 ) and Form S- 3 (File No. 333- 27 ‘4~“ and 333- 294030 ) of Sidus-Spaee;tne—(the--Company-of-our audit rcport dated March 27-31, 2025,
wnth respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Sidus Space, Inc. as of December 31 , 2024 relating-te-and 2023, and thc finaneial-related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two- year period ended December 31, 2024 which appears— appear in this-the Annual Report on Form 10- K for the year ended December 31,
2623-2024 . Fruci & Associates I ~s-+BF Borgers-CPA-RC-Certified-Publie-Aecountants Lakewood-, Colorade-PLLC — PCAOB ID # 05525 Spokane, Washington Fxhibit 31. | CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO U. S. C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 I, Carol Craig, certify that: (1) I have reviewed this Form 10-

K of Sidus Space, Inc.; (2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of



the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; (3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial
information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; (4)
The registrant” s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such
disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and (d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’ s internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’ s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’ s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’ s internal control over financial reporting;
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant” s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’ s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): (a) All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant” s ability to record, process
summarize and report financial information; and (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant” s internal control over
financial reporting. Date: March 27-31 , 2024-2025 By: / s / Carol Craig Carol Craig Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) Exhibit 31. 2 I, Bil-White-Adarsh Parekh , certify that: Date:
March 27-31 , 2624-2025 By: / s / Bitb-White-Bil-White-Adarsh Parekh Adarsh Parekh Chicf Financial Officer 1I’1mupnl Financial and Accounting Officer) Exhibit 32. 1 SECT I()V\ 906 OF THE

and (5) The rc”lslmnl‘ s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation

SARBANES- OXLEY ACT OF 2002 In connection with the Annual Report of Sidus Space, Inc. (the “ Company ) on Form 10- K for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 2731 , 2624-2025 (the “ Report ), I, Carol Craig, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that: 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 2. The information contained in the

Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of, and for the periods presented in the Report A By:s+Carol-Craig-Carol-Cratg-Chief
Exeentive-OffieerA-signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be furnished to the Securities and E\LIHH”L Commission or its staff upon
. 2 In connection with the Annual Report of Si Space, Inc. (the * Company ") on Form 10- K for the twelve month period ended December 31, 2623-2024 , as filed with the

ion on March 27-31 , 2624-2025 (the [, BittWhite-Adarsh Parekh , Chicf Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the
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